
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 
  

  
please ask for Paula Everitt 

direct line 0300 300 4196 

date 27 March 2014 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

 

SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

Date & Time 

Monday, 7 April 2014 10.00 a.m. 
 

Venue at 

Council Chamber, Priory House, Shefford 
 
 

 
Richard Carr 
Chief Executive 

 
To:     The Chairman and Members of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
 

Cllrs Mrs R J Drinkwater (Chairman), N J Sheppard (Vice-Chairman), Mrs A Barker, 
R D Berry, Mrs G Clarke, P A Duckett, Mrs S A Goodchild, Mrs D B Gurney and 
M A Smith 
 

 
[Named Substitutes: 
 
P N Aldis, C C Gomm, Ms A M W Graham, K Janes and Miss A Sparrow] 

 
 

All other Members of the Council - on request 
 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 

MEETING 
 



 

AGENDA 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
  

Apologies for absence and notification of substitute members 
 

2. Minutes 
  

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Social Care 
Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 03 March 2014 
and to note actions taken since that meeting.  
 

3. Members' Interests 
  

To receive from Members any declarations of interest and of any political whip 
in relation to any agenda item. 
 

4. Chairman's Announcements and Communications 
  

To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of 
communication. 
 

5. Petitions 
  

To receive petitions from members of the public in accordance with the Public 
Participation Procedure as set out in Annex 2 of Part A4 of the Constitution. 
 

6. Questions, Statements or Deputations 
  

To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the 
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in 
Annex 1 of part A4 of the Constitution. 
 

7. Call-In 
  

To consider any decision of the Executive referred to this Committee for 
review  in accordance with Procedure Rule 10.10 of Part D2.   
 

8. Requested Items 
  

To consider any items referred to the Committee at the request of a Member 
under Procedure Rule 3.1 of Part D2 of the Constitution. 
 
 



 Part A: Health Scrutiny  

to consider matters relating to health of adults, children and young people and 
'substantial' changes to NHS provision in Central Bedfordshire. 

 

 
Reports 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

9 Executive Member Update 
 
To receive a brief verbal update from the Executive 
Member for Social Care, Health and Housing. 
 

*  verbal 

10 Hospital Discharge Performance 
 
To receive performance monitoring data relating to 
Hospital Discharge. 
 

*  11 - 16 

11 Biggleswade Hospital Information Update 
 
To consider the information update on Biggleswade 
Hospital.  
 

*  17 - 32 

12 Planned Changes to the Provision of Mental Health 
and Community Services 
 
To consider the proposals for a Cost Improvement 
Programme in the provision of Mental Health and 
Community Services.  
 

*  33 - 38 

13 Mental Health Procurement 
 
To consider and comment on the proposed models of care 
and plans for consultation on Mental Health procurement. 
 

*  39 - 144 

 Part B: Social Care and Housing  

To consider matters relating to adult social care and housing services and any other 
matters that fall within the remit of the Social Care, Health and Housing Directorate. 

 
 

 
Reports 

 

Item Subject Page Nos. 

14 Tenant Scrutiny Panel Report 
 
To consider a report prepared and presented by Members 
of the Tenant Scrutiny Panel. 
 

*  145 - 182 



15 Meeting the Accommodation Needs of Older People 
 
To receive a presentation on the progress made in meeting 
the accommodation needs of older people. 
 

*   

16 Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Budget Monitoring Presentations 
 
To receive a presentation on Q3 Budget reports for 
relevant services. 
 

*   

17 Performance Monitoring Report (Q3) 
 
To receive  Q3 performance monitoring reports for relevant 
services. 
 

*  183 - 192 

18 Work Programme 2013-14 & Executive Forward Plan 
 
To consider the currently drafted Social Care Health and 
Housing Overview and Scrutiny work programme for 
2014/15 and the Executive Forward Plan. 
 

*  193 - 200 

 



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

At a meeting of the SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & HOUSING OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, 
Shefford on Monday, 3 March 2014. 

 
PRESENT 

 
Cllr Mrs R J Drinkwater (Chairman) 
Cllr N J Sheppard (Vice-Chairman) 

 
 

Cllrs Mrs G Clarke 
P A Duckett 
Mrs S A Goodchild 
 

Cllrs Mrs D B Gurney 
M A Smith 
 

 

Apologies for Absence: Cllrs Mrs A Barker 
R D Berry 
 

 

Substitutes: Cllrs C C Gomm (In place of R D Berry) 
 

 

Members in Attendance: Cllrs C Hegley Executive Member for 
Social Care, Health & 
Housing 

  A M Turner Deputy Executive 
Member for Social Care, 
Health & Housing 

 

Officers in Attendance: Mrs P Coker – Head of Service, Partnerships - 
Social Care, Health & Housing 

 Mr N Costin – Head of Housing Solutions 
 Mrs P Everitt – Scrutiny Policy Adviser 
 Ms C Gurney – Public Sector Housing Manager 
 Mr S Mitchelmore – Assistant Director, Adult Social 

Care 
 Mrs J Ogley – Director of Social Care, Health and 

Housing 
 Mrs E Saunders – Assistant Director Commissioning 

 
Others in Attendance Dr D Bell Director of Strategy and System 

Redesign (Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group) 

 Ms R Featherstone Chair - Healthwatch Central 
Bedfordshire 

 Mrs H Smart Director Integrated Adult Services & 
Lead Nurse, SEPT Integrated 
Services 
 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 2
Page 5



SCHH-  03.03.14 
Page 2  

 

 

SCHH/13/117 
  

Minutes  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Social Care Health and 
Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 27 January 2014  be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
SCHH/13/118 
  

Members' Interests  

There were no disclosures of interest. 
  

SCHH/13/119 
  

Chairman's Announcements and Communications  

The Chairman made announcements relating to the following:- 
 

• Cllr Angela Barker had been appointed as a Member of the Committee.  Cllr 
Barker would report back to Children’s Services OSC, of which she is the 
Chairman, on any health related issues that impact on children. 

• That the Housing Asset Management Strategy item be deferred as there 
were no significant changes to the strategy to report. 

• A recent Centre for Public Scrutiny Regional Health event in Chelmsford 
that the Chairman attended.  Of particular interest was the undertaking 
announced by the CQC representative to work more closely with scrutiny 
committees in the future. 

• A recent meeting of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
which a full summary would be given at next month’s meeting. 
 

SCHH/13/120 
  

Petitions  

None 
 

SCHH/13/121 
  

Requested Items  

None. 
 

SCHH/13/122 
  

Questions, Statements or Deputations  

None. 
 

SCHH/13/123 
  

Call-In  

None. 
 

SCHH/13/124 
  

Executive Member Update  

The Deputy Executive Member for Social Care Health and Housing updated 
the Committee on issues that were not included on the agenda, these 
included:- 

• Attendance at a recent performance meeting. 

• Attendance at a regional public health event at which examples of good 
practice on preventative measures and approaches were highlighted. 
 

Agenda Item 2
Page 6



SCHH-  03.03.14 
Page 3  

 

 

SCHH/13/125 
  

Biggleswade Hospital Monitoring Information  

The Chairman welcomed Helen Smart, Director Integrated Adult Services and 
Lead Nurse (SEPT) who provided an update to Members on usage of beds at 
Biggleswade Hospital.  Ms H Smart advised there had been little change in the 
number of patients on the wards since the previous meeting.  However, the 
beds were open for use and were currently no delays in discharge.  An 
Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) had recently carried out a 
positive review of service provision from SEPT. 
 
In light of the update, Members discussed the following:- 

• Whether SEPT were actively encouraging male and female patients to 
attend the hospital.  Ms H Smart advised that there had been no 
demand for male patients’ beds. 19 female patients had attended the 
hospital recently. 

• Where Members or GPs could review the criteria for admissions to  
Biggleswade Hospital.  Diane Bell, Director of Strategy and System 
Redesign at Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group advised that 
the criteria would be made available to Members and, that the criteria 
had been expanded due to the receipt of money provided by the 
Government to respond to winter pressures. 
 

In light of the issues that were discussed a number of Members identified 
specific incidents where local residents that had been informed by SEPT staff 
why they could not be cared for at Biggleswade Hospital.  Ms H Smart 
commented that generally patients who were treated in their own homes would 
achieve better outcomes.  Members were requested to forward any examples 
of problems regarding access to Stuart Mitchelmore, Assistant Director, Adult 
Social Care, who would discuss them with SEPT. 

 
RECOMMENDED 
1. That Members be provided with the admissions criteria for 

Biggleswade Hospital. 
2. That SEPT provide a report to the next meeting of the Committee that 

included evidence of better outcomes for patients treated at home. 
3. That SEPT also provide a breakdown of the numbers of patients cared 

for at Biggleswade Hospital and at home. 
 

SCHH/13/126 
  

Better Care Fund  

The Director of Social Care Health and Housing delivered a presentation and 
provided a report on the Better Care Fund (formally Integration Transformation 
Fund) that was being provided by the Government to support the delivery of the 
Care Bill.  Access to funding in 2015/16 was dependent on the agreement of a 
local 2-year Better Care Plan. The Health and Wellbeing Board had submitted 
the first stage of the Better Care Plan template on 14 February 2014 and work 
was in progress to complete the second stage submission by 04 April 2014. 
 
The Better Care Fund would be made up of a pooled budget that would include 
NHS and CCG funding.to the sum of £15m for Central Bedfordshire.  The 
Committee were informed, that this was not new money.   
 

Agenda Item 2
Page 7



SCHH-  03.03.14 
Page 4  

 

 

In light of the presentation and report and further clarification provided by 
officers present, Members discussed the following issues in detail:- 

• The need for a better understanding of the proposed reforms.  The 
Executive Member agreed to schedule a briefing session for all Members of 
the Council on the Care Bill and the Better Care Fund proposals. 

• That reliable information was of paramount importance during the 
transformation of services and must be available to everyone associated 
with the provision or in receipt of care. 

• That transformation of the workforce was required to deliver the proposed 
care services. The Director SCHH advised there was a huge challenge for 
the Council that would require a cultural change to move to 7 day working to 
support patients. There was not, however, enough fully trained staff to meet 
the level of need.  It was discussed that there was a  short period of time to 
educate residents on the cultural change required to deliver services 
effectively.  The Director of SCHH advised that the Joint Health OSC review 
of Health Services in Bedfordshire would help to deliver cultural change. 

 
RECOMMENDED 
That an all Member briefing be arranged on the Care Bill and Better Care 
Fund before the 04 April deadline of the second stage submission of the 
Better Care Fund and that a further report be submitted to the Committee 
in May. 

 
SCHH/13/127 
  

Empty Homes Performance  

The Head of Housing Solutions introduced the Empty Homes Review of 
Performance report and presentation.  The Empty Homes strategy had been 
approved in 2010 and had been instrumental in bringing good quality 
accommodation back into the housing market to help meet housing need.  The 
Head of Housing Solutions explained the process that had seen 28 empty 
homes returned to use in 2012/13 and to date 32 priority homes returned to 
use in 2013/14.   
 
In light of the presentation and report Members discussed future enforcement 
action on dwellings left unoccupied for 12 months or more and those identified 
by officers. Council Tax data had provided evidence of empty homes and 
further clarification was sought on e-home loans and how the Council ensured 
it received payment.  The Head of Housing Solutions advised that the Council 
would pay a loan on completion of works carried out to a property to bring it 
back into use and it would become a charge on the property.  Members were 
able to identify empty properties in their wards and the Public Sector Housing 
Manager would investigate all properties reported to the team.  The Empty 
Homes Agency also provided an ‘app’ to report an empty home. A Member 
comments on the shortage of rentable properties in the north of Central 
Bedfordshire and nationally, and supported efforts to bring empty dwellings 
back into use.   
 
NOTED the report and thanked officers present for the excellent service 
provided. 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 2
Page 8



SCHH-  03.03.14 
Page 5  

 

 

SCHH/13/128 
  

Housing Asset Management Strategy  

This item was deferred to a future meeting as there were no specific 
information to report to the Committee at this time. 

 
SCHH/13/129 
  

Work Programme 2013/14  & Executive Forward Plan  

The Committee considered its current work programme which would be 
updated to include the two items detailed in the body of the Minutes. 
 
RECOMMENDED that the work programme be approved subject to the 
addition of two items detailed in the body of the Minutes. 

 
(Note: The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 11.50 

a.m.) 
 
 

Chairman ……………………….. 
 

Date  …………………………….. 

Agenda Item 2
Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Meeting: Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Date: 07 April 2014 

Subject: Report of the Hospital Discharge Task Force 

Report of: Cllr Rita Drinkwater, Chairman of the Task Force 

Summary: The report updates Members of the implementation of the 
recommendations of the previous task force review of performance 
relating to the pathway for leaving hospital.  

 

 

Contact Officer: Jonathon Partridge, Corporate Policy and Scrutiny Manager 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: NHS  

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

The recommendations contained in the task force report were primarily for NHS 
agencies and not the Council itself.  The implementation of these recommendations 
will however support the Council by promoting health and wellbeing and protecting the 
vulnerable.  The implications of these recommendations have not been identified but 
officers will be in attendance at the meeting to discuss their implementation.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

1. That the Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considers the recommendations of the task force and 
recommend to the responsible bodies that they be implemented. 

2. That appropriate NHS bodies submit an update to the Committee in two 
months outlining progress in implementing those recommendations 
agreed by the Committee 

 

Background 

1. At the Social Care, Health and Housing OSC (SCHHOSC) on 27 January 2014 
the Committee approved the final Task Force report of the review of 
performance relating to the pathway for leaving hospital.  At the meeting it was 
noted that the content of the report was largely historical in nature due to the 
time taken to gather information and events that had overtaken the initial piece 
of work.  The Committee recommended that:-   

 (a)  That the recommendations contained in the report of the Task Force 
be endorsed 

 (b)  That the appropriate NHS bodies submit an update to the Committee 
in two months time outlining progress in implementing the 
recommendations detailed in the Task Force report. 

Agenda Item 10
Page 11



 (c)  That the Committee receive regular monitoring reports on hospital 
discharge performance. 

2. To support feedback to the Committee appendix B outlines the 
recommendations that have been agreed by the Committee.  Where no update it 
provided officers will be in attendance to provide an update verbally.  

Conclusion and Next Steps 

3. The Committee are asked to consider the report and recommendations of the 
task force and agree that the recommendations be provided to providers for 
their implementation.  It is also suggested that NHS providers provide an 
update on the progress if implementing the recommendations of the review 
within 2 months.  

 

Appendices: 

Appendix  Update on the recommendations  

 

Background papers and their location: (open to public inspection) 

Final Task Force report  

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/documents/s46985/Final%20Hospital%2
0Discharge%20Task%20Force%20report%20v6.pdf  

 

Minutes of the SCHHOSC meeting on 27 January 2014 

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/documents/g4447/Printed%20minutes%
20Monday%2027-Jan-
2014%2010.00%20SOCIAL%20CARE%20HEALTH%20HOUSING%20OVERVIEW%2
0SCRUTINY%20COMMIT.pdf?T=1  

Agenda Item 10
Page 12



 

 

Appendix A 

Responses relating to the implications and feasibility of the recommendations proposed by the review.  

 

 Recommendation Lead agency Comments and update  

1. CCG be requested to continually review hospital discharge 

performance and that performance be presented to the 

SCHHOSC on a quarterly basis 

Bedfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

(BCCG)  

 

2. That a report be presented to a future meeting of the Social 

Care, Health and Housing OSC by BCCG to provide greater 

clarity of its plans for the system redesign of acute and 

emergency care pathways. 

BCCG  

3. That the Ivel Valley Locality Team be asked to review 

performance in relation to hospital discharge at the Lister 

Hospital and the numbers of delays of discharge for Central 

Bedfordshire residents.  

BCCG   

4. That a report be sent to other LAs to consider whether a 

review of performance by scrutiny was necessary.  

CBC Scrutiny and Policy 

Manager 

The report was circulated to other relevant local 

authorities several of whom have recently 

undertaken their own reviews of hospital 

discharge performance or, in the case of one 

authority, are considering undertaking one later 

in the year.  Hertfordshire County Council have 

asked to be kept informed of any response in 

relation to recommendation 3. 

5. That Bedford Hospital employ a person specifically to 

communicate between the hospital and community 

healthcare services to support more effective discharges 

from hospital by ensuring that equipment is available for 

patients and that appropriate community healthcare needs 

Bedford Hospital  

A
genda Item

 10
P

age 13



 

 

 Recommendation Lead agency Comments and update  

are met.  

6. That Bedford Hospital ensure staff fully understand the 

discharge pathway so that there is a consistent approach 

and that accurate expected dates of discharge can be 

provided. 

Bedford Hospital  

7. That Bedford Hospital put appropriate procedures in place 

to ensure a consistent approach to hospital discharge across 

the week, including the weekends to ensure that 

unnecessary delays do not occur just because it is Saturday 

or Sunday.  

Bedford Hospital  

8. That Bedford Hospital provide one named person who is 

responsible for an individual patient’s entire hospital 

pathway to ensure that all aspects of that persons care have 

been considered, including appropriate transport and 

equipment being available at the other end once they had 

been discharged.   

Bedford Hospital  

9. That Bedford Hospital provide a single point of contact when 

discharging patients from hospital and proactively 

encourage patients to use this single point of contact if they 

have any issues in the two week period after discharge.   

Bedford Hospital  

10. That Bedford Hospital hold patient information on one 

central system so that persons need only ring one number in 

order to obtain any relevant information on that patient. 

Bedford Hospital  

11. That Bedford Hospital seek input from Carers using the Carer 

Lounge as to whether staff strike the right balance between 

engaging carers at an early stage and finding the appropriate 

Bedford Hospital  

A
genda Item

 10
P

age 14



 

 

 Recommendation Lead agency Comments and update  

time to discuss an issue.  

12. That the CCG encourage hospitals from whom it 

commissions services to standardise hospital discharge 

forms with a view to creating one familiar form that 

contained all the necessary information in one place to 

support effective planning for hospital discharge speeding 

up the process and making it more efficient.  

BCCG  

13. That a review be undertaken of the Clinical Navigation Team 

(CNT)to determine whether it has delivered against its 

objectives and whether its role remains suitable.  In light of 

this review it should be considered whether the CNT or 

another appropriate body could be responsible for the 

following:-  

1. making available a greater quantity and quality of 

information for patients on the services provided by 

community organisations and others. 

2. providing a visible interface for communication 

between the Council, the NHS and community 

organisations, particularly to encourage more 

detailed discussion between providers in the north 

and south of Central Bedfordshire. 

Central Bedfordshire 

Council (CBC) 

Due to the historical nature of this report it is 

felt that these recommendations should now be 

incorporated into the work and preparation of 

the Better Care Fund (BCF).   

 

The implementation of these recommendations 

need to take into account the BCF proposals and 

also be considered within the context of the 

Strategic Review and in relation to the re-

commissioning of community health services. 

14. RECOMMENDED that more effective coordination be 

undertaken between the discharge planning team, rapid 

intervention team and the district nurses and that the roles 

of these teams be considered to provide greater clarity.  

CBC See comments above regarding 

Recommendation 13 

 

A
genda Item

 10
P

age 15



P
age 16

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Meeting: Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 07 April 2014  

Subject: Biggleswade Hospital Information Update 

Report of: Richard Winter, Executive Director of Integrated Services, SEPT 

Summary: The report provides Members with additional information on the 
utilisation of the commissioned beds at Biggleswade Hospital. 
 

 

 
Advising Officer: Richard Winter, Executive Director of Integrated Services, SEPT 

Public/Exempt: Public  

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS are as detailed in the attached report.   

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
The Committee is asked to:- 
 
1. Consider and comment on the actions being taken to support the 

ulitalisation of beds at Biggleswade Hospital (appendix A) and the 

admissions policy for in-patient units (appendix B) 

 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – SEPT report on Biggleswade Hospital Information Update 
Appendix B – NHS Admissions Policy for In-patient Units. 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
Appendix 1 
 

SOUTH ESSEX PARTNERSHIP UNIVERSITY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

 
Biggleswade Hospital Information Update for Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 

1.0  BACKGROUND 

 
In way of context: As part of the Governments ‘The White Paper Our Health, Our 
Care, Our Say: A New Direction for Community Services (DH 2006)’ sets out 
government policy for bringing care closer to home.  One of the main strands 
involves delivering specialist care in local settings, particularly near to or in the 
patient’s home, moving away from the traditional outpatient model and towards 
innovative community approaches that make use of multidisciplinary teams.    
 
As part of regular service reviews, SEPT ensures that they are providing the right 
care, at the right time and in the right place for our patients.  This means that for 
many of our patients, we are able to provide the best care for them within their own 
homes.  This is also in line with the national agenda of providing ‘Care Closer to 
Home’ which is advocating this as the preferred option, where possible and 
appropriate. 
 
Research demonstrates that individuals have better outcomes when there is a 
quicker response and rehabilitation and enablement care is provided in their homes 
where at all possible.  We can already demonstrate that patients who require their 
confidence building after a fall respond better when receiving these services at home 
instead of spending 4-6 weeks in an inpatient unit only to then have to have separate 
kitchen and stair assessments in their own home.  The Performance scorecard for 
Rehabilitation and Enablement services indicated that in 2013/14 79% of patients 
receiving intervention from Community Therapy services required no further support 
after 6 weeks. This reduces the need for on-going packages of care.  The patient 
and carer feedback and experience has been extremely positive. This was 
demonstrated by the Net promoter score averaging 9.3 out of 10 in February 2014 
and a ‘Friends & Family’ test of 100% in January 2014.  
 
As a result of increased rehabilitation care packages at home, beds at Biggleswade 
Hospital have not been utilised as much. 
 
There was some confusion around the increased provision care at home and the bed 
reduction at Biggleswade Hospital and SEPT was issued a contractual performance 
notice by the Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  This was 
thoroughly investigated and the outcome was, there was no case to answer for 
SEPT.  However, there was recognition that communication could have been better.  
The ‘performance notice’ was removed and a joint action plan put in place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 19



2 
 

2.0  ADMISSION CRITERIA 

 

The admission criteria for Biggleswade Hospital were further reviewed in partnership 
with the CCG and local GPs.  The CCG undertook a bed review which was to ascertain 
the inpatient bed requirements moving forward.  This has now been superseded by the 
Healthcare Review currently taking place for Bedfordshire and Milton Keynes. 
 
The admission criteria for the inpatient unit are attached in appendix 2. 
 
The criteria was flexed over the winter period to include none weight bearing patients 
who require a longer rehabilitation period of rehabilitation from 4-6 weeks to 4-18 
weeks.  The flexed criteria also included patients waiting for continuing healthcare 
assessments, patients waiting for residential or nursing home placements and patients 
with a mild confusion.   
 
The 2011 criteria are currently under review with commissioners to establish 2014 
criteria to include patients who require lengthier periods of rehabilitation.   
 
 

3.0  CURRENT POSITION 

 
Irrespective of having reviewed and agreed the criteria and process for admission the 
use of the beds has remained low.  SEPT and partners undertook an audit of patients 
who had a prolonged stay at Bedford Hospital to establish if the beds could be utilised 
better for a different cohort of patients based on need.  At this point the criteria for 
admission were flexed further but the beds continue to be underutilised.  The increased 
activity for caring for patients in their own homes is now stabilising at an increase of 
38%.   
 
A common theme in both local acute trusts is patients exercise choice and decline a 
bed at Biggleswade Hospital mainly due to its location and poor transport links. 
 
Our view is the current bed capacity outstrips the current demand.  It was hoped the 
commissioned bed review would establish requirements and changes moving forward.   
 

 Nov 13 Dec 13 Jan 14 February 14 March 14 
Patients 
admitted 

9 8 11 19 12 

Patients offered 
but refused bed 
at Biggleswade 

5 1 2 7 6 

 
 

As part of recent developments in relation to Winter Planning we have further reviewed admission criteria with all 
partners and flexed the criteria even further to include Local Authority patients however the bed utilisation still 
continues to be low. 

 

4.0  CONCLUSION 

 

As a provider SEPT are keen to provide services that are required and based on patient 
need.    
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 20



3 
 

 
 
Report prepared by: Richard Winter, Executive Director of Integrated Services, 
SEPT 
 
 
March 2014 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 21



4 
 

 
Appendix 2 

 
 

 ‘?…     
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ADMISSIONS POLICY FOR IN-PATIENT UNITS 
 
 

 January 2011  
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead Post: Head of Service  
Policy approved by: Clinical Governance and Risk Committee 
Date Approved:  
Recommended By Integrated Governance Committee  
Ratified by NHS Bedfordshire  
Review Date:  December 2011 

 

Agenda Item 11
Page 22



5 
 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

1 Introduction ____________________________________________________ 6 

2 Scope of this Policy ______________________________________________ 6 

3 Key Principles___________________________________________________ 6 

4 Responsibilities _________________________________________________ 6 

5 Criteria for Admission ____________________________________________ 7 
5.1 Eligibility Criteria: ______________________________________________ 7 
5.2 All patients referred will be assessed against criteria. __________________ 8 
5.3 ______________________________________________________________ 8 

6 Referral Process_________________________________________________ 8 
6.1 Documentation required for admission _____________________________ 8 
6.2 Procedure prior to admission _____________________________________ 9 
6.3 Information for the patient _______________________________________ 9 
6.4 Information for patients and carers/relatives ________________________ 10 

7 Process on admission ___________________________________________ 10 
7.1 General procedure____________________________________________ 10 
7.2 Patients with Communicable Infections ____________________________ 10 

8 Assessment processes, including risk assessment___________________ 10 

9 Medicines management__________________________________________ 11 
9.1 General issues_______________________________________________ 11 
9.2 Supply of medication __________________________________________ 11 
9.3 Storage of medicines __________________________________________ 12 

10 Clinical records _______________________________________________ 12 
10.1 General standards ____________________________________________ 12 

11 Procedures in event of local health community bed pressures ________ 12 
11.1 Emergency Team Meeting______________________________________ 12 
11.2 Bed Capacity and Bed Closure __________________________________ 13 
11.3 Additional Beds ______________________________________________ 13 

12 Related documents____________________________________________ 13 

13 Document Replaces ___________________________________________ 14 

14 Review of this policy___________________________________________ 14 

Agenda Item 11
Page 23



6 
 

 

Introduction 

This policy sets out the required processes and standards for admission to the 
Bedfordshire Community Health Services (BCHS) in-patient units: 
 

• Biggleswade Hospital 

• Archer Unit 

• BCHS funded beds in Tamar and Knolls Nursing Homes 
 

It sets out the criteria for admission and promotes safe and clinically appropriate 
placement of patients within the Units. The objective is to ensure admission 
which is appropriate to the case mix, within the capacity and capability of the 
nursing and support teams, and safe to the individual. 
 
This policy should be read in conjunction with other policies (see section 0)  

 

Scope of this Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that the community 
hospitals/intermediate care beds are used appropriately within the health 
economy. 
This policy sets out the criteria and processes for admission to ensure effective 
working with partner agencies and clinicians, particularly General Practitioner 
(GP) and local acute hospital referrers. 
 
This policy supports the role of the Clinical Services Manager and Bed Manager 
in the safe and satisfactory placement of patients, and the management of 
Bedfordshire Community Health Services (BCHS) bed capacity.  

Key Principles 

The following principles underpin the implementation of this policy. 

• The safety, comfort and quality of care for the patient is the primary concern. 

• BCHS has a responsibility to ensure that clinical accommodation is 
appropriately staffed and equipped to support available beds. 

• BCHS is committed to ensuring that service users have a timely, appropriate 
and service user focused entry to BCHS services.  The admission process is 
fundamental to achieving this aim. 

• BCHS are committed to eliminating racism, sexism and all forms of 
discrimination.  We will not discriminate on grounds of age, colour, disability, 
sexuality, ethnic origin, gender, gender reassignment, culture, health status, 
marital status, social or economic status, nationality or national origins, race 
religious belief.   

Responsibilities 

• Bed Manager acts as a link for all acute trusts and rapid intervention 
services regarding bed availability. Admission to beds in relationship to 
the Pending List, and is responsible for managing any delayed 
discharges within bedded units.  

Agenda Item 11
Page 24



7 
 

• Unit team leader / matron acts as the communication lead contact for 
patient access to bedded units. Manages the risk assessment process 
and suitability of patients within the multi disciplinary team. Manages  
multi disciplinary team meetings  and is  responsible for the devolution of 
responsibilities to ward staff in his/her absence 

• Pharmacist – There is no dedicated pharmaceutical support to any of 
the inpatient units however Biggleswade Hospital can obtain telephone 
support from Bedford General Hospital Pharmacy and 3/12 check of 
controlled drugs and safe disposal of these all ordering is completed 
through BGH  The Archer Unit can obtain telephone support from Boots 
the Chemist in Bedford. With any major concerns NHS Bedfordshire 
Pharmacists can offer advice...   

• Taymar and Knolls prescriptions are written by GP  and sent to 
local pharmacist , who provides support .  

• Clinical Services Manager - To be responsible for day-to-day 
operational management of the inpatient services for clinical and non 
clinical areas of work. To work with the Head of Service to monitor 
clinical governance, risk management and budgetary control within the 
bedded units  

• Head of Service- To be responsible for Strategic and service 
development, to agree with Partners, targets and monitoring of key 
performance indicators. Establish appropriate systems for ensuring 
effective governance systems are in place. To agree and review annual 
budget and spend to ensure cost.  

• General Practitioner Biggleswade Hospital provides medical overview / 
assessment of patients on daily ward round. Prescribing of any 
medicines  

• Archer Unit Service User’s GP to be contacted by unit as is deemed 
necessary out of area patients are medically managed within SLA with 
local GP practice as deemed necessary. 

• Named Nurse  To provide evidenced based nursing care to a 
designated group of patients in line with the wishes and intentions 
detailed in the individual care plan and to regularly take charge of a 
group of patients in the absence of the person with continuing 
responsibility where appropriate to be identified named nurse.   

Criteria for Admission 

The admission procedures specific to each service must include clear, written 
referral criteria and this information must be available to potential referring 
agencies and to service users.  BCHS will ensure that the key referral agencies 
are informed of the referral criteria. 

Eligibility Criteria 

• The patient is over 18 years old. 

• The patient is medically stable as defined by clinical assessment and not 
requiring acute admission.  

• The patient is registered with a GP who is registered with NHS 
Bedfordshire. 

• The patient has rehabilitation needs with identifiable rehabilitation goals 
and the potential to improve functions and/or independence. 

Agenda Item 11
Page 25



8 
 

• The patient’s mix of rehabilitation, medical and nursing needs, cannot be 
met in the range of services available in the community. 

• The patient and family/carers have agreed to admission. 

• The patient has the mental capacity to participate in and/or is able to 
benefit from the rehabilitation programme. 

• Patient must be motivated to participated to take part in a rehabilitation 
programme. 

• Clear discharge arrangements must be identified for the patient prior to 
admission. 

All patients referred will be assessed against criteria. 

 

Referral Process 

Referral to the inpatient unit is either through: 

• An acute hospital via discharge planning team. 

• A General Practitioner for step up care 

• Through an emergency presentation eg Onecall  

• The BCHS Rehabilitation & Enablement Team 

• Via Accident and Emergency department to avoid acute admission 

• Via Community Matron 

• Via Rapid Intervention Team 
Referrals can be made by telephone and email, followed by letter and single 
assessment process (SAP). 
 
Referrals are made to the Bed Manager, who must check whether there are any 
special requirements needed for the patient’s admission.  All referrals must be 
logged, including the date, time, referrer and patient details including diagnosis.   
 
The Bed Manager has the right to refuse admission where he/she has 
assessed the unit as full, or the patient does not meet the criteria set out in 
section 5. 

Documentation required for admission  

From community setting  

• Single Assessment Process (SAP) and Contact Assessment Form. 

• Referral letter outlining current episode giving rise to admission.  

• Summary of medical history including current conditions. 

• Full current medication list.  
 
 From acute setting  

• Comprehensive reports from Occupational Therapist/Physiotherapist   

• Discharge summary, including infection status1 

• Summary of medical history including current conditions  

• Full current medication list on appropriate documentation 

• SAP and Contact Assessment Form  
 

                                            
1
 In line with infection control reporting policy, all uninformed infections will be reported back into acute 

hospitals via incident reporting and the infection control lead 

Agenda Item 11
Page 26



9 
 

Unplanned Admissions 
All unplanned admission must have been triaged through the Onecall process, 
and a bedded unit assessed as the appropriate place of care. 
 
 
When an inpatient admission is unplanned and relevant information is not 
available, a member of staff must be nominated to gather this information (as 
above) at the first available opportunity to ensure patient safety.  

Procedure prior to admission 

Prior to admission, and except in an unplanned admission, a member of the 
clinical team will be responsible for the referred patient and an assessment will 
be completed and documented in the patient’s notes by the responsible clinical 
team member.  The pre-admission assessment will include the following which 
the referrer must provide: 
 

• A full medical history. 

• Details of medications. 

• Nursing and therapeutic requirements. 

• Full assessment provided by Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and 
any other clinicians involved in the assessment or care of the patient. 

• MRSA/C.Difficile status (Where appropriate) 
 
An admission date will be provided, and if no bed is immediately available, the 
likely waiting period will be explained to the referrer and the patient/carers. 
 
Admitting decisions will remain with the units. This will ensure that dependency 
remains within safe parameters allowing the identified health needs of the new 
admission to be met without compromising both the existing patients and staff 
on the unit. 
 
It is the referrer’s responsibility to arrange transport to the unit. 
 
It is the referrer’s responsibility to ensure that the client has all relevant 
medications with them on admission. 

Information for the patient 

Patients must be given information about their planned assessment and 
treatment. It is responsibility of the admitting nurse to ensure this is done. This 
information will be given verbally and supported with written information.  The 
information will include: 
 

• The name of the named professional/key worker. 

• Information about the specific condition/diagnosis. 

• Information about the assessment process. 

• Information regarding bringing own drugs to the Unit 

• Information about treatment/management plans, including medication. 

• The estimated date of discharge.  
 
Written information may be in the form of leaflets prepared by the clinical team 
or be provided by an external organisation.  In either case the clinical teams 

Agenda Item 11
Page 27



10 
 

within the service areas must ensure that the information is relevant and up to 
date. 

Information for patients and carers/relatives 

Services which operate on an inpatient basis must provide written/ verbal 
information for service users, their relatives and carers.  This will include: 
 

• Information on how to get to the unit by car or public transport. 

• Information about visiting times and access to telephones. 

• Advice about suitable clothing to bring. 

• Advice about electrical equipment (to meet Health and Safety 
requirements). 

• Information on what to do in an emergency e.g. a fire. 

• What must not be brought into the unit (e.g. alcohol, illegal substances). 

• Discharge process and estimated date of discharge 

Process on admission 

General procedure 

The Ward Manager is responsible for ensuring that appropriate arrangements 
are made to admit the patient, including any arrangements for special needs, 
including language, dietary requirements, mobility, cultural or communication 
needs. 
 
On admission the patient and their carers/relatives, if appropriate, must be 
greeted by a designated member of staff. 
 
The patient should be orientated to the unit and the staff, including toilets, and 
the nurse call system.  Information must be provided on accessing information, 
the advocacy service and the housekeeping arrangements. 
 
The ward routine must be explained, including meal times and visiting times, 
and any arrangements for an emergency. 

 
The policy for screening patients on admission to BCHS inpatient beds for 
Methicillian-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) must be followed. 

Patients with Communicable Infections 

Patients with a known or suspected infection, which poses a risk to other 
patients, must be cared for in a single room with full isolation precautions. 

 
An incident form must be completed, in accordance to NHS Bedfordshire’s 
incident reporting procedure, for all uninformed infections; these will be reported 
back to acute hospitals via incident reporting and the Infection Control Lead. 
 

Assessment processes, including risk assessment 

The assessment of the patient must be conducted using Waterlow score and 
following local guidelines. to be found in the single assessment process. 

Agenda Item 11
Page 28



11 
 

The patient must wear a wristband throughout their admission detailing their full 
name, date of birth and NHS number. 
Registered nurses are responsible for initial and continuing assessments of 
patients, and for recognising and acting upon changes in the patient’s condition 
including:  

• Moving and handling assessment . 

• Malnutrition Universal screening tool (MUST). 

• Morse Falls risk assessment tool. 

• Waterlow score. 

• Observations including Blood pressure, Pulse, respirations. 

• Risk of falls assessment 

• Top to Toe assessment. 

• Slipper exchange. 

Medicines management 

General issues 

It is the responsibility of the admitting nurse to ensure that the GP is aware of all 
admissions.  
 
Medicines Reconciliation (ref. 1) 
Comprehensive medicine reconciliation must be completed within 24hrs of 
admission by the admitting GP and any medicines prescribed written up on the 
patients Prescription & Administration Record chart. This will include a 
comprehensive comparison of the patients own medicines brought in, the information 
given by the referrer and by patients relatives or carers. 
 
A pharmacist shall be involved in medicines reconciliation for each patient as soon 
as possible after admission for each patient. 
 
Any discrepancies found, by the admitting nurse, GP or pharmacist will be confirmed 
and recorded. Any drug allergies and their effect shall be identified and recorded on 
prescribing documentation. 
 
Patients will be assessed for their ability to manage their own medication safely 
where appropriate. 

 

 
 
Patients are encouraged to bring their own medication, which must be checked by 
the GP and the pharmacist, for identity, quality and integrity. 
 

  

Supply of medication 

Further supplies of medication are obtained as follows: 
 
Archer Unit 
Prescription is faxed to Boots the Chemist in Bedford and delivered with in 24 
hours to the unit. No stock is held on the unit. 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 29



12 
 

Biggleswade Hospital 
Stock is ordered weekly from Bedford Hospital Pharmacy and a limited stock is 
held on the ward including controlled drugs. 
 
Tamar Nursing Home (BCHS funded beds) 
Prescriptions are written by GP  and sent to local pharmacist 

• Prescriptions are copied prior to sending medicines checked by two 
nurses on return. 

 
Knolls Nursing Home (BCHS funded beds) prescriptions are written by GP 
and sent to local pharmacist to  supply  
 
In all cases items received must be checked against the prescription by the 
named nurse, who must also contact the dispensing pharmacist if any 
discrepancies are noted. 

Storage of medicines 

All medicines must be stored in their original packaging, and must never be 
decanted to another container 
 
All controlled drugs must be entered into the Controlled Drugs Record Book 
and kept locked in the designated cupboard. 
 
Medicines storage varies at each of the units, and will include bedside cabinets, 
medicines trolleys/cupboards and medicines fridges.  In all cases the storage 
must be lockable, and kept locked when not in use. Local procedure must be 
followed within each unit. A registered nurse ensures safe administration of 
medication to patients and records this, or the reasons for non-administration, 
on medicines administration chart.  

Clinical records 

General standards 

• Registered nurses must adhere to their professional standards of record 
keeping.   

• Documentation specific to individual in patient units must be completed as 
required following local policy regarding record keeping. 

Procedures in event of local health community bed pressures  

Emergency Team Meeting 

The Head of Service or Clinical Services Manager may, at any time, convene a 
meeting of a Bed Emergency Team in order to agree action to be taken to place 
patients safely and appropriately.   
 
The Bed Emergency Team consists of:- 

•••• Bed Manager 

•••• Clinical Support Managers 

•••• Unit Team Leader 

•••• Head of service 

•••• Discharge Co-ordinator 

Agenda Item 11
Page 30



13 
 

•••• Rapid Intervention Team 
 

The role of the team is to agree actions to be taken over the prospective 24 
hours period, and beyond, in order to accommodate admissions and to support 
acute hospital escalation policy.  The team will rely extensively on the guidance 
of the Bed Management Team and their awareness of the overall capacity 
situation. 
  
The Bed Emergency Team will attempt to balance clinical risks for all patients 
and across all services, giving particular consideration to prioritising the 
appropriate care of patients in the A&E Department, AAU and appropriate safe 
discharge. 
 
Where there is a possibility of avoiding admission from A and E to the acute 
trust. The community beds will endeavour to offer a bed ASAP. In hours the bed 
manager will liaise with the units . Out of Hours, A and E should ring the units 
directly to secure the bed. 
 

Bed Capacity and Bed Closure 

It is essential that BCHS keep as many of its inpatient beds open as possible.  
From time to time it may be necessary to close beds because of such things as 
infection outbreaks estates issues and staffing shortages below safe levels. 
 
If closure of beds is being considered the BCHS Bed Closure Guidelines must 
be followed.  The policy requires that any closure must be authorised/ratified by 
the relevant Head of Service or their deputy, and must notify the Chief 
Operating Officer and Commissioning Lead.  The Bed Management Team must 
be advised of any bed closures immediately.  
 
Before any bed closure all possible solution would have been explored 
including redeployment of community nursing/rehabilitation staff to the bedded 
units. 

Additional Beds  

Where safe to do so, BCHS will support, within a county-wide escalation policy, 
the opening of additional beds when: 

• Delayed discharges are highlighted.  

• Staffing levels with the unit are at an optimum level to support safe 
discharge/care of patients. 

• The whole systems escalation policy identifies amber/red status and 
these beds can safely support discharge of medically fit patients. 

• The Chief Operating Officer (or his/her deputy) must authorise the 
opening of additional beds which are funded above the core contract per 
open bed day.  

 

Related documents 

This policy should be read in conjunction with other BCHS policies and 
legislations, including: 

• Consent Policy 

Agenda Item 11
Page 31



14 
 

• Data Protection Policy 

• IT Security Policy 

• Infection Control Policy 

• Incident Reporting and Management Policy 

• Records Management Policy 

• Medicines Management Policy 

• Risk assessment Policy 

• Service Continuity Plan 

• Health and Safety Policy 

• Moving and Handling Policy 

• Discharge Policy 
 
 

Document Replaces 

Admission Policy for in-patient units 2009-2010 

Review of this policy 

The range of inpatient beds within BCHS and the way they are used is always 
changing.  Any changes will require that the Admissions Policy is reviewed and 
updated accordingly.  This version of the Admissions Policy (January 2011) 
should be reviewed no later than December 2011.   

 
 

Reference 
 

1. NICE & NPSA Guidance NICE/NPSA/2007/PSG001: Technical patient safety 
solutions for medicines reconciliation on admission of adults to hospital. 
December 2007 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Page 32



 

 
Meeting: Social Care Health and Housing Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date:  7 April 2014 
 
Subject:   Planned Changes to the Provision of Mental Health and 
                   Community Services  
 
Report of: Richard Winter, Executive Director for Integrated Services, SEPT                
 

Summary:   
This report provides information on a change SEPT wishes to implement to meet 
cost improvement targets arising from financial and inflationary pressures facing the 
local health and social care economies. SEPT’s Trust Board has agreed a number of 
guiding principles to ensure that frontline services are protected where possible and 
the quality and safety of our services is not compromised. In preparing plans SEPT 
has also consulted with partner organisations and stakeholders on all savings 
options. SEPT has met over half of the health cost savings through reorganising 
support functions, improving procurement and contract management, income 
generation and estate and management changes.  The Trust is continuing to work 
with health Commissioners over the future changes required over the life of the 
current SEPT health contracts and will be seeking to secure financial balance in 
relation to these contracts over the coming months.  
 
The Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SCHH 
OSC) will be aware that South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation NHS 
Trust (SEPT) provides an integrated mental health service across Bedfordshire and 
Luton and community services across Bedfordshire.  In addition, the Trust has a 
Section 75 agreement in place for adult social care services with Central 
Bedfordshire Council.  
 

 
Advising Officer: Richard Winter, Executive Director Integrated Services, SEPT  
 

Public/Exempt: Public  
 
Wards Affected: All 
 
Function of:  Council 
 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Council Priorities: 
 

The resources available in the form of government funding to both the Health and 
Social Care sector are decreasing and there is an expectation that services will be 
provided in the most cost-effective and efficient manner.  Through these proposals 
SEPT is seeking to minimise the impact on local services through integration and 
avoiding duplication in delivery or financial payments. It is intended that the 
proposals in this document will provide a balanced plan for existing health contracts. 

Agenda Item 12
Page 33



Financial: 
 
The proposals align with the current health strategies and direction for the CCGs.  
SEPT must also demonstrate to the independent regulator, Monitor that the Trust is 
sustainable in the short, medium and long term as part of the Annual Planning 
process within the NHS and achieving cost improvement targets are a key part of 
this process. The Trust’s Annual plan for 2013/14 included these schemes for 
Bedfordshire. The plan is available on the Trust’s website. 
 
Legal: 
 
The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 require NHS bodies to consult with the relevant Local 
Authorities where there is a variation or development in health services in the area. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
SEPT and partner agencies have carefully considered the risks relating to the 
service-changes proposed in this paper and evaluated  these to be low. The Trust is 
continuing discussions with the Clinical Commissioning Group in relation to cost 
improvement plans and balancing the recurrent financial position for the contract. 
 
Staffing (including Trade Unions): 
 
Not Applicable.  
 
Equalities/Human Rights: 
 
The Trust has also completed Equality Impact Assessment in line with Trust policies 
and the Equality Delivery System for the NHS. The Trust also undertakes a Quality 
Impact assessment on all potential savings schemes. These assessments have 
concluded that the proposal is robust.   
 
All areas will be quality assured whilst any changes are implemented and measured 
through patient and carer experience feedback, complaints and compliments and 
audits where appropriate.  SEPT is performance managed by commissioners 
through their contract and via the quality schedule monthly meetings (Equality & 
Diversity), prior to the publication of the report. 
 
Public Health: 
 
No implications have been identified by the authors of this report. 
 
Community Safety: 
 
Not Applicable.  
 
Sustainability: 
 
Not Applicable.  

Agenda Item 12
Page 34



 
Procurement: 
 
Not applicable.  

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
The Committee is asked to: 
 
Note the proposal to adjust the current provision of Continence Services and assure 
the committee that delivering these services differently will not incur further costs to 
commissioners or providers. 
 

Proposal 
 
11. To adjust the current provision of Continence Services by changing the supply 

of products to new patients and removing the provision of pads to Nursing 
homes (Health funded –value of saving £150k on a current spend of circa 
£1m). 
 

Reasons for Proposal 
 
12.   The community continence service provides specialist assessment, treatment 

and provision of products for patients with incontinence. The continence 
service has a significant recurrent cost pressure as a result of increased 
demand in their services resulting in a cost that is no longer sustainable.  
SEPT has introduced a number of controls and is re-tendering the supply of 
continence products, including pull up’s, continence pads with fixation pants 
and ‘all in one’ continence pads.  However, these steps are insufficient to meet 
substantial demand and the Trust wishes to adjust the formulary of products 
for new patients coming into the service and extend the current delivery cycle 
for direct supplies to patients from 8 to 12 week delivery cycles.   In addition 
SEPT has agreed with commissioners to bring the service into line with other 
local health providers by ceasing provision to nursing homes as the funding for 
continence supplies is included within the Nursing Homes contracts.  A 
contract variation has been approved by the Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  It is worth noting that no other community service 
provides products to nursing homes this has been benchmarked and can be 
fully evidenced. (See table in appendix A). 
 

13.   The provision to nursing homes will affect 6 nursing homes in Luton (262 
patients) and 21 in Bedfordshire (505 patients).  There are 11 nursing homes 
in Central Bedfordshire.  This means that nursing homes will no longer receive 
their products from SEPT but they will purchase their continence products 
directly from either the current continence products supplier or from another 
supplier of their choice, purchased directly by the nursing home.   The 
provision of continence products can continue directly from the current 
continence product supplier (Attends) as SEPT will arrange an opportunity for 
each home to meet with Attends prior to the cease of the service from SEPT to 
ensure continuity of product supply for patients, this will also be an opportunity 

Agenda Item 12
Page 35



for staff and public engagement.  Both Local Authorities have been informed 
and there will be a meeting with nursing home managers to discuss the 
intentions and then a three month notice period will be served.  This is not a 
service stoppage but a change in continence products supplier.   
 

14.   There will be no reduction in services for patients; SEPT continence service 
will continue to provide specialist advice and training for Nursing home staff 
and patients. Therefore the patients clinical status will not be compromised in 
fact nursing homes and therefore, patients, will have an increased choice of 
continence product and supplier.  This will allow local continence service costs 
to come back in line nationally with an efficiency of approximately £150k per 
annum which can be utilised in another healthcare area.  SEPT has 
undertaken a quality impact assessment for this intention as part of the agreed 
Cost Improvement Programme required process.  Alongside the required 
process SEPT have also considered the Department of Health’s four tests. - 
"First, there must be clarity about the clinical evidence base underpinning the 
proposals. Second, they must have the support of the GP commissioners 
involved. Third, they must genuinely promote choice for their patients. Fourth, 
the process must have genuinely engaged the public, patients and local 
authorities if there is significant change".,  
which are covered above.   
 

15.   Conclusion & Next Steps 
 

 The following have been consulted in preparing this report: 
 
Management Group 
Joint Management Group, Bedford Borough, Central Bedfordshire and Luton Borough Councils. 

Relevant Managers  
Executive Director for Adult and Community Services , Bedford Borough Council 
Executive Director of Adult and Community Services, Central Bedfordshire Council 
Chief Operating Officer Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Organisation(s)  
Bedford Clinical Commissioning Group  
Luton Clinical Commissioning Group 
Central Bedfordshire Borough Council  
 
No adverse comments were received in relation to the proposals in this paper.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 12
Page 36



Appendix A  
 
Continence Pad Provision in other areas, October 2013 
  

Area Supply 
pads to 
Nursing 
Homes 

Comment 

Hertfordshire 
 

No  

Oxfordshire 
 

No  

Hampshire  
 

No  

Berkshire 
 

No  

Essex No Separate budget and nursing homes 
manage their own supply/costs 

Surrey Yes but 
restricted 

Only started in 2011 and the money that 
the then PCT spent on pads (only to 
funded nursing care patients), was 
given to the CHS to manage.  Nursing 
homes are expected to follow stringent 
process (including regular staff training) 
to assess for pads, and pad provision is 
dependent on homes compliance.  Very 
limited formulary, and only for funded 
nursing home patients. 

Enfield No  

Cambridgeshire Very 
limited 

Restricted number of homes are 
provided to but mostly homes do their 
own assessments and claim directly 
from CCG 
Very restricted formulary and provide no 
pull up pads 

 

Funding for continence products for CHC funded patients is included as part of the 
funded nursing care payments.  The local health service is effectively paying twice 
for the provision of continence products to patients in nursing homes.  Patients, 
carers and nursing home staff will continue to access the Continence Service for 
specialist advice, training and support. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 12
Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Meeting: Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 07 April 2014 

Subject: Mental Health Procurement 

Report of: Dr Diane Bell, Director of Strategy and Redesign, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

Summary: The report provides the Committee with the opportunity to comment on 
proposed models of care and plans for consultation.  

 

 

Advising Officer: Dr Diane Bell (Director of Strategy & Redesign) 

Public/Exempt: Public  

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

1. This report supports the promotion of health and wellbeing and protecting the 
vulnerable as it relates to the future of mental health services for the population 
of Central Bedfordshire. 

Financial: 

2. The procurement of Mental Health, Learning Disability and Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services is within four identified lots.  

 • Lot 1 (Steps 1-3; primary care MH services) = £2,336,347,  

 • Lot 2 (Steps 4-5; secondary care services= £29,266,031  BCCG and 
£1,894,578  Section 75 CBC , ,  

 • Lot 3 (Rehabilitation and Recovery) = £1,178,917  BCCG, £255,131 Section 
75 for CBC  

 • Lot 4 (CAMHS ) =£4,442,600 BCCG, £220,000 CBC 

Legal: 

3. The procurement process that is being completed is as advised by Attain, who 
provide procurement advice to Bedfordshire CCG, their processes and the 
documents to be completed during the procurement have all been assured by 
their legal advisors 

Risk Management: 

4. There is a Procurement Steering Group which is overseeing the process, with 
representation from all relevant parties, this group meets fortnightly. There is a 
risk register that is reviewed at each meeting; high risks are escalated to the 
Bedfordshire CCG’s Delivering for Patients Board.  

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 39



Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

5. As part of the quality monitoring of all existing contracts, assurance on the 
communication of the process and the support for staff  within organisations 
affected by this process has been requested and will be monitored through the 
contract monitoring meetings. 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

6. An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for each of the projects 
identified in this paper. Due to the nature of these services, pathways to ensure 
the most vulnerable people are able to access support are key factors in the 
assurances requested from potential bidders. There is also a requirement to 
ensure that people with disabilities are not excluded from Mental Health services 
and reporting against the protected characteristics will be matched against 
demographic information through the contract monitoring. 

Public Health 

7. The procurement of mental health and learning disability services will support 
public health priorities in relation to mental health and improve the health 
outcomes of hard to reach communities. The outcome based specifications 
being developed will include public health outcomes and services will be 
monitored against these contractually. 

Community Safety: 

8. The procurement seeks to address current concerns for police and probation, 
working together with Mental Health services. These partnerships have been 
identified as a key outcome for the new service. 

Sustainability: 

9. Providing services that are more locality focussed should improve accessibility 
for people, no concerns regarding sustainability have been identified through 
the individual projects. 

Procurement: 

10. This paper is regarding the procurement process for Mental Health and 
Learning Disability Services and the details are included in the body of the 
report. 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

The Committee is asked to provide feedback in relation to the level of engagement 
that has taken place and support the procurement as detailed in the report.  

 

Current situation 

1. In 2009, the decision was made to transfer the Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Services run by Beds and Luton Partnership Trust to an existing 
Foundation Trust in order to secure a sustainable future for the Trust and to 
ensure the provision of high quality mental health and learning disability services. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 40



2. NHS England, in conjunction with NHS Bedfordshire and NHS Luton 
commissioners and Local Authority leads undertook an open procurement 
process to identify the most capable Foundation Trust to acquire the business 
and assets of BLPT and to provide the future services. South Essex Partnership 
Trust (SEPT) were awarded this contract in 2010. The contract has run for three 
years and is now in its fourth. 

3. The contract with SEPT for the delivery of Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Services in Bedfordshire and Luton ends in March 2014.  

4. Luton CCG has expressed a wish to have a sole contract going forward and 
have commenced their procurement process for Mental Health services with the 
aim of having their new providers delivering services in Luton by the end of 
October 2014.  

5. The decision for procurement of Bedfordshire’s Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Service was taken to the BCCG Governing Body on 4th February 2014 
and an agreement to proceed was made. The procurement is being undertaken 
through four individual lots; 

 • Steps 1-3 (Mental Health services in primary care, including counselling 
and Improved Access to Psychological Therapies) 

 • Steps 4-5 (Mental Health services in secondary care) 

 • Rehabilitation and Recovery 

 • CAMHS 

 Central Bedfordshire Council agreed for their Section 75 for Mental Health 
services to be included in the procurement process. 

6. SEPT have agreed to continue to deliver Mental Health and Learning Disability 
services from April 2014 for a further year, to enable the procurement process to 
be completed. 

Development of a new model for Adult Mental Health Services 

7. Over the last eighteen months, BCCG’s Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Change Board has been managing a number of projects that will meet BCCG’s 
strategic objectives, support the priorities within the Mental Health Strategy for 
Central Bedfordshire and develop new models for mental health and learning 
disability services for the people of Central Bedfordshire. 

8. These projects have been managed in accordance with the Programme Board 
processes for BCCG.  The projects are; 

 • Steps 1 – 3 Increased mental health support in primary care services, in 
order to provide appropriate treatment at the earliest point in a persons’ 
mental illness and to increase the number of people accessing psychological 
therapies 

 • Steps 4 – 5 Five locality specialist integrated mental health teams that meet 
the needs of all adults with mental health needs in their area. 

 • Dementia Specialist post diagnosis support for people with dementia and 
their carers 

 • Specialist Learning Disability Services Increased access to mainstream 
services, focused specialist support integrated with Adult Learning Disability 
Teams and Crisis and in-patient care. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 41



 • Autism  Provision of a local assessment, diagnosis and longer term support 
service for people with autism 

 • Rehabilitation and Recovery Services A community team that works in a 
person centred way in supporting people to recovery through specialist 
interventions and additional support to access general services 

9. BCCG has developed its Mental Health Strategic Objectives for 2013 -2016, 
which provide information on the proposed models for these services and these 
have now been published.   

Stakeholder Engagement 

10. Over the past two years, there has been a significant level of stakeholder 
engagement with patients, carers and other stakeholders regarding mental 
health services in Bedfordshire. During this engagement , key priorities were 
identified to improve mental health services; 

 • To commission services that help people to recover 

 • To have a greater focus on prevention 

 • To provide more employment support for people with mental health and 
psychological disorders 

 • To simplify the structure of mental health services and the referrals process to 
make it easier to access support and treatment earlier 

 • To increase the provision of talking therapies, including for children and 
young people, and reduce waiting times 

 • To improve the physical health of people with mental health problems, and 
provide better mental health support for people with physical conditions 

 • To ensure that everyone with a mental health problem has access to 
assessment, treatment and support from primary care mental health link 
worker with earlier access to help and intervention and improved 
communication with GP’s. 

 • To improve the transition from children’s services. 

11. In partnership with Central Bedfordshire, we have used the engagement forums 
to develop models for local services and these can be found as appendices (a) – 
(f). A full report on the engagement events and a summary of the information 
obtained from them is available at Appendix (f). 

12. Specialist Learning Disability Services 

 The first stakeholder events started in June 2012, this was followed by patient, 
carer and professionals questionnaires and further additional engagement with 
wider stakeholders. This included information provided to the Learning Disability 
Delivery Partnership and meetings with the provider. A further stakeholder event 
was held in December 2013, outlining the proposed model and this was also sent 
out to all stakeholders. 

 The key things that people identified that they would like to change, included; 

 • Hours of work for services (increasing availability outside of 9-5pm) 

 • Location of the service (currently based in North Bedfordshire and difficult to 
access) 

Agenda Item 13
Page 42



 • Length of time people stay in the service ( some people staying for many 
years) 

 • Waiting times ( reducing the wait for some key services) 

 • Difficulty in getting an appointment 

 Some of the things that people identified as working well and that they would like 
to keep included in the services were; 

 • Nurses at the hospital 

 • Health Facilitation Team 

 • Providing training and on-going support to staff 

 • Sensory services 

 The feedback we received has influenced the model in many ways.  Examples of 
this include that The Health Facilitation Service and the Acute Liaison Nurses will  
remain in place within the new model, the accessibility of services has been 
considered and will be addressed by having a Central Bedfordshire Specialist 
Learning Disability Team and we will be working with the new provider to look at 
opportunities for locating this more centrally.  

Rehabilitation and Recovery 

13. In May 2013, a stakeholder event was held where there was representation for a 
wide audience again, including people who access the service, carers, the 
voluntary sector and providers. A further full stakeholder engagement was 
arranged for December 2013, but due to poor planned attendance this was 
moved to March 2014. In addition, through the Stepped Care Model Workshops 
(covering Steps 1-5), feedback has been sought in relation to this service. 

 The workshops were used to engage with stakeholders about the model and 
feedback on what made a good service included; 

 • A step up or step down care pathway 

 • Intensive package of support that reduces over time 

 • On-going pathway of recovery which doesn’t stop once a service user is in 
the community 

 • Extra care housing 

 • Access to employment support 

 • Access to peer support 

 • Wellbeing centres 

 • Short term and medium term rehab beds. 

 The model that has been developed has been influenced by our engagement 
work and will be delivered through a three tiered approach, providing high 
support, medium support or standard support. 

 The proposed service will be delivered in partnership with other agencies, 
including supported housing schemes, employment, providers, and deliver a 
range of therapeutic interventions as well as providing peer support and work in 
a more person-centred way to support people to achieve their goals and to 
minimise the risk of relapse , as referral back to services will be possible. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 43



Steps 1-3 

14. There have been several workshops to review the proposed stepped care model 
and in addition, a couple of very focussed workshops to consider Steps 1-3. On 
25/10/13 stakeholders were engaged in a number of key questions, including 
considering a Single Point of Access, referrals and triage; 

 • Stakeholders supported a single point of access, but wanted to understand 
how many calls that would mean and could it crash as a result. It was agreed 
that the single point of access for Steps 1-3 would not be the same as Step 4-
5, so that the demand could be sustained.  

 • People felt that being signposted to the right treatment was really helpful so 
fully supported the need for triage in the pathway. People also said that they 
wanted to be able to self-refer and this will be possible. 

Steps 4-5 

15. There have been several workshops to consider the proposed stepped care 
model and during a number of these, there has been discussion around key 
areas to help develop the proposed model. Some of the feedback and the 
actions taken as a result of these are as follows; 

 • People said that they felt safe when they were admitted to hospital but 
wanted more support when they were discharged. This will be achieved 
through the rehabilitation and recovery model of care being developed. 
Stakeholders questioned if detox beds should be in the mental health units 
and said that it could be quite disruptive for the other people on the ward.   

 • Stakeholders wanted to have a crisis service for adults of all ages and this 
has been included in the model. People generally felt that there shouldn’t be 
an adult and an older persons team as mental health wasn’t about age, 
however the importance of expertise in Consultants for older people was 
recognised. 

 • There was a mixed opinion about whether the functions of the Crisis 
Resolution and Home Treatment Team should be split or stayed together and 
so this will be explored further through the procurement dialogue. 

 • There were a lot of views about people going to Accident and Emergency 
when they are in crisis, people understood why it was necessary, but felt that 
that they would like a quiet place to wait away from the waiting room. This will 
be fed into the strategic review that is taking place. 

 • People raised concerns about the impact that Department of Work and 
Pension has on their mental health and this has been fed back into work 
streams within the local authority. 

 • Stakeholders supported the role of Mental Health Link Workers in primary 
care but people felt that there should be more of them. This is being 
addressed within the model. 

 • One stakeholder was concerned about splitting Children and adolescent 
Mental health Services from Adults. To ensure this doesn’t fragment an 
individual’s care pathway, the need for these services to work together has 
been included in the procurement process. 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 44



Dementia 

16. The current dementia support, including Memory Assessment Services, are not 
affected by this proposal. There have been a number of workshops to consider 
how best to provide additional support people to live well with dementia. This has 
resulted in the proposal of a post diagnostic support service that supports people 
with dementia and their carers throughout the journey of dementia. The 
engagement has resulted in various changes to the initial project, including; 

 • Improving communication prior to appointments at the Memory Assessment 
Service 

 • Patients choosing which clinic they would like to be seen in and where they 
would like to receive their post diagnostic support  

 • Provision of emotional support as well as practical assistance 

 People who use the service also identified the following key areas as important 
to them:- 

 • Single point of contact 

 • Dementia nurses who offer proactive and on-going support throughout the 
journey of dementia 

 • Two way communication channels 

 • Timely information and support 

 • Moving Memory Assessment Services away from hospital setting 

Development of a new model for Children’s Mental Health Services 

17. In addition, the Children’s and Young Peoples’ Change Board has been leading 
on the development of a model for Tier 3 Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services 

 In order to inform the development of a revised service specification and model 
of services delivery for tier 3 CAMHS, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (BCCG) has undertaken a review of tier 3 CAMHS as currently provided 
and Public Health colleagues undertook simultaneous reviews of Tier 1 and 2 
services  

 A significant level of engagement has already been carried out with service 
providers and other key stakeholder recently. This included questionnaires from 
GPs and Social Workers, individual interviews, focus groups. 

 Findings have been shared with The Acting Early, Reducing Poverty and 
Improving Health group (Central Bedfordshire) The Child Health and Wellbeing 
Group (Bedford Borough) the Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Bedford Borough) and the Child and Maternity Programme Board (Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group) 

 This review benchmarked current service provision against best practice models 

of service provision and national guidance. The review report has been 

completed and submitted to BCCG Executive Management Team and both OSC 

Committees it made a number of recommendations which include:- 

 • Develop a pathway of care across all tiers to ensure coherent patient journey 

across providers and tiers. This should include Tier 4 specialist 

commissioning.  

Agenda Item 13
Page 45



 • Develop a Single Point of Access and communicate to users and 

professionals how it works. Ensure that they can refer in an appropriate 

manner.  It was reported that for a Single Point of Access to operate 

effectively, the professional would have to be appropriately trained, skilled 

and knowledgeable.  

 • Explore reducing waiting times from referral to assessment and assessment  

 • The length of treatment should be reduced thus allowing new referrals to be 

assessed, treated and discharged quickly  

 • More outreach work is required based on consultation with children and their 

families/carers, as well as asking questions at the beginning of their initial 

assessment about what their needs are in terms of location and timings.  This 

should include exploring options of using alternative venues e.g. GPs 

surgeries/Health Centre, School, home and community venue (e.g. local 

Children’s Centre) etc.  

 • Having agreed our vision and strategic priorities and undertaken a 

comprehensive review of current services the scope of this project is to 

design and procure a service that meets the needs of children and delivers 

the interventions required. 

 The project will have the following objectives :- 

 To reduce inequalities. By having one contract with one lead and one service       
specification across tiers 2 and 3, the aim will be to reduce current inequalities.  

 To improve Access. Waiting times are currently different for each provider and 
up to 16 weeks for specialist CAMHS and 12 weeks for CHUMS. The new 
service will have waiting times targets of 6 weeks for non-urgent cases. Access 
thresholds and referral information are also different or differently interpreted. 
There are gaps in some aspects of provision. The revised model will offer a 
single point of access for all CAMHS (tiers 2 and 3) 

To improve outcomes. 

18. Current outcome measures and reporting is not consistent across providers and 
is poor for specialist providers. This means that it is difficult to measure 
outcomes in all services and to compare effectiveness. A single outcome 
measure will be consistently used across all levels of service as part of an 
outcome measure framework.  However BCCG are interested in obtaining the 
views and feedback from children and young people to ensure our future 
procurement of mental health services for children and young people are 
appropriate and responsive to their needs. 

 A formal consultation will run for one month between 10th March and 11th April 
2014.  Questionnaires for Children and young people and for parents/carers will 
be distributed, in hard copy and available online. A number of focus groups will 
also take place with service users and with specific target groups such as 
Looked After Children In March/April 2014. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 46



Background papers and their location: (open to public inspection) 

 BCCG Mental Health Strategic Objectives  
https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/?id=3713 

 Central Bedfordshire Mental Health Strategy DRAFT Central Bedfordshire Council Joint 
Commissioning Strategy for Mental Health Services 

Appendices 

 Appendix A – Stepped Care Framework 

Appendix B – Proposed Stepped Care Model for Mental Health Services 

Appendix C – Proposed Model for Specialist Learning Disability Services 

Appendix D – Proposed Model for Rehabilitation and Recovery Services 

Appendix E – Autism Pathway 

Appendix F – Stakeholder Engagement Report 

Appendix G – CAMHS Tier 1 & 2 review 

Appendix H – CAMHS Tier 3 review 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
( 

a
) 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix (b) 

 

Crisis Service Provision

In-Patients Service Provision

Rehabilitation Service Provision

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 4 -17)

(Functional)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Adult Team

(x1) Consultant Psychiatrist

 

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 18 -21)

(Organic)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Old Age Team

Nurse Specialist 

Consultant Psychiatrist 

(Rota)
CORE

 

MAS

Step 1-3 

(PbR Clusters 1-4)

Clinical

Primary Care Counsellor/ 

IAPT Service

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 4 -17)

(Functional)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Adult Team

(x1) Consultant Psychiatrist

 

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 18 -21)

(Organic)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Old Age Team

Nurse Specialist 

Consultant Psychiatrist 

(Rota)
CORE

 

MAS

Step 1-3 

(PbR Clusters 1-4)

Clinical

Primary Care Counsellor/ 

IAPT Service

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 4 -17)

(Functional)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Adult Team

(x1) Consultant Psychiatrist

 

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 18 -21)

(Organic)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Old Age Team

Nurse Specialist 

Consultant Psychiatrist 

(Rota)
CORE

 

MAS

Step 1-3 

(PbR Clusters 1-4)

Clinical

Primary Care Counsellor/ 

IAPT Service

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 4 -17)

(Functional)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Adult Team

(x1) Consultant Psychiatrist

 

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 18 -21)

(Organic)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Old Age Team

Nurse Specialist 

Consultant Psychiatrist 

(Rota)
CORE

 

MAS

Step 1-3 

(PbR Clusters 1-4)

Clinical

Primary Care Counsellor/ 

IAPT Service

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 4 -17)

(Functional)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Adult Team

(x1) Consultant Psychiatrist

 

Step 4-5

(PbR Cluster 18 -21)

(Organic)

Clinical Team

CMHTs - Old Age Team

Nurse Specialist 

Consultant Psychiatrist 

(Rota)
CORE

 

MAS

Step 1-3 

(PbR Clusters 1-4)

Clinical

Primary Care Counsellor/ 

IAPT Service

Leighton Buzzard Locality

(4 GP Practices/ Popu 44k) 

West Mid Bedfordshire Locality

(6 GP Practices)

Chiltern Vale  Locality

(10 GP Practices/ Popu 79k)

Bedford Locality

(26 GP Practices/ Popu 176k)

MDT Team

MH Wellbeing Workers

Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Counsellors

Link Workers

Triage and Assessment

Mental Health

 Multi Disciplinary Team(MDT)

(Collaborative Assessments)

Administration

Single Point of Access

Administrative Staff

Admin (Volunteers)

LIMBS LIMBS

LIMBS

Wellbeing Control Hub

LIMBS

Ivel Valley Locality

(9 GP Practices/ 87k)

LIMBS

Voluntary Sector Services

Secondary Care Services

Primary Care Services

Community Services

Secondary Care Services

S
p

e
cia

list P
sy

ch
o

lo
g

ica
l S

e
rv

ice
sS

p
e

ci
a

li
st

 P
sy

ch
o

lo
g

ic
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

Specialist Psychological Services

Complex Needs 

Services

Eating Disorder 

Service

Bedfordshire Mental Health and 

Wellbeing Model

Mental Health
Self Referral

& Professional Referrals

(Primary/Secondary Care)

Mental Health
Self Referral

& Professional Referrals 

(Primary/Secondary Care)

Single Point of AccessSingle Point of Access

Mental Health

Core Service 

Provision

Leighton Buzzard Locality

(4 GP Practices/ Popu 44k) 

Locality Integrated Mental wellBeing 

Service (LIMBS)

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix (c) 

Specialist Learning Disability Proposed Model 

December 2, 2013 

 

 

 

Central Bedfordshire  

Primary Health Facilitation service 

Occupational Therapy  

Psychology  

Specialist Medical 

Bedford Borough 

Primary Health Facilitation service 

Occupational Therapy  

Psychology  

Specialist Medical 

• Arts Psychotherapies Department  

• Specialist Services     
Spot Purchase  

• Intensive Support Team  

• The Coppice (in-patients)  
Crisis Service  

• Bedford Hospital  

• Luton & Dunstable Hospital  
Acute - Health Facilitation 

Service 

• Dietetics  

• Speech and Language Therapy (1 x SALT post SPLD) 

• Sensory Impairment Therapy (1 X Nurse post SPLD)  

• Physiotherapy       
  

Mainstream Services  

Agenda Item 13
Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix (d) 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix (e) 

ASC Team Scope 

Autism Spectrum Condition Pathway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Multi-disciplinary diagnostic 

assessment 

ASC diagnosis given care 

plan agreed 

 

No Yes 

· Post 

diagnostic 

support 

· Carer 

support 

· Liaison/sign

posting 

· Preventative 

intervention  

· Needs 

assessment 

ADW on going 

support 

Person of family/carer 

General Practitioner 

Secondary/tertiary healthcare.  Prison mental healthcare 

A&E and liaison, NHS Direct, Social services 

Access determinant on local areas 

Person with diagnosis (including young 

person in transition from children’s services) 

Community Care Needs 

Assessment (FACS) Carers 

Assessment 

Meet FACS? 

Yes No 

Allocation of Care 

Manager 

· Care package 

· Direct 

payment/individualised 

budget 

· Signpost 

· Refer 

elsewhere if 

needed 

Personal support 

etc 

Is person eligible for 

Mental Health or Learning 

Disability Services? 

MH/LD team undertake  

· Diagnostic 

assessment 

· MDT assessment of 

need 

· Community care 

needs assessment 

Need for 

specialist 

tertiary 

services?  

Presence of 

non-severe 

enduring MH 

problems? 

No Yes 

No Yes 

Treatment 

by IAPT 

Treatment by 

secondary 

services 

Treatment 

by tertiary 

services 

Financial 

Management 

Housing 

support 

Employment Support 

networks 

Social 

networks 

Advocacy 

Education and 

training 

Autism 

Bedfordshire 

Primary Care 

Agenda Item 13
Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



                                               Appendix F  

 

  

 

 

Mental Health, Learning Disability and CAMHS 
Procurement Review 

 

ENGAGEMENT REPORT  
 

A summary of stakeholder engagement activities with 
service users, providers and other key stakeholder groups 

 
 
 
 

27
th

 January 2014  

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 59



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

2 

 

a 

 

Contents 
 

1.0 Background                                                                 Page  3 

 

2.0 Specialist Learning Disability Review                            Page 5 
 

3.0 How the feedback influenced the development of 

           the model of service                                                      Page 6  

4.0  Additional engagement meetings                                  Page 7  

5.0      Plans for forthcoming meetings and events  Page 7 

6.0      Rehabilitation Service Review                                       Page 8 

7.0       How this has influenced the development of the 
            Community Mental Health Rehabilitation and 
            Recovery Service                                                    Page 9 

8.0       Additional Engagement Meetings                  Page 10 

9.0      Plans for forth coming meetings and events                   Page 10 

10.     Dementia                                                     Page 12 

11   Stepped Care Model 1 – 5                                                 Page 13      

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 60



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

3 

 

1.0 Background  
 

On 1st April 2013, as part of the national NHS reforms, the responsibility for 
commissioning a range of health services transferred from NHS Bedfordshire 
(also previously known as Bedfordshire PCT) to NHS Bedfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (BCCG). Responsibility for commissioning certain other 
local health services was transferred either to Bedford Borough Council, Central 
Bedfordshire Council or NHS England (Hertfordshire and South Midlands Area 
Team). 
 
‘The Bedfordshire Plan for Patients’ is BCCG’s operational plan for the delivery of 
health services, and has been developed by local clinicians, working with its 
partners, to deliver improvements in the quality (experience, safety and 
outcomes) of care and life for the residents of Bedford Borough and Central 
Bedfordshire. 
 
BCCG acknowledges the need to take a longer term view of the planning of 
services to reflect the significant changes required to tackle the unprecedented 
Challenges facing the public sector. The operational plan details the local 
ambitions for improving outcomes within the funding available to BCCG. 
 
In February 2014, BCCG published its Mental Health Strategic Objectives which 
describes its commitment to the improvement of Mental Health services within 
Bedfordshire. These can be found at: 
https://www.bedfordshireccg.nhs.uk/page/?id=3713 
 
Within the Mental Health Strategic Objectives, BCCG have committed to a 
programme of transformation which has already started; to redesign and integrate 
mental health services, to improve quality, improve health outcomes, increase 
Capacity and reduce gaps in provision. BCCG is keen to increase the volume and 
range of services for people with mild to moderate mental health issues, which 
are provided within primary care, enabling people to receive help earlier, improve 
their recovery and should reduce the number of people developing more severe 
problems. 
 
Changes also need to be made to secondary care services. This will ensure that 
Services for people with more serious or complex needs, and for people with 
Dementia, are more accessible and responsive. Generally, there is a need for 
greater access to psychological therapies across the whole mental health 
pathway. 
 
The Commissioning Organisations (including BCCG, Bedford Borough Council 
and Central Bedfordshire Council) are committed to the development of Mental 
Health services and have developed the model for delivery of care across both 
the health and social care systems that will be high quality, safe, fit for purpose 
and sustainable. 
 
In order to achieve the necessary transformation, and secure a strengthened, 

Agenda Item 13
Page 61



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

4 

 

integrated framework for Mental Health services, the BCCG Governing Body 
gave its approval for a formal procurement process. In addition, both Bedford 
Borough Council and Central Bedfordshire Council have formally agreed that 
those services commissioned through Section 75 arrangements would also be 
part of this procurement process.  
 

  

Local Context 
 
 

BCCG, Bedford Borough Council and Central Bedfordshire Council work together 
in the commissioning of Mental Health and Learning Disability Services, and in 
monitoring existing services to ensure the best outcomes are delivered for their 
respective populations. 
 
There are challenging financial targets for all Commissioning Organisations over 
the coming years and this must be considered alongside an increased demand 
for services. 
 
The Commissioning Organisations have worked hard over the last eighteen 
months to engage all of their stakeholders and to develop service models which 
will transform local Mental Health and Learning Disability Services. 
BCCG’s Strategic Objectives for Mental Health describe how Mental Health 
services will be developed within Bedfordshire. These were developed following 
stakeholder engagement, using public health data and reviewing national best 
practice. 
 
BCCG will continue the work it has already started with its partners to redesign all 
of its mental health services, to improve quality, improve health outcomes, 
increase capacity, reduce gaps in provision and remove duplication. This will 
require services to be integrated and commissioned jointly with the Local 
Authorities 
whenever possible. 
 
Within this 3-year plan, BCCGs key priorities are: 
 

·  Prevention and early intervention 

·  Improving quality in general practice 

· Steps 1 – 3 of the Stepped care model 

· Steps 4 – 5 of the Stepped care model 

· Complex needs 

· Rehabilitation and Recovery 

· Dementia 

· Liaison Psychiatry 

· Transition to adult services 

· Services for children and young people 

· Preparing for the full introduction of the new Payment System for Mental 

· Health Services 

Agenda Item 13
Page 62



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

5 

 

Engagement Report Summary for the Mental Health 
Projects  

 

2.0 Specialist Learning Disability Service Review 

A stakeholder event was held in July 2012 where the following areas were 
discussed: 

1. Eligibility criteria  
2. Arts Psychotherapies  
3. Health Facilitation Service  
4. Physiotherapy  
5. Occupational Therapy  
6. Specialist Medical Team  
7. Sensory  

 

Overview of the feedback received from this event is outlined as follows: 

What people would like to keep?  

• Sensory  
• Health Facilitation Team  
• Nurses at the hospitals  
• Forensic Community Treatment Team  
• Going to people’s homes 
• Providing training and on-going support to staff  
• Good access to specialist Medical service  
• Good use of community services 

 

What people would like to change   

• Hours of work, not just a 9 – 5 service, especially Liaison Nurses and 
Health Facilitation Team 

• Venue  
• Waiting times and waiting lists 
• Difficulty in getting an appointment  
• Having same staff supporting a person  
• Better communication  
• Shorter referral forms  
• More input from Intensive Support Team  
• Length of time some people stay in the service  

 

  

Agenda Item 13
Page 63



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

6 

 

3.0 How the feedback obtained influenced the development of 
the model of service  

Currently the services are located north of Bedford at the Twinwoods site in 
Clapham. The location has been an issue particular to those who are situated in 
the south of the county. The proposed redesigned model recommends that the 
specialist services are based within the Local Authority locality areas. As a result 
it is anticipated that these services will be more accessible to everyone who 
resides within Bedford Borough or Central Bedfordshire.  Specialist Learning 
Disability Services will include: 

1. Health Facilitation Team  
2. Specialist Medical Team 
3. Occupational Health  
4. Psychology  

The Intensive Support Team (IST) and the inpatient unit will remain a county wide 
service. The health facilitation team and the Liaison Nurses who are located 
within both Bedford and Luton and Dunstable hospitals will remain the same.  

Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) and the Sensory department will transit 
over to mainstream services. There will be a 6 – 12 month transition from 
specialist to mainstream services and the transition will be supported by specialist 
teams who will offer training and advice on making reasonable adjustments for 
people with a learning disability.  

The dietetic service will transit across to mainstream services with a transition 
period anticipated to be between 6 – 12 months so that staff and service users 
can be supported through the transition of services.  

Arts Psychotherapies will be decommissioned and spot purchased on an 
individual basis. The current provider (SEPT) have informed us that they have 
carried out their own review of the service and are planning to stop the Arts 
Psychotherapies as part of their review. An email was sent to Gary Kupshik 
requesting an update in relation to this service review.  

The role of the health facilitation team is to support service users and their carer’s 
in accessing primary and mainstream services. They also offer support and 
training to the GP practices and mainstream services in making reasonable 
adjustments and supporting people with a learning disability.  

A further stakeholder event was held in December 2013 outlining the proposed 
new model. The model and supporting paper was also circulated out to 
stakeholders for those who were unable to attend the event.  

Following the period of consultation, it became apparent that there were 
stakeholder uncertainties around losing the specialism - SALT and the sensory 
team. As a result the model has been amended to retain two nursing posts, one 
from either team to continue to support the development and transition across to 

Agenda Item 13
Page 64



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

7 

 

mainstream services. These posts will be reviewed after a two year period, so as 
to continue to have specialists supporting this arena for a longer time frame.   

 

4.0 Additional Engagement Meetings 

 

Date  

 

Meeting / Event  
 
17/09/2013 

 
Meeting was held with colleagues from Luton Borough 
Council  Adult Learning Disability Team 

 
19/09/2013 

 
Half day workshop with Local Authority leads to discuss the 
model 

09/10/2013 
 

 
      Meeting with the current SPLD manager 

 

11/10/2013 
 
Meeting with the Lead Liaison Nurse at Bedford Hospital  

 

 

26/11/2013 
 
Meeting with the Luton Clinical Commissioning Lead for 
SPLD 

 

03/12/2013 
 
Meeting with Diane Meddick to discuss the transition 
between SPLD and Mainstream services 

 
06/12/2013 

 
       Stakeholder event workshop 

 
16/12/2013 

 

Meeting with IST to discuss their project to combine MH 
and LD crisis service 

 
09/01/2014        

 
Meeting with the East of England Health Education 

 

21/01/2014 
 
SPLD steering Group  

 
21/01/2014 

 

Meeting with Maria Brown to discuss the transition from 
SPLD to Mainstream services  

  

5.0 Plans for forthcoming meetings / events  
 

• A meeting has been arranged with the current provider for 25/02/2014 to discuss 
the outcome of the consultation  

• Presentation of the proposed model will be held at both the Central Bedfordshire 
and Bedford Borough Learning Disability Partnership Boards in March 2014 

• The SPLD steering group will continue to meet to support the development of the 
service specifications and the procurement process on a monthly basis  

• A further two workshops are being planned for the outcome based service 
specification for MH and LD services  

Agenda Item 13
Page 65



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

8 

 

6.0 Rehabilitation Service Review  

A stakeholder event was held in May 2013 where there was representation from 
a wide audience, including service users, carers, voluntary sector and providers. 
The workshop was centred on 4 key themes:  

1. What should a good Mental Health Rehabilitation Service look like? 
2. What should we have in the Acute Sector and Services? 
3. What rehabilitation should we have in the community sector and services? 
4. What rehabilitation should look like in the future? 

 

An overview of the feedback has been set against each of the themes –  

· What should a good Mental Health Rehabilitation Service look like?  
o A step up or Step down Care 
o High package delivered at start then reduced as required (Review process 

having a way back up stepped up care again if needed) 
o Expanded variety of third sector provider services 
o On-going pathway of recovery (not stopping at service user entry to 

community) 
o Personalised care based on person recovery aspirations 
o Adaption of the Learning Disability model with residential supported living 

(Carer extra care model 1:1 hours to suit need in community house and 
flats). 

o Day Centre access (with options around) 
o Rapid response to communications for help with 
o Appropriate workforce and staffing levels to cover work in urgent situations 
o Access to employment support 
o Access to association with peer (facilitating peer to peer support) 

 

· What should we have in the Acute Sector and Services? 
o Service user involvement 
o Initial Assessment of service user needs 
o Multi-disciplinary communication from point of referral  
o Early discharge planning (with care package, regular reviews and 

monitoring) 
 

· What rehabilitation should we have in the community sector and services? 
o Service user at the centre of care 
o Service user leads (where possible .i.e. recovering service users help new 

service users) 
o Service not time limited (Sessions will be time limited but the number of 

sessions will not) 
o Service re-enactment (Two way recovery to start at the beginning or go 

back to where the user is right now) 
o More choice of services 

 

· What rehabilitation should look like in the future? 
o Better supporting information 

Agenda Item 13
Page 66



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

9 

 

o Supported housing 
o Wider choice - more options keeping people local 
o Wellbeing centres (Hub + Spoke buildings) 
o Recovery focused on-going support - not time limited (to maintain 

recovery) 
o Process to ‘Step up’ – urgently or quickly 
o Access impact of DWP and Job centre on patients (Training need for day 

opportunities) 
o Resource enough qualified staffs to deliver 
o Care pathway (where everyone understands how to go up and down) 
o Short term rehab beds (without going through multiple referrals and long 

waits) 
o Community Rehab Team (Multi-disciplinary community team) 

 

7.0  How this influenced the development of the Community 
Mental Health Rehabilitation and Recovery Service  

The model concentrates on a Community team that will cover Bedford Borough 
and Central Bedfordshire locality areas. The team will have a therapeutic focus 
and will link in with the Local Authorities in relation to supported housing, 
employment, leisure, education and peer support.  

The team will consist of specialist recovery support workers, occupational 
therapy, specialist intervention nurses and psychology.  

The team will work with people who present with enduring mental health and will 
support people to either step up or step down through service provision. There 
will be a SPOA and the service will accept referrals from a range of sources 
including self-referrals. 

This service will be person centred and will aim to support people through a 3 
tiered approach –  

1. Complex Needs – High Support  
2. Complex Needs – Medium Support 
3. Complex Needs – Standard Support 

 
It is anticipated that this service will support people within inpatient settings who 
are preparing for discharge, people residing in residential care homes, supported 
living and people who live in their own homes.  

The service will aim to support people who present with an enduring mental 
health condition who require support to keep them well through therapeutic 
intervention, who may require support to regain living skills, social inclusion and 
physical health needs.  

This service will work in close partnership with secondary mental health services 
so that if a person has more serious and complex needs then the individual is 
supported to step up to a more appropriate level of support. The service will also 

Agenda Item 13
Page 67



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

10 

 

be expected to work in close partnership with the Local Authorities so that 
peoples recovery is enhanced by linking with supported housing schemes, 
tenancy sustainment support, support around accessing education, voluntary 
work and employment, support accessing leisure activities and peer support.  

Currently there are Support Time and Recovery workers (STR) who work within 
both the Assertive Outreach Teams (AOT) and the Community Mental Health 
Teams (CMHT) within SEPT. Through the procurement process these posts will 
not continue within Secondary Mental Health Services and instead will be 
replaced with the new model.  

MIND is currently commissioned by the BCCG, CBC and BBC to deliver a 
recovery focused service for people with a MH condition. Their contract is due to 
be reviewed on 31/03/2014 and notice has been served to the provider. Moving 
forward through the procurement process, this service will be delivered through 
the new proposed model that is subject to the procurement process. Likewise the 
Bedford Resource Centre will also be combined within this new model of service.  

 

 

8.0 Additional Engagement Meetings 

1. Central Bedfordshire Mental Health Partnership Board in January 2014. 
The proposed model was discussed with members of this group.  

2. Meetings with Bedfordshire Housing Link during January and February 
2014. Where the housing links have been discussed in terms of linking into 
this model of service.  

3. Meeting with MIND (current provider) in January 2014. In relation to 
serving notice on the current contract and highlighted the procurement of 
this service.  

4. Meeting with the YMCA (Provider) in January 2014. The model and the 
procurement of this lot were discussed.  

5. Meetings have taken place with the ‘Supporting People Directorate’ in 
Bedford Borough throughout January 2014. Bedford Borough are 
contributing to the budget for this service to include support around day 
resource, employment and tenancy sustainment support.  

6. A meeting was held with the Richmond Fellowship (provider) in January 
2014. This was discussing their current areas of responsibility and how 
they may link into the proposed model of service.  

7. On-going Rehabilitation steering groups are held monthly. The 
membership of this group includes colleagues from both Local Authorities.  

8. A meeting was held with the current provider SEPT at their Rehabilitation 
service in Luton in December 2013. The current model and the proposed 
model were discussed.  

9. There were two workshops held in November 2013 in relation to outcome 
based service specifications. The outcomes of these workshops are on-
going and the work is continuing.  

Agenda Item 13
Page 68



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

11 

 

10. A meeting was held with the AD of SEPT to discuss the current and 
proposed model in November 2013.  
 
 

9.0 Plans for forthcoming meetings and  events  

 

· 17/02/2014 – Meeting with Bedfordshire Housing Link, Bedford Borough 
Council and Central Bedfordshire Council.  

· 18/02/2014 – An outcome based service specification steering group 
meeting.  

· 25/02/2014 – Meeting with the SEPT to discuss the model.  

· A further two workshops are being planned based on the outcome based 
service specification.  

· A stakeholder event is being planned for March 2014.     
 

  

Agenda Item 13
Page 69



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

12 

 

10.0  Dementia  

 

How patient and carer engagement has shaped the project 
 
Patient and carers engagement has resulted in various changes to the project. This 
includes:- 

· Ensuring that the memory assessment service contacts people with dementia and 
   their carers prior to their appointments 

· Allowing patients to be seen in whichever clinic best suits them 

· To consider the use of admin staff and volunteers as well as dementia nurses. 

· Staffing to be based on skills required to achieve the outcomes 

· Provision of emotional support as well as practical assistance 
 
Patients and carers felt the following areas were important:- 

· Single point of contact 

· Proactivity of the service 

· Two way communication 

· All the updated information in one central point 

· Home visits 

· Dementia nurses 

· Timely information and support 
 

How clinical engagement has shaped the project 
 
Clinical engagement has resulted in various changes to the project. This includes:- 
 

· Screening carers for depression 

· Basing the speech and language therapy dementia specialist within the memory 
   assessment service 

· Banding of the nurses at Band 6 

· Dementia medicine reviews element to be removed from the role of the nurses. 
 

Clinicians felt the following aspects of the project were important 

· Someone to be there through the journey of dementia 

· Proactive telephoning especially for those patients living alone 

· Two way channel of communication to deal with issues as they arise rather than 

at a crisis point 

 

  

Agenda Item 13
Page 70



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

13 

 

11. Stepped Care Model 1-5 
 
A stakeholder event and workshops were held in October 2012, May 2013, October 2013 
and January 2014, where there was representation from a wide audience, including local 
service users, carers, voluntary sector and service providers.  
 
The final workshop was centred on the Stepped Care model where the following areas 
were discussed: 
 

1. Mental Health Care Step Care 1 - 5 
2. Stepped Care Model Presentation 
3. Assessment and Single Point of Access Team (ASPA) 
4. Crisis Team 
5. In-Patient Beds 
6. NSF Teams (National Services Framework) 
7. Link Workers 

 
These are an overview of the questions and feedback received from this event: 
 

11.1  Mental Health Care Steps 1-3 

a) What level of triage and Multi-Disciplinary Team do we need in practice? 
It was noted that there should be a level zero, which should focus on self-help, 
signposting and advocacy particularly as a preventative/early intervention measure.  
There should be a single tool (possibly IT based) for triage with links to services 
which are available and information/self-help leaflets. People were concerned about 
transition across services now and wanted assurance that’s this would be addressed. 
 
b) Can a Single Point of Access work across Steps 1 - 5? 
This will need to work in partnership across all steps of the model (1-3 and 4-5) and 
not in silo with speedy referrals as appropriate between both. It was important to note 
that in the overall model, the patient journey needs to be as seamless as possible 
and based around the patient. People wanted to understand how many referrals 
there would be but supported the idea. 
 

11.2 Health Assessment and Single point of Access teams (ASPA) 

a) Can there be one ASPA for steps 1 – 5? 
Stakeholders felt that this would not be appropriate as we need to keep steps 1-3 and 
4-5 separate but need to have good communication and links between the two levels 
across provider services.  
 

11.3 Mental Health Crisis Team 
a) Should home treatment function be split from the Crisis Team and incorporated 

into the locality integrated Mental Health teams?  
There was a difference of opinion across the groups about whether Crisis Team and 
Home Resolution Team should be split or stay together. This is still being considered 
in the proposal. 
 
Stakeholders wanted a clear pathway for people to access the Crisis Team, 
especially out of hours and at weekends and that the patient journey needs to be as 
seamless as possible.    
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 71



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

14 

 

 
11.4 Crisis Team 

a) Should there be a separate Older People in Crisis Team? 
It was agreed the Crisis Team should not be separate due to equalities legislation 
and a single service should cover all adults.  
 
b) Should the Crisis Team work more closely with the ambulance service and police 

when they request help? 
It was agreed that there were often a good relationships between the Police and 
SEPT/other agencies. However it was also felt that there could be improved 
communication between agencies in responding to emergency situations especially 
where the police are called out to respond.  
 
It was agreed that good communications/working relationships across agencies was 
vital to the effective implementation of the Stepped Care 1-5 model.   
 
c) Is A&E right place to wait for assessment? 
It was agreed A&E environment is not pleasant. Stakeholders felt that there needs to 
be an appropriate and safe environment within A&E that people can have immediate 
access to immediately on arrival.     
 
d) What should be the appropriate length of time to wait for assessment? 
Stakeholders had different views about length of times but four hours was too long.   
 
e) Older Age Services; how would it be best managed? 
It was agreed the importance to keep functional and organic illness separate for 
example as Dementia has a high social element to the support required and there 
needs to be a focus on crisis prevention.   
 
f) Do we need a MAS in each locality supported by an old age psychological team 

covering both functional and organic problems – Based where? 
It was agreed to keep the organic services (e.g. Dementia) separate as these have 
different treatment/options model.  However there needs to be one in each locality. 
They could be based in the same ‘hub’ but appointments offered on different days 
and there are good examples elsewhere of these services being kept separate.  
 
g) Are we doing enough for functional illness in older services? 
It was agreed more need to be done for functional illness in older services once 
people have been assessed and that this would benefit from stronger integration 
between health and social care. 
 

11.5  Mental Health Inpatient Beds 

a) Can we manage demand? 
It was agreed more need to be done as we cannot manage the demand and people 
are currently going out of county due to lack of beds. The Crisis Team currently 
manage a process to avoid delayed discharges including to commissioned private 
sector beds when available.   

 
b) Does short stay assessments and treatment work? 
Stakeholders felt this did work, however we need to ensure that we have sufficient 
beds. Redesign the service to have Acute Assessment Units in inpatient wards which 
has a consultant on ward rounds twice a day and Consultant available 24/7.   

Agenda Item 13
Page 72



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

15 

 

 
c) Strengths and benefits of Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU) and are there 

additional needs? 
It was agreed there were additional needs for high risk patients. The group did not 
have the occupancy rate/numbers of those using the service or beds commissioned.   
However transporting patients (particularly those who may be aggressive) to the unit 
has been an issue. Stakeholders wanted local services. 
 
d) Strengths and benefits to Detox Beds and are there any additional needs? 
Stakeholders agreed that in patient admission wasn’t best place for detox and was 
unsettling for some mental health needs patients. 
 
11.6  Mental Health National Service Framework (NSF) Teams 
a) What functions and outcomes should remain within teams? 
It was agreed services should be based around the patient and not the other way 
round. It was felt that the Assertive Outreach workers could be part of the CMHT and 
that this would improve access.    
 
b) What are the risks of remaining specific teams? 
It was agreed there is a risk of silo working. It was agreed that we need to maintain 
the responsibilities of these services, but didn’t need separate teams. 
 
c) What are the benefits of remaining specific teams? 
It was agreed it enables and supports specialist skills which can sit within the teams, 
but can mean people are not getting best support. 

 
11.7 Mental Health Link Workers 
a) Should the role be developed to include supporting service users stepping up and 

stepping down? 
Stakeholders weren’t sure bout role. It was agreed CPN’s could have direct access 
(rather than service users going through another layer) but the role could involve care 
management/working with GPs, plus being a link with locality Mental Health Teams.    

b) What role should they play in therapy?   
Stakeholders felt that currently some Mental Health Link Workers offer step 2 level 
assessment and treatment already and that this could further developed.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 73



 

Engagement Report for the Mental Health Projects -2014 

 

16 

 

How the clinical feedback and engagement influenced the final development of the 
Stepped care model to integrate:  
 
1. Step Care 1 – 5 

· Locality based services provision  

· Use of information Technology; social media and marketing 

· Focus on Early intervention 

· Reduction of NSF Teams to create locality teams 

· Waiting times for Crisis Service 
 
2. Single Point of Access 

· Referral/GP early signpost and details on assessment 

· Triage service/ Triage tool; risk assessment to ask relevant questions 

· Streamlined and aligned steps 1-3 and steps 4-5 

· Support to prevention and signpost to social care services 

Agenda Item 13
Page 74



Appendix (g) 

 
Central Bedfordshire Council 
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
Tier 1 and 2 Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Wellbeing Services 

in Central Bedfordshire:  

Review of Need, Service Provision, Gaps and Areas for Improvement 

November 2013

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Authors: This report was produced by Clare Ebberson, Public Health 

Registrar, Central Bedfordshire Council and Seana Perkins, Public Health Co-

ordinator, Bedford Borough Council on behalf of the Tier 1 and 2 Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Project Group.  

Tier 1 and 2 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Project Group 

Members:  

Barbara Rooney; Central Bedfordshire Council 

Sue Tyler; Central Bedfordshire Council 

Angela Strange; Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Emma Kilcommins; Central Bedfordshire Council 

Sharon Simpson; Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Clare Ebberson; Central Bedfordshire Council 

Seana Perkins; Bedford Borough Council 

Anima Thawait; Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Acknowledgements: Thanks to the commissioners, service providers, GPs 

and other stakeholders who have provided useful information and comments 

which have been incorporated in this report. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 75



 
 
Central Bedfordshire Council 
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY p3 

1. AIM P6 

2. BACKGROUND P6 

3. METHODS P6 

4. FINDINGS P7 

4.1. Needs Information and NICE Guidance P7 

4.1.1. Summary of needs 

4.1.2. NICE guidance 

4.1.3. Cost effectiveness 

p7 
p8 
p8 

4.1.1. Summary of needs 

4.1.2. NICE guidance 

4.1.3. Cost effectiveness 

p7 
p8 
p8 

4.2. Service Provision P9 

          Figure 1: Diagram identifying current service provision at Tiers 1 and 2 P9 

           Table 1: Details of current service provision at Tiers 1 and 2 including 
referrals                   and commissioning arrangements:  

p10 

4.3. Stakeholder Information p14 

4.3.1. Where services could be improved: 
4.3.2. Potential areas of un-met need:  
4.3.3. Emerging trends: 
4.3.4. Tier 1 and 2 child and adolescent mental health and 

wellbeing services in Central Bedfordshire schools:  
4.3.5. Outcomes data:  

p14 
p16 
p18 
p19 
 
p20 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS p20 

6. APPENDICES AND REFERENCES p22 

Agenda Item 13
Page 76



 

- 3 - 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The mental health and wellbeing of children and young people is recognised as a 
priority through the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Trust in Central 
Bedfordshire.  

The aim of this review is to examine and evaluate the Tier 1 and Tier 2 CAMHS 
(child and adolescent mental health) service provision in Central Bedfordshire and 
identify information to inform future Tier 1 and 2 CAMHS commissioning.  

A separate review of Tier 3 CAMHS services is being undertaken by Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, and the results of this review have been shared with 
those undertaking this review. Definitions of the Tiers of CAMHS services can be 
found in the main report. 

Identifying Need and Evidence 

· Summary of information on estimated local need for CAMHS services 

· Review of National Institute of Clinical Effectiveness (NICE) guidance about 

what interventions are effective 

 

Identifying Current Service Provision 

· Questionnaire and interviews with service providers about service provision 

· Information about commissioners regarding service provision and costs 

 

Stakeholder Engagement: Identifying Areas for Improvement and Un-met Need  

· Questionnaire and interviews with service providers about gaps, areas for 

improvement and outcomes data  

· Summary of findings from the Health in Schools Review relating to mental health 

and wellbeing 

· Questionnaire to a local GP practice about use of services, gaps and areas for 

improvement 

The findings were considered by the project team who identified recommendations 
for action  

 
Key findings from the review include: 

Need: It is estimated that 8580 young people will have experienced mental health 
problems appropriate to a Tier 1 response from CAMHS, and 4,005 young people 
will have experienced mental health problems appropriate to a Tier 2 response from 
CAMHS in Central Bedfordshire in 2012. Further details are outlined in the needs 
section of the report.  

Service Provision: A number of Tier 1 and 2 CAMHS services currently operating in 
Central Bedfordshire were identified. These are described in the service provision 
section of the report. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 77



 

- 4 - 

Gaps in Services and Areas for Improvement: 

Some of the key gaps and areas for improvement identified are listed below. Further 
details of these are outlined in the full report: 

· Referral routes - There are currently a number of ways in which a young 

person can be referred to child and adolescent mental health services in 

Central Bedfordshire. This has been reported as causing some confusion and 

delays and a need was identified for a single point of referral for such 

services. Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, South Essex 

Partnership Trust and CHUMS are working on piloting a single point of referral 

for Tiers 2 and 3 CAMHS as part of their CQUIN (commissioning for quality 

and innovation) in 2013/14 which can usefully inform development of a 

referral route for all Tiers of CAMHS. 

 

· Awareness of services – There was a lack of clarity about current services 

available in Central Bedfordshire and a need was identified for a directory of 

services to be available, and which longer term, could be used for the 

development of a pathway for child and adolescent mental health. 

 

· CAMHS service information – Outcomes and activity data reported by 

providers of Tier 1 and 2 services often did not include outcomes data as part 

of routine monitoring of performance. Similarly, referral and presenting issue 

data was not always reported routinely by local authority area. A need for a 

consistent way of reporting information and outcomes of services was 

identified. 

 

· Tier 2 demand and longer term Tier 2 support – the majority of Tier 2 

services are commissioned to deliver a short term Tier 2 service (e.g. 4 

sessions). Few services were identified who could provide longer term 

support for those who need it. Many of the Tier 2 service providers also had a 

waiting list for services meaning services are not always delivered in a timely 

manner. Further group based support at both Tiers 1 and 2 was identified as 

an area that could be expanded. 

 

· Increased early prevention/Tier 1 work – was identified as an area that 

could be further strengthened. 

 

· Family based mental health and wellbeing support – provision of family 

based (rather than child only focused) mental health services were identified 

as an area that could be expanded, given that a high proportion of children 

with mental health issues are reported to also have a parent with mental 

health issues. 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 78



 

- 5 - 

· Pathway for children with autism – was identified as an area that could be 

strengthened, both for those with autism and mental health issues and autism 

alone. 

 

· Continuity of Care – between children’s mental health services and adults’ 

mental health services was identified as an area of weakness as eligibility 

criteria for children’s and adults’ services differ which can result in interruption 

or cessation of service provision. 

 

· Communication between Service Providers – some areas was identified 

where service providers could better share information to allow more 

responsive service provision. 

 

· Gaps in specific services – some service providers perceived there to be 

few services locally specifically for addressing self-harm or prevention of drug 

addiction (rather than treatment once an addiction has already been 

identified). 

 

· Limitations of data availability: There were a number of gaps identified in 

the data available on Tier 1 and 2 child and adolescent mental health services 

locally. These included limited local information on needs/prevalence 

(although local estimates based on national prevalence were available) and 

limited outcomes data on child and adolescent mental health outcomes (e.g. 

outcomes data not reported by local authority area).  

Recommendations: 

Recommendations made by the CAMHS Tier 1 and 2 project team as a result of the 

review are: 

       Recommendation Lead Organisation: 
1. Develop a pathway for child and adolescent mental 

health services (including talking therapies), with a 

single referral route where appropriate (e.g. through the 

early help CAF service). 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

2. As part of the development of a pathway, consider 

integration/pooling budgets to streamline the pathway 

and reduce duplication of services  

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

3. Ensure that provision of current Tier 1 specific services 

(school based support/training in early identification for 

mental health) continues in future. 

Children’s Services,, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

4. Embed the enhanced School Nurse (SN) Service Tier 1/2 

Emotional and Behaviour Management Pathway 

Public health, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

Agenda Item 13
Page 79



 

- 6 - 

(pathway currently in draft form). 

 

5. As part of action 3 above, undertake stakeholder work 

with GPs, schools and health visitors to identify early 

intervention (Tier 1) actions that could be taken to 

prevent young people developing more serious mental 

health and wellbeing issues. 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Public Health 

6. Develop a standard template to be used for 

monitoring/evaluation of child mental health and 

wellbeing services to include information about 

outcomes, quality, client feedback and breaking down 

service use information by local authority area.  

Children’s Services, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

7. Develop an emotional health and wellbeing (CAMHS) 

strategy for Central Bedfordshire, to be reported to the 

Children’s Trust Board 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

8. Raise awareness of existing Tier 1 and 2 child mental 

health and wellbeing services locally. 

As part of this develop a directory of services (e.g. on a 

webpage) for child mental health and wellbeing and identify 

an agency to keep it up to date. This could include having 

information on the GP ref system and as part of early help 

(CAF) work training GPs 

 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

9. Work with service providers on further analysis to map 

Tier 1 and 2 child mental health need on a geographic 

basis (localities).  

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Public Health 
Public health 

10. Revise and update the service specification for all Tier 1 

and 2 provision, to implement the recommendations of 

the review and ensure outcome focus 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

MAIN REPORT 

1. AIM 

The mental health and wellbeing of children and young people is recognised as a 
priority through the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Trust in Central 
Bedfordshire. The aim of the review was to examine and evaluate the Tier 1 and Tier 
2 CAMHS (child and adolescent mental health) service provision in Central 
Bedfordshire and identify information to inform future Tier 1 and 2 CAMHS 
commissioning. This included collecting service providers’ and local stakeholders’ 
views on local services, gaps and areas for improvement. 

2. BACKGROUND 

Agenda Item 13
Page 80



 

- 7 - 

The mental health and wellbeing of children and young people is recognised as a 
priority through the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Trust in Central 
Bedfordshire.   

A separate review of Tier 3 CAMHS services is being undertaken by Bedfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group, and the results of this review have been shared with 

those undertaking this review. 

Definition of Tiers of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

Tier 1: Social, emotional and developmental support from professionals outside 

specialist CAMHS, as part of their everyday work that generates resilience and 

prevents mental health (e.g. teachers, social workers, SEN workers, Health visitors, 

school nurses and GPs). 

Tier 2: Any specialist CAMHS workers using individual professional skills with 

children and families (e.g. primary mental health workers, psychologists and 

counsellors working in community and primary care settings. 

Tier 3: Specialist CAMHS workers working in specialist therapeutic teams in 

community mental health clinics or child psychiatry outpatient service. 

Tier 4: Highly specialist teams working in day and in-patient units providing services 

to children and young people with the most serious problems. 

The tiers are based on the CAMHS four-tier strategic framework, which was laid out 

in 1995 (HAS) and is widely used. 

3. METHODS 

A project team was established to carry out the review, members of which are 
outlined above. Input from a range of other stakeholders was also included.  

Key steps in the project included: 

Identifying Need and Evidence 

· Summary of information on estimated local need for CAMHS services 

· Review of NICE guidance about what interventions are effective  

 

Identifying Current Service Provision 

· Questionnaire and interviews with service providers about service provision 

· Information from commissioners regarding service provision and costs 

 

Stakeholder Engagement: Identifying Areas for Improvement and Un-met Need  

Agenda Item 13
Page 81



 

- 8 - 

· Questionnaire and interviews with service providers about gaps, areas for 

improvement and outcomes data  

· Summary of findings from the Health in Schools Review relating to mental health 

and wellbeing 

· Questionnaire to a local GP practice about use of services, gaps and areas for 

improvement 

The findings were considered by the project team who identified recommendations 
for action  
  

4. FINDINGS 

4.1 Need for CAMHS services in Central Bedfordshire and NICE Guidance 

4.1.1. Summary of Needs: 

· It is estimated that 3,585 children aged 5-16 in Central Bedfordshire have a 

mental health disorder. 

· Among school aged children, the number of children with a mental health 

disorder is highest in the 11-16 year old age group. 

· Among school aged children, prevalence of mental health disorders is higher 

in boys than girls at all ages. 

· Across all children aged 5-16 years conduct disorders (e.g. anti-social 

behaviour) are the most common mental health disorder. 

· It is estimated that a further 1,650 young people aged 16-19 in Central 

Bedfordshire have a neurotic disorder (e.g. anxiety, depression, phobias). 

· It is estimated that in Central Bedfordshire, 8580 young people will experience 

mental health problems appropriate to a Tier 1 response from CAMHS, and 

4005 young people will experience mental health problems appropriate to a 

Tier 2 response from CAMHS (aged 17 and younger  in 2012 

· Over the next 10 years in Central Bedfordshire it is estimated that there will be 

a significant increase in 5-9 year olds of nearly 24%. Numbers of 0-4 and 10-

14 year olds are also predicted to increase by around 11%.   

· Further details about need and data sources are found in Appendix 1. 

· A range of effective ways of promoting and treating child mental health and 

wellbeing issues were identified in NICE guidance and are summarised in 

Appendix 1. 

Estimated need for services at each tier 

Estimates of the number of children and young people who may experience mental 
health problems appropriate to a response from CAMHS at Tiers 1, 2, 3 and 4 have 
been provided by Kurtz (1996).  The following table shows these estimates for the 
population aged 17 and under in Central Bedfordshire. 

Estimated number of children / young people who may experience mental 
health problems appropriate to a response from CAMHS (2012) 

Agenda Item 13
Page 82



 

- 9 - 

Tier 1  Tier 2  Tier 3  Tier 4  

8580 4005 1060 45 

Source: Office for National Statistics mid-year population estimates for 2012. Kurtz, 
Z. (1996). 

Estimated number of school age children with mental health disorders in 
Central Bedfordshire by age group and gender 

Estimated number of children with a mental health disorder (2012) 

Estimat
ed 
number 
of 
childre
n aged 
5-10 
yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of 
childre
n aged 
11-16 
yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of 
childre
n aged 
5-16 
yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of boys 
aged 5-
10 yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of boys 
aged 
11-16 
yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of boys 
aged 5-
16 yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of girls 
aged 5-
10 yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of girls 
aged 
11-16 
yrs  

Estimat
ed 
number 
of girls 
aged 5-
16 yrs  

1425 2165 3585 965 1220 2185 465 945 1420 

Source: Office for National Statistics, mid-year population estimates for 2012.  
Green, H. et al (2004).  

Looked After Children 

A report on the health of looked after children (LAC) (Meltzer, H. et al. 2003) found 
that among LAC aged 5-17 years: 

· 45% had a mental health disorder 

· 37% had a clinically significant conduct disorder 

· 12% had emotional disorders (such as anxiety or depression) 

· 7% were hyperkinetic 

Further details about mental health and wellbeing needs in Central Bedfordshire 
including estimated numbers of children with specific mental health conditions can 
be found in Appendix 1. 

4.1.2. NICE Guidance 

Evidence of effective interventions for promoting social and emotional wellbeing and 
specific mental health conditions have been developed by NICE and a summary of 
the guidance is shown in Appendix 3. 

4.1.3. Cost Effectiveness 

The Allen report “Early Intervention: Smart Investment, Massive Savings” concludes 
there is “overwhelming” evidence that intervening early in child social and emotional 
wellbeing is cost effective and savings delivered by such programmes can far 
outweigh costs (Allen, 2011). Actions to improve social and emotional wellbeing 

Agenda Item 13
Page 83



 

- 10 - 

among young people identified in NICE guidance have also been assessed as cost 
effective (NICE, 2012). This is particularly relevant given the significant costs of 
treating mental health problems and behavioural difficulties in the UK. For example, 
each child with untreated behavioural problems costs an average of £70,000 by age 
of 28. This is 10 times the cost of children without behavioural problems (Edwards et 
al, 2007). 
 
4.2 Current Service Provision 

Figure 1: Current service provision of Tier 1 and 2 services 

 

The Tier 1 and Tier 2 services identified in Central Bedfordshire are shown in the 

above diagram. A brief description of each service is outlined below. Further details 

of each service are outlined in Table 1, which includes information about referral 

sources; numbers of referrals; commissioning arrangements and timescales; 

opening times; catchment areas and ages of service users for each service 

identified.  

 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 84



 

- 
1

1
 -

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

D
e
li

v
e

re
d

 
B

y
 

T
ie

r 
H

o
w

 m
a

n
y
 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

ls
/s

e
s

s
io

n
s
 i

s
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 
c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

d
 t

o
 

s
e

e
/o

ff
e

r 
(2

0
1
2

/1
3

) 

C
a
tc

h
m

e
n

t 
A

re
a

 
A

g
e

 
G

ro
u

p
 

R
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 

F
ro

m
 

C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

e
d

 B
y
 i

n
 

C
e
n

tr
a

l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e
 

C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

e
d

 U
n

ti
l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

 
in

 2
0

1
2

/1
3

 
in

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 

A
s
p

ir
e
 

C
S

U
K

 
1

 
1

1
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 i
n

 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
 

1
1

  
s
c
h

o
o

ls
 

in
 C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 

C
h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 
Y

e
a

rs
 

7
-  

9
 

2
0

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

id
e

n
ti
fi
e
d

 b
y
 

e
a

c
h

 s
c
h

o
o

l 

E
a

rl
y
 

In
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

a
n

d
 

P
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
 

T
e
a

m
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

P
u

b
lic

 H
e

a
lt
h

 
T

e
a

m
- 

C
B

C
 

O
n

-g
o

in
g
 

1
6

6
 i
n

 t
o
ta

l 
 9

2
 b

o
y
s
 a

n
d

 
7

2
 g

ir
ls

 

E
a

rl
y
 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

w
o

rk
 

w
it
h

 
Y

o
u

n
g
 

p
e

o
p

le
 

4
Y

P
 U

K
 

1
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

1
1

-2
5

 
y
e

a
rs

 
a

n
d

 
w

id
e

r 
fa

m
ily

 

T
ro

u
b

le
d
 

fa
m

ily
 t

ri
a

g
e

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

2
0

1
4
 

2
1

0
0

  
c
lie

n
ts

 s
e
e

n
 

b
y
 e

a
rl
y
 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

p
ro

je
c
t 

(A
p

ri
l 

2
0

1
1

 –
 

M
a

rc
h
 2

0
1

3
) 

 1
5

0
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 

2
0

1
3

/1
4
 

M
e

n
to

ri
n

g
  

4
Y

P
 U

K
 

1
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

- 
- 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

2
0

1
5
 

8
5

  
g
ro

u
p

 
m

e
n
to

ri
n

g
 

fo
r 

th
o

s
e

 a
t 

ri
s
k
 o

f 
s
c
h

o
o

l 
e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
  

  

Y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e

o
p

le
 

a
t 

ri
s
k
 

o
f 

te
e

n
a

g
e

 
p

re
g
n

a
n

c
y
 

B
ro

o
k
 

2
 

2
0

 p
e

r 
q
u

a
rt

e
r 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

1
5

+
 

S
c
h

o
o

ls
, 

A
g
e

n
c
ie

s
, 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

2
0

1
5
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

a
s
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 

h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
-

fo
c
u

s
e
d

 o
n

 
m

o
re

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 85



 

- 
1

2
 -

 

v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 

fr
o
m

 1
/4

/1
3
 

E
a

rl
y
 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

–
 c

h
ild

re
n
 

a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 

p
a

re
n

ta
l 

d
ru

g
/a

lc
o
h

o
l 

a
b

u
s
e
 

P
la

n
 

B
/C

A
N

 
2

 
N

o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

5
-1

8
  

S
c
h

o
o

ls
, 
L

A
, 

C
A

M
H

S
, 

v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 
s
e

c
to

r,
 s

e
lf
; 

in
fr

e
q
u
e

n
tl
y
 

s
c
h

o
o

l 
n

u
rs

e
 

o
r 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 
c
a

re
  

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

0
1

/0
9

/2
0

1
4
 

1
2

1
  

c
lie

n
ts

 s
e
e

n
 

b
y
 r

is
k
y
 

b
e

h
a

v
io

u
rs

 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

T
ie

r 
2
 D

ru
g
 

a
n

d
 A

lc
o
h
o

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 

P
la

n
 B

/ 
C

A
N

 
2

 
1

0
0

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
 

p
e

r 
a
n
n

u
m

 o
ff

e
re

d
 

o
n

e
 t
o

 o
n

e
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.  

G
ro

u
p

 w
o

rk
 m

e
e

ts
 

d
e

m
a

n
d

 (
a
p
p

ro
x
 

1
5

0
 p

e
r 

a
n

n
u

m
) 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

1
2

-1
8
 

S
c
h

o
o

ls
, 

s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a

re
, 

v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 
s
e

c
to

r,
 s

e
lf
. 
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

3
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
5
 

3
0

 Y
P

 s
e
e

n
 

in
 Q

1
 i
n
 o

n
e

 
to

 o
n

e
 

s
e

s
s
io

n
s
, 
2

5
 

s
e

e
n

 i
n

 
g
ro

u
p

 w
o

rk
. 

A
w

a
it
in

g
 Q

2
 

d
a

ta
. 
 

P
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
 

a
n

d
 

T
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e

o
p

le
 w

it
h

 
e

m
e

rg
in

g
 

s
u

b
s
ta

n
c
e

 
m

is
u
s
e

 
is

s
u
e

s
 

P
la

n
 

B
/C

A
N

 
2

/3
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
n
d

 
B

e
d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h
 

<
1

8
 

y
e

a
rs

 
N

o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

P
u

b
lic

 H
e

a
lt
h

 
(P

o
o

le
d
 

T
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t)
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

E
a

rl
y
 

In
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

L
o

o
k
e

d
 

A
ft

e
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

’s
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

S
o

u
th

 
E

s
s
e

x
 

P
a

rt
n
e

rs
h
ip

 
T

ru
s
t  

2
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 a

n
d
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h
 

0
-2

1
 

C
A

M
H

S
, 

L
A

, 
p

ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
, 

s
c
h

o
o

l 
n

u
rs

e
, 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

J
o

in
tl
y
 

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e
d

 
b

y
 B

B
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

&
 C

B
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

3
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
4
 

6
1

  
d

ir
e

c
t 

c
o

n
ta

c
ts

 a
n

d
  

to
ta

l 
c
a

s
e

lo
a
d

 o
f 

1
8

  
(Q

1
 2

0
1

3
 -

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 86



 

- 
1

3
 -

 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 h

a
s
 

n
o

t 
o

p
e

ra
te

d
 

fo
r 

w
h

o
le

 
y
e

a
r)

 

T
a

lk
ti
m

e
 

E
a

rl
y
 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

C
o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

R
e
la

te
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
n
d

 L
u

to
n
 

2
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

1
0

-2
1
 

U
s
u
a

lly
 s

e
lf
, 

a
ls

o
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

s
e

c
to

r,
 L

A
, 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
, 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

 
  

3
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
4
 

5
1

5
 (

T
o
ta

l 
c
lie

n
ts

) 
4

4
0

 
(T

a
lk

ti
m

e
 

c
lie

n
ts

) 
 

T
a

lk
ti
m

e
 

–
 

L
e

ig
h

to
n

 
B

u
z
z
a

rd
 

R
e
la

te
 

2
 

6
 h

o
u

rs
 p

e
r 

w
e

e
k
 

L
e

ig
h

to
n

 
B

u
z
z
a

rd
 

1
0

-2
1
 

G
P

s
, 

S
e

lf
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

C
G

 
3

0
/0

9
/2

0
1

4
 

- 

T
a

lk
ti
m

e
 

in
 

s
c
h

o
o

ls
 

R
e
la

te
 

2
 

2
-6

 h
o
u

rs
 p

e
r 

w
e

e
k
 

8
 

m
id

d
le

/U
p

p
e

r 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
 

M
id

d
le

-
u

p
p
e

r 
s
c
h

o
o

l 
a

g
e

 

 
S

c
h

o
o

ls
 

 
 

F
a
m

ily
 

c
o

u
n

s
e

lli
n
g

 
R

e
la

te
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
n
d

 L
u

to
n
 

2
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

 
U

s
u
a

lly
 s

e
lf
, 

a
ls

o
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

s
e

c
to

r,
 L

A
, 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
, 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

- 
- 

7
5

 (
F

a
m

ily
 

C
o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 

c
lie

n
ts

) 
 

T
ie

r 
1

 
E

W
B

 
A

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
  

C
H

U
M

S
 

1
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
  

3
-1

8
 

- 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

 

3
1

/0
3

/2
0

1
4
 

- 

Agenda Item 13
Page 87



 

- 
1

4
 -

 

T
ie

r 
2

 
E

W
B

 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
C

H
U

M
S

 
2

 
6

6
 r

e
fe

rr
a

ls
 p

e
r 

m
o

n
th

 (
a
c
ro

s
s
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
 B

o
ro

u
g
h

 
a

n
d

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

) 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 a

n
d
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h
 

3
-1

8
 

U
s
u
a

lly
 s

e
lf
, 

a
ls

o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 

v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 
s
e

c
to

r,
 L

A
, 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

G
P

s
, 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
, 

s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a

re
, 

y
o

u
th

 
W

o
rk

e
rs

 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

C
G

 (
ti
e
r 

2
) 

 

3
0

/0
9

/2
0

1
4
 

(9
0

3
 i
n

 t
o

ta
l)
 

5
9

5
 i
n

 C
B

C
 

 

B
e

re
a

v
e

m
e

n
t 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 

C
H

U
M

S
 

2
 

n
/a

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 a

n
d
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h
 

3
-1

8
 

S
e

lf
, 

p
a

re
n

ts
/c

a
re

r
s
, 

e
d
u

c
a

ti
o
n

, 
s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a

re
, 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
, 

C
A

F
, 

C
D

C
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

C
G

 (
ti
e
r 

2
) 

 

3
0

/0
9

/2
0

1
4
 

4
2

3
 i
n

 t
o
ta

l 
 

2
6

2
 i
n

 C
B

C
 

O
p

e
n
 D

o
o

r 
O

p
e

n
 D

o
o

r 
1

+
2

 
N

o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

Iv
e

l 
V

a
lle

y
 

1
3

-2
5
 

G
P

 
Iv

e
l 
V

a
lle

y
 

B
C

C
G

 G
P

 
G

ro
u

p
, 

g
ra

n
ts

 

3
0

/0
9

/2
0

1
4
 

9
7

  
c
lie

n
ts

 s
e
e

n
 

in
 t

h
e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

fr
o
m

 I
v
e

l 
V

a
lle

y
 i
n

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
a

n
d

 B
e

d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 
c
o

m
b

in
e

d
. 

N
u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

 n
o

t 
a

n
a

ly
s
e

d
 

s
e

p
a

ra
te

ly
 

b
y
 l
o

c
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
a

re
a

. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 88



 

- 
1

5
 -

 

 C
B

C
+

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il,

 B
B

C
=

 B
e

d
fo

rd
 B

o
ro

u
g
h

 C
o
u

n
c
il,

 L
A

=
lo

c
a

l 
a
u

th
o

ri
ty

; 
IF

S
S

 =
 I

n
te

n
s
iv

e
 f

a
m

ily
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

e
rv

ic
e
; 

E
a

rl
y
 h

e
lp

 

C
A

F
=

 C
o

m
m

o
n

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

, 
C

D
C

=
 C

h
ild

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
c
e

n
tr

e
 

             E
a

rl
y
 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 

a
n

d
 

w
e

llb
e

in
g

 

S
O

R
T

E
D

 
2

 
2

4
4

 h
o

u
rs

  
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 

1
8

-2
5

 
(c

o
re

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
) 

E
a

rl
y
 h

e
lp

 
(C

A
F

),
 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

G
P

s
, 

s
e

lf
, 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
, 

o
th

e
r 

y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e

o
p

le
’s

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

C
G

, 
 

3
0

/0
9

/2
0

1
4
 

2
3

4
  

c
lie

n
ts

 s
e
e

n
 

in
 1

1
/1

2
  

W
o
rk

 
w

it
h

 
c
h

ild
re

n
 

a
ff

e
c
te

d
 

b
y
 

d
o

m
e

s
ti
c
 

a
b

u
s
e
 

S
O

R
T

E
D

 
2

 
- 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

5
-1

3
 

E
a

rl
y
 h

e
lp

 
(C

A
F

)  
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

3
1

/1
2

/2
0

1
4
 

- 

H
e
a

r 
2

 
L

is
te

n
 

H
e
a

r 
2
 

L
is

te
n
 

2
 

N
/A

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
s
 

1
1

-2
5
 

E
d

u
c
a
ti
o

n
, 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a

re
, 

s
e

lf
 

T
ru

s
ts

, 
g
ra

n
ts

 
e

tc
.  

O
n

g
o

in
g
 

5
0

-1
0
0
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 89



 

- 16 - 

4.3. Stakeholder Information 
4.3.1. Where Services Could be Improved 
 
Through questionnaires and in-depth interviews with service providers and 
commissioners, a number of gaps in services and areas for improvements for tiers 1 
and 2 mental health services in Central Bedfordshire were highlighted Areas 
identified were:    
 
Awareness of Services 
Several providers in Central Bedfordshire felt that there was a lack of awareness 
locally of available services for young people’s mental health and wellbeing among 
families and young people. This is supported by research undertaken by Relate in 
2011 (across Bedfordshire and Luton), which reported that young people were 
largely unaware of mental health services available locally and were therefore likely 
to go to a friend or family member for mental health support.  
 
There was a general perception that it is also difficult for health professionals to keep 
track of what services are available for child mental health and wellbeing locally. This 
was particularly the case as services provided change often (largely due to short 
term commissioning arrangements). There is currently no, one directory or place 
locally where young people or families can go to find out what services are available 
for mental health support. Such a directory was thought to be useful; however this 
should include all local organisations, not just those commissioned by the 
organisation compiling the directory.  
 
Some Tier 2 providers were not aware of Tier 1 provision available locally. CHUMS 
however, felt there was good awareness of their services locally. 
 
Communication between Mental Health Service Providers 
It was perceived that improved networking between local mental health services 
would be useful to improve communication. However, the time-consuming nature of 
this was acknowledged. 4YP UK, for example, felt that it would be useful if there 
were opportunities for tier 1 organisations to feedback information to tier 2 providers 
about their work with young people and mental health problems at the early 
intervention stage.           
 
The Tier 2 SEPT mental health service for looked after children felt there are more 
opportunities for communication and joint working with organisations such as the 
local authority. For example, being more involved/informed about looked after 
children reviews, children in need cases and child protection plans could help to 
identify children at an earlier stage who could be supported by the looked after 
children mental health service. This could also include ensuring minutes from 
relevant meetings relating to looked after children (e.g. looked after children’s 
reviews) are shared in a timely fashion. The looked after children’s mental health 
team also perceive they could be more involved in the planning of children’s care, for 
example out of area placement moves that may impact a child’s health and 
wellbeing.         
     

Agenda Item 13
Page 90



 

- 17 - 

Some providers said communication, information sharing and joint working is 
stronger between some local mental health organisations than others and that there 
are areas for improvement.   
SORTED, for example, felt that it would be useful as part of improved 
communication/networking if there was one organisation locally which took 
responsibility for disseminating e.g. legislation regarding mental health. A good 
example of this already taking place locally for another service was given as Central 
Bedfordshire’s Family Network, which helps share information about local services 
for families etc. 
A number of examples of good communication were, however, provided. For 
example, CHUMS felt they had good communication with SEPT CAMHS Tier 3 
services and meet with them regularly to discuss clients.  
 
Referrals/Access to Services 
At present there are a number of referral routes, and this plethora causes some 
confusion.  
 

1. Early Help (CAF referrals)  
Referrals are received by the CAF team for a range of tier 2 services including 
those offered by Sorted, Relate and CHUMS. For such referrals, an early help 
(CAF) form with consent is completed. This ensures that the case is logged as 
participating in Early Help.  

2. Tier 2 referrals can also be made directly to CHUMS and to other Tier 2 
services e.g. SORTED and Relate. In such circumstances, a CAF form is not 
completed. 

3. Tier 3 referrals are also directly made to CAMHS (SEPT).  
 

Referring through Early Help (CAF) allows a holistic assessment of a young person’s 
needs to be carried out so that referrals can be made to other services where 
required in additional to mental health/wellbeing services. Additionally, referrals 
through the Early Help (CAF) allow tracking of needs information so that trends in 
need can be identified. Outcomes are also able to be tracked through the Early Help 
(CAF) process. 
 
Anecdotally, there was some confusion among professionals (e.g. GPs) and among 
young people themselves about which organisation to contact/refer to when a young 
person has a mental health need. This sometimes resulted in families not knowing 
which organisation they had been referred to. In addition to this, for some of the Tier 
2 organisations, if a young person is referred to them and they need to then be 
referred on elsewhere, they have to refer back to the GP to refer them on to SEPT 
Tier 3 services rather than being able to refer them directly to this service, which 
could create delays in supporting young people.  
 
For example, SORTED stated that a central referral route would be useful as if an 
individual has been referred  to SORTED but they are found to have a Tier 3 need, 
they have to be referred back to the GP for onwards referral to SEPT Tier 3 services 
as SORTED are not able to refer directly to SEPT Tier 3 services. 
It was also reported anecdotally there may be case of some referrals being made to 
CHUMS as there is a perception that this may be a way of gaining speedier access 
to CAMHS. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 91



 

- 18 - 

 
The CAMHS Tier 2 looked after children team are currently looking at piloting a one-
point of referral scheme to address this difficulty. This would mean that all referrals 
were made to one place which would then assess referrals and ensure they were 
signposted to the correct organisation. This could then mean that self-referrals may 
be able to be made (self-referral to tier 2 or 3 CAMHS is not currently available). A 
number of stakeholders felt that having one point of referral would be useful. 
However, it was acknowledged that having one point of referral would be a big 
commitment and that the team responsible for referrals would have to have a very 
good understanding of and communication with different local mental health services 
to be able to effectively channel the referrals to the most appropriate place. 
 
Some service providers felt that sometimes young people may not wish to go 
through an organisation (e.g. school, doctors) due to a difficulty with perceived 
authority figures and would benefit from the ability to self-refer. 
 
Hear 2 Listen perceived that sometimes 'red tape' can prevent quick responses e.g. 
with assessment forms needing to be completed and processed in their work with 
schools in Central Bedfordshire. They felt that sometimes young people need more 
immediate support. 
 
Continuity of Care 
Looked after children who are accessing Tier 2 CAMHS services in Bedfordshire 
may be moved to out of area placements, sometimes at short notice. As not all 
neighbouring locations have a Tier 2 CAMHS service, this may result in interruption 
or discontinuation of their care. Improved communication between the CAMHS 
looked after children Tier 2 service and social services may help teams to plan 
continuity of service at an earlier stage. 
 
Criteria for accessing support from children’s mental health services are different 
from criteria for eligibility for adult mental health services. Therefore there is a gap as 
some young people with Tier 2 needs may not meet the criteria to continue receiving 
support once they become an adult at age 18.  
 
Talking Therapy Strategy 

It is currently unclear how improving access to psychological therapies and talking 

therapies for children are integrated into other CAMHS services. 

 
4.3.2. Potential Areas of Unmet Need 
Feedback from stakeholders has highlighted the following areas as gaps in the 
current service provision for children in Central Bedfordshire: 
 

· Tier 2 demand and longer term Tier 2 support: 
Anecdotally, a number of service providers identified a gap between Tier 2 
and Tier 3 services in Central Bedfordshire for those that need longer term 
Tier 2 interventions. Most of the current providers offer only short Term Tier 2 
interventions (e.g. CHUMS on average offer 4 sessions). This may not be a 
sufficiently long enough intervention to resolve Tier 2 mental health issues. 
Anecdotally, CHUMS stated that around 80% of their clients improve within 4 
sessions of treatment, however this leaves a proportion who may need longer 

Agenda Item 13
Page 92



 

- 19 - 

term support. A number of service providers felt that they are seeing an 
increasing number of complex cases, with a high level Tier 2 demand (just 
below the threshold for Tier 3 services). For example, some individuals who 
had experienced issues such as sexual abuse or sexualised behaviour had 
been referred to Tier 2 services as they had not met the criteria for Tier 3 
services. 
 
CHUMS stated that demand for their Tier 2 bereavement and emotional 
health and wellbeing services are greater than the service they are 
commissioned to provide. This results in capacity difficulties and may result in 
waits of up to 3 months between being referred and receiving treatment. For 
example, CHUMS are commissioned to deliver emotional health and 
wellbeing support to 720 young people across Central Bedfordshire and 
Bedford Borough. However, in 2012/13, this service was delivered to 
approximately 595 young people in Central Bedfordshire. A number of other 
service providers felt that there was a need for further Tier 2 services locally. 
 

· Family based mental health and wellbeing support 
CHUMS data suggests that 50% of children referred to their emotional health 
and wellbeing service also have a parent with a mental health issue. 
Therefore, it was suggested that there is a gap relating to integrated family 
mental health services. Currently, it was felt that adult and child mental health 
services operate independently and there is little work involving the family unit 
as a whole. This type of work may support a young person to ensure they 
maintain emotional wellbeing in the home environment after Tier 1 or Tier 2 
interventions. 
 

· Pathway for children with autism 
A number of Tier 1 and 2 mental health service providers felt that a better 
pathway for children with autism is needed (both those with and without 
mental health issues as well as autism). CHUMS provide some Tier 2 support 
for children with both autism and mental health needs but were not aware of 
any services young people with autism could be referred on to if they did not 
have the mental health needs to meet CHUMS criteria.  
 

· Increased early prevention/Tier 1 work 
A number of organisations anecdotally felt that there was a need for further 
early intervention/Tier 1 work locally. For example, SORTED said further work 
promoting resilience, self-esteem and coping skills would be helpful locally. 
4YP UK also stated anecdotally that more services for early intervention were 
needed. However, there are already a number of existing Tier 1 services in 
Central Bedfordshire including CHUMS, 4YPUK and Open Door (in Ivel 
Valley). Anecdotally it was also felt that more preventative work with younger 
clients who are experimenting with self harm was needed (e.g. Open Door 
and 4YP UK).  
 

· Service use by males 
One service provider stated that anecdotally, although the number of males 
presenting to Tier 2 services is increasing, a much greater proportion of 
service users are female. This is despite mental health issues being common 

Agenda Item 13
Page 93



 

- 20 - 

among males. Therefore further work may be needed to encourage young 
men to present to mental health services at Tiers 1 and 2. 
 

· Self-harm support services 
Several service providers expressed concern that there is little support for 
young people who are self-harming. 
 

· Addiction prevention 
Hear 2 Listen perceive there to be little provision for addiction prevention in 
Central Bedfordshire. For example, young people can only access CAN/Plan 
B after a substance misuse issue has been identified. There is little provision 
from a preventative point of view that can work with the underlying issues 
before young people find routes into addiction to cope. Hear 2 Listen are 
doing some work in this area in Central Bedfordshire schools however, and 
would potentially have capacity to be able to deliver this to additional schools. 
 

· Domestic violence support for parents of children experiencing 
domestic violence 
Although SORTED provide a domestic violence support service for young 
people, anecdotally they have identified a gap in services supporting parents 
of these young people who have experienced domestic violence. 
 

· Group based Tier 1 and 2 support 
CHUMS stated there would be enough demand to run support groups for 
children affected by divorce or separation and low mood but currently these 
are not provided due to capacity. Other providers felt that group sessions 
supporting young carers would be beneficial. SORTED felt there is little group 
based Tier 1 and 2 support for young people in Central Bedfordshire. 
 

· Communication of secondary care referral pathways 
Not all service providers were aware of referral routes from secondary care 
e.g. there was a lack of clarity about where children who have had an 
overdose might be referred to now that emergency services at Bedford 
Hospital have changed. Services were unclear if young people who have had 
such overdoses could still be referred to Tier 2 mental health services in 
Central Bedfordshire following treatment/discharge or if they would be 
referred to other services at another hospital. 
 

· Support for those who have experienced sexual abuse or who have 
shown sexualised behaviour 
Sexualised behaviour services/sexual abuse was identified as a gap in 
service provision as some individuals with these issues are currently being 
referred to Tier 2 services where they do not meet Tier 3 criteria. 
 

· Funding for travel to appointments 
4YP UK stated that mental health services in Central Bedfordshire could be 
improved by providing funding for people with mental health issues to get to 
appointments. CHUMS was the only organisation who stated that they have 
volunteer drivers etc. to support young people in attending appointments. 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 94



 

- 21 - 

· Waiting times for Tier 2 services 
CHUMS stated that demand for Tier 2 services is greater than that which they 
are commissioned to provide and subsequently, there are often long waiting 
times to see young people.  
 

· Services for under 5s 
Plan B stated anecdotally that they are aware of few services that can be 
referred onto for children who are aged under 5 years who may have mental 
health needs that cannot be addressed by Plan B 

 
4.3.3. Emerging Trends 
Anecdotally, the following issues about why young people present to mental health 

and wellbeing services were raised: 

· It was felt that young people are becoming more aware of mental health 

issues and are more willing to discuss them than in the past. 

· It was felt that there is an increasing demand for Tier 2 mental health support 

among young people. 

· One provider stated that anger is becoming more common as a reason for 

presenting to some Tier 2 services. 

· A number of providers felt that more complex cases are more commonly 

presenting to Tier 2 services e.g. presenting with anxiety, but also having e.g. 

an eating disorder or self-harming. 

· Anecdotally, SORTED predict that demand for their domestic violence support 

service for young people in Central Bedfordshire is likely to increase. 

 

 

 

4.3.4. Tier 1 and 2 Child and adolescent mental health and wellbeing services 

in Central Bedfordshire schools 

A health in schools review is carried out biennially in Central Bedfordshire to help 

schools to self-assess the health and wellbeing in their school. This was most 

recently carried out in 2013. Key findings are outlined below, and include findings 

relevant to Tiers 1 and 2 services (although the survey was not specific to these 

tiers): 

Referring to specialist services for advice 

Schools referred to a wide range of specialist services for advice. Services most 

commonly referred to were: 

· CAMHS 

· CHUMs 

· Educational psychologists 

· Child protection 

· School nurse 

Agenda Item 13
Page 95



 

- 22 - 

· Jigsaw (behaviour support) 

Referrals were often made through the Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator or 

the Common Assessment Framework (CAF). 

 

Services less commonly identified  by schools included: Cruse (bereavement 

support), SMILE (supporting minds in a learning environment), learning mentor, 

family justice, intensive family support, education support panel, parent partnership 

advisor and child development centre (helps children with disabilities and special 

needs), behaviour support team, Connexions, Relate and Plan B, pastoral carers, 2 

can counselling and other counselling services, play therapy, action for children, 

Chilterns’ outreach team, the Edwin Lobo centre and the Red Bear Multi-Agency 

support tram. 

 

Schools identified a number of school policies which may relate to wellbeing, such as 

safeguarding policies and anti-bullying policies. One of the schools had a stress 

management policy. However none of the schools identified a specific mental 

health/health and wellbeing policy. 

 
Signposting  

The most common ways schools sign-posted young people to mental health and 

wellbeing services were using display boards, newsletters, websites and leaflets. 

The Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator also signposted to relevant services in 

some schools.      

Identifying and providing support for children facing challenging 

circumstances 

The most common ways in which children facing challenging circumstances were 

identified included using individual education plans to identify need, monitoring and 

tracking pupils (e.g. monitoring school attendance), staff meetings to review pupil 

progress and identify children who may be facing difficulties, meetings with parents, 

circle time activities and having worry/suggestion boxes. 

In addition to the above services that may be referred to, there were a number of 

services within schools identified to support young people’s health and wellbeing. 

Schools frequently identified the SEAL programme (social and emotional aspects of 

learning programme). Other services included were mentoring, support from the 

Family Support Worker (for example for children in need or child protection issues), 

buddy systems and intervention groups. SMILE (supporting minds in a learning 

environment) was commonly talked about by schools in Central Bedfordshire. Smile 

aims to promote positive mental health and wellbeing e.g. by raising awareness, 

building capacity and providing access to Counsellors.  

Opportunities for children and young people to develop responsibility, build 

confidence and self-esteem 

Agenda Item 13
Page 96



 

- 23 - 

Schools offered a number of ways for young people to build confidence and self-

esteem, such as peer mentoring, extra-curricular clubs and being able to take on 

responsibilities e.g. as form representative or on a school council. One school has a 

lunchtime club for children with emotional needs, and another school holds a health 

and happiness week.   

4.3.5. Outcomes Data 
The table in Appendix 4 gives an overview of the outcomes data that is available 

from mental health and wellbeing services locally, identifies gaps in information and 

highlights trends where these can be identified from the data.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendations: 

Recommendations made by the CAMHS Tier 1 and 2 project team as a result of the 

review are: 

       Recommendation Lead Organisation: 
1. Develop a pathway for child and adolescent mental 

health services (including talking therapies), with a 

single referral route where appropriate (e.g. through 

the early help CAF service). 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

2. As part of the development of a pathway, consider 

integration/pooling budgets to streamline the 

pathway and reduce duplication of services  

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

3. Ensure that provision of current Tier 1 specific 

services (school based support/training in early 

identification for mental health) continues in future. 

Children’s Services,, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

4. Embed the enhanced School Nurse (SN) Service Tier 

1/2 Emotional and Behaviour Management Pathway 

(pathway currently in draft form). 

Public health, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

5. As part of action 3 above, undertake stakeholder 

work with GPs, schools and health visitors to 

identify early intervention (Tier 1) actions that could 

be taken to prevent young people developing more 

serious mental health and wellbeing issues. 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Public Health 

6. Develop a standard template to be used for 

monitoring/evaluation of child mental health and 

wellbeing services to include information about 

outcomes, quality, client feedback and breaking 

down service use information by local authority area.  

Children’s Services, Central 
Bedfordshire Council 

7. Develop an emotional health and wellbeing (CAMHS) 

strategy for Central Bedfordshire, to be reported to 

the Children’s Trust Board 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Agenda Item 13
Page 97



 

- 24 - 

8. Raise awareness of existing Tier 1 and 2 child mental 

health and wellbeing services locally. 

As part of this develop a directory of services (e.g. on a 

webpage) for child mental health and wellbeing and 

identify an agency to keep it up to date. This could 

include having information on the GP ref system and as 

part of early help (CAF) work training GPs 

 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

9. Work with service providers on further analysis to 

map Tier 1 and 2 child mental health need on a 

geographic basis (localities).  

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Public Health 
Public health 

10. Revise and update the service specification for all 

Tier 1 and 2 provision, to implement the 

recommendations of the review and ensure outcome 

focus 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Bedfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 98



 

- 
2

5
 -

 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IC
E

S
 A

N
D

 R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
S

 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 1
: 

D
e

ta
il
e

d
 N

e
e

d
s
 I

n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
: 

N
e

e
d

 f
o

r 
C

A
M

H
S

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s

 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s

h
ir

e
 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 

A
g

e
 (

Y
e

a
rs

) 
0

-4
 

5
-1

0
 

1
1

-1
6
 

1
7

-1
8
 

1
6

*-
1

9
 

T
o
ta

l 
0

-1
8
 

T
o
ta

l 
p

o
p
u

la
ti
o
n
 (

a
ll 

a
g
e

s
) 

C
e
n

tr
a

l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e
 

1
6

,6
4

3
 

1
8

,5
0

5
 

1
8

,8
1

3
 

6
,3

7
2
 

1
2

,0
5

9
 

6
0

,3
3

3
 

2
5

9
,9

6
9
 

S
o

u
rc

e
: 
O

N
S

 M
id

 2
0

1
2

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
 

*1
6

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 c

o
u
n

te
d

 a
g
a

in
 t

o
 m

a
tc

h
 a

g
e

 b
a
n

d
s
 u

s
e

d
 i
n
 s

u
b

s
e

q
u

e
n

t 
re

p
o

rt
 

A
g

e
 p

ro
fi

le
 b

y
 s

e
x

 2
0
1

1
, 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 c
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 E

n
g

la
n

d
  

 

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s

h
ir

e
 a

n
d

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 i
n

 2
0

1
1

 b
y
 a

g
e

 a
n

d
 g

e
n

d
e

r

5
4

3
2

1
0

1
2

3
4

5

0
 -

 4

5
 -

 9

1
0

 -
 1

4

1
5

 -
 1

9

2
0

 -
 2

4

2
5

 -
 2

9

3
0

 -
 3

4

3
5

 -
 3

9

4
0

 -
 4

4

4
5

 -
 4

9

5
0

 -
 5

4

5
5

 -
 5

9

6
0

 -
 6

4

6
5

 -
 6

9

7
0

 -
 7

4

7
5

 -
 7

9

8
0

 -
 8

4

8
5

+

Age

P
e

rc
e

n
t

F
e
m

a
le

M
a
le

E
n
g
la

n
d

Agenda Item 13
Page 99



 

- 
2

6
 -

 

(S
o

u
rc

e
: 

O
ff

ic
e
 f

o
r 

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
, 
2

0
1
1

 C
e

n
s
u

s
) 

P
ro

je
c

te
d

 c
h

a
n

g
e
s

 i
n

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

’s
 t
o

ta
l 
p

o
p
u

la
ti
o
n

 i
s
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 t
o

 g
ro

w
 b

y
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 1

.2
-1

.3
%

%
 e

a
c
h

 y
e

a
r 

fo
r 

th
e

 n
e

x
t 

1
0
 y

e
a

rs
, 

w
it
h

 a
 t

o
ta

l 
p

o
p
u

la
ti
o
n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 o
f 
1

3
.7

%
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 2

0
1
1

 a
n

d
 2

0
2

1
. 

F
o

r 
th

e
 0

-1
9
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s
 t
h

e
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 g

ro
w

th
 o

v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
x
t 

5
 a

n
d
 

1
0

 y
e

a
rs

 i
s
 s

h
o

w
n

 b
e

lo
w

: 

A
g

e
 

%
 G

ro
w

th
 2

0
1

1
-2

0
1

6
 

%
 G

ro
w

th
 2

0
1

1
-2

0
2

1
 

0
-4

 
9

.4
%

 
1

1
.6

%
 

5
-9

 
1

2
.4

%
 

2
3

.9
%

 

1
0

-1
4
 

-1
.0

%
 

1
1

.3
%

 

1
5

-1
9
 

-6
.9

%
 

-7
.0

%
 

S
o

u
rc

e
: 
O

N
S

 I
n

te
ri
m

 2
0

1
1

-b
a

s
e

d
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 p

ro
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 

W
it
h

in
 t
h

is
 a

g
e

 r
a
n

g
e

, 
b

y
 2

0
1

6
 t
h

e
re

 w
ill

 b
e

 a
n

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 0

-9
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s
 a

n
d

 a
 d

e
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n
 t
h

e
 1

0
-1

9
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s
. 

 T
h

e
re

 w
ill

 b
e

 
a

n
 o

v
e

ra
ll 

d
e

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 1

5
-1

9
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s
. 

 O
v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
x
t 

1
0
 y

e
a

rs
 i
t 

is
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
re

 w
ill

 b
e

 a
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
in

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 5

-9
 

y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 o

f 
n

e
a

rl
y
 2

4
%

. 
N

u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
0

-4
 a

n
d

 1
0

-1
4

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 a

re
 a

ls
o
 p

re
d

ic
te

d
 t

o
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 b
y
 a

ro
u
n

d
 1

1
%

. 
 T

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

1
5

-1
9

 
y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 w

ill
 d

e
c
re

a
s
e

 b
y
 7

%
. 

K
e

y
 f

a
c

ts
 

A
 r

e
p

o
rt

 b
y
 G

re
e

n
 e

t 
a

l 
(2

0
0

4
) 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 t
h

e
 p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e

 o
f 

m
e

n
ta

l 
d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 i
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
: 

·
 

It
 i

s
 e

s
ti

m
a

te
d

 t
h

a
t 

1
 i
n

 1
0

 c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
o

le
s

c
e

n
ts

 h
a
s

 a
 m

e
n

ta
l 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

·
 

B
o

y
s

 a
re

 m
o

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 e
x

p
e
ri

e
n

c
e

 m
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s

 t
h

a
n

 g
ir

ls
 (

1
1

.4
%

 c
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 7

.8
%

) 

·
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 1
1

-1
6

 y
e

a
rs

 a
re

 m
o

re
 l

ik
e

ly
 (

1
1

.5
%

) 
th

a
n

 5
 t

o
 1

0
 y

e
a

r 
o

ld
s
 (

7
.7

%
) 

to
 h

a
v
e

 m
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s

 

·
 

F
o

r 
L

o
o

k
e

d
 A

ft
e

r 
C

h
il

d
re

n
 t

h
e
 r

a
te

s
 a

re
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 h

ig
h

e
r 

T
h

e
 l

o
c

a
l 

p
ic

tu
re

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 100



 

- 
2

7
 -

 

A
 C

A
M

H
S

 N
e

e
d

s
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

R
e
p
o

rt
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 p

ro
d

u
c
e

d
 b

y
 C

H
IM

A
T

 a
n
d

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 p

re
v
a
le

n
c
e

 a
n

d
 n

e
e

d
 d

a
ta

 f
o
r 

th
e

 C
e
n

tr
a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 p
o

p
u

la
ti
o
n

. 

P
re

-s
c

h
o

o
l 
c

h
il

d
re

n
 

T
h
e

re
 a

re
 r

e
la

ti
v
e

ly
 l
it
tl
e

 d
a
ta

 a
b

o
u

t 
p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

s
 f
o

r 
m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e

a
lt
h

 d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 i
n

 p
re

-s
c
h
o
o

l 
a

g
e

 c
h

ild
re

n
. 

 

A
 l
it
e

ra
tu

re
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
fo

u
r 

s
tu

d
ie

s
 l
o

o
k
in

g
 a

t 
1

,0
2

1
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
g
e

d
 2

 t
o

 5
 y

e
a

rs
 i
n

c
lu

s
iv

e
, 

fo
u
n
d

 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 a

v
e

ra
g
e

 p
re

v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

 o
f 

a
n

y
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e

a
lt
h

 d
is

o
rd

e
r 

w
a

s
 1

9
.6

%
 (

E
g
g
e

r,
 H

 e
t 
a

l,
 2

0
0

6
).

  
A

p
p

ly
in

g
 t

h
is

 a
v
e

ra
g
e

 p
re

v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

 t
o

 t
h

e
 O

ff
ic

e
 f
o

r 
N

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 (

O
N

S
) 

m
id

-y
e

a
r 

p
o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

s
 f

o
r 

2
0

1
2

, 
g
iv

e
s
 a

 f
ig

u
re

 o
f 

2
,5

9
5

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

g
e

d
 2

 t
o

 5
 y

e
a

rs
 i
n

c
lu

s
iv

e
 l
iv

in
g
 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 w
h

o
 h

a
v
e

 a
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h
e

a
lt
h
 d

is
o
rd

e
r.

  

S
c

h
o

o
l-

a
g

e
 c

h
il

d
re

n
 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e

 f
o

r 
e

a
c

h
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a
lt

h
 d

is
o

rd
e

r 

T
h
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g
 t

a
b

le
s
 s

h
o

w
 t

h
e

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 c
o
n

d
u

c
t,
 e

m
o

ti
o

n
a

l,
 h

y
p

e
rk

in
e

ti
c
 a

n
d

 l
e

s
s
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 d

is
o

rd
e

rs
 i
n

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 b
y
 a

p
p

ly
in

g
 t

h
e

 p
re

v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 2
0

1
2
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 (

th
e

 n
u
m

b
e

rs
 i
n

 t
h

is
 t
a

b
le

 d
o
 n

o
t 
a

d
d

 u
p
 t

o
 t
h

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
rs

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 t

a
b

le
 b

e
c
a

u
s
e
 s

o
m

e
 c

h
ild

re
n

 h
a

v
e

 m
o

re
 t

h
a
n

 o
n
e

 d
is

o
rd

e
r)

. 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 w
it

h
 m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 b
y
 a

g
e
 g

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

 g
e

n
d

e
r 

  
E

s
ti

m
a

te
d

 
n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 
5

-1
0

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 
1

1
-1

6
 y

rs
 

(2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

b
o

y
s

 a
g

e
d

 5
-

1
0

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

b
o

y
s

 a
g

e
d

 1
1

-
1

6
 y

rs
 (

2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

g
ir

ls
 a

g
e

d
 5

-1
0

 
y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

g
ir

ls
 a

g
e

d
 1

1
-

1
6

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

C
o
n

d
u

c
t 

D
is

o
rd

e
rs

 
9

1
0
 

1
2

4
5
 

6
5

5
 

7
8

5
 

2
5

5
 

4
7

0
 

E
m

o
ti
o

n
a

l 
d

is
o
rd

e
rs

 
4

4
5
 

9
4

5
 

2
1

0
 

3
9

0
 

2
3

0
 

5
6

0
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 101



 

- 
2

8
 -

 

  
E

s
ti

m
a

te
d

 
n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 
5

-1
0

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 
1

1
-1

6
 y

rs
 

(2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

b
o

y
s

 a
g

e
d

 5
-

1
0

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

b
o

y
s

 a
g

e
d

 1
1

-
1

6
 y

rs
 (

2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

g
ir

ls
 a

g
e

d
 5

-1
0

 
y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

g
ir

ls
 a

g
e

d
 1

1
-

1
6

 y
rs

 (
2
0

1
2

) 

H
y
p

e
rk

in
e

ti
c
 

d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 
3

0
0
 

2
6

5
 

2
6

0
 

2
3

5
 

4
0
 

4
0
 

L
e

s
s
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 

d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 
2

4
5
 

2
6

5
 

2
1

0
 

1
5

5
 

4
0
 

1
0

5
 

S
o

u
rc

e
: 
O

ff
ic

e
 f

o
r 

N
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 m

id
-y

e
a
r 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

s
 f
o

r 
2
0
1

2
. 
G

re
e
n

, 
H

. 
e

t 
a

l 
(2

0
0
4

).
  

A
c
ro

s
s
 a

ll 
c
h

ild
re

n
 a

g
e
d

 5
-1

6
 y

e
a

rs
 c

o
n

d
u

c
t 
d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 a
re

 t
h

e
 m

o
s
t 

c
o

m
m

o
n

 m
e
n

ta
l 
h
e

a
lt
h
 d

is
o
rd

e
r 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 h

ig
h

e
s
t 

n
u
m

b
e

rs
 s

e
e
n

 
in

 t
h

e
 1

1
-1

6
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s
. 
 A

m
o

n
g
s
t 

b
o

y
s
 c

o
n

d
u

c
t 

d
is

o
rd

e
rs

 i
s
 t
h

e
 m

o
s
t 
p

re
v
a

le
n

t 
d

is
o
rd

e
r 

in
 b

o
th

 t
h

e
 y

o
u
n

g
e

r 
a
n

d
 o

ld
e

r 
a
g
e

 g
ro

u
p

. 
 

G
ir
ls

 a
re

 m
o

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 e
x
p

e
ri
e

n
c
e

 a
 d

is
o
rd

e
r 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 t
h

e
 a

g
e

s
 o

f 
1
1

-1
6

 a
n

d
 e

m
o

ti
o
n

a
l 
d

is
o

rd
e

rs
 a

c
c
o
u

n
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 h

ig
h

e
s
t 

ra
te

s
. 

  O
ld

e
r 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
g

e
d

 1
6

-1
9

 y
e

a
rs

 

A
 s

tu
d

y
 c

o
n
d

u
c
te

d
 b

y
 S

in
g
le

to
n

 e
t 

a
l 
(2

0
0
1

) 
h

a
s
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

s
 f

o
r 

n
e
u

ro
ti
c
 d

is
o
rd

e
rs

 i
n

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
g
e

d
 1

6
 t
o

 1
9

 
in

c
lu

s
iv

e
 l
iv

in
g
 i
n

 p
ri

v
a

te
 h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
s
. 
T

h
e

 t
a

b
le

s
 b

e
lo

w
 s

h
o

w
 h

o
w

 m
a

n
y
 1

6
 t
o

 1
9

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 t
o

 h
a

v
e

 a
 n

e
u

ro
ti
c
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

if
 t
h

e
s
e
 p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e

 r
a
te

s
 w

e
re

 a
p
p

lie
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

. 
 

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

m
a

le
s
 a

g
e
d

 1
6

 t
o

 1
9

 w
it

h
 n

e
u

ro
ti

c
 d

is
o

rd
e

rs
 i

n
 C

e
n

tr
a

l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 102



 

- 
2

9
 -

 

M
ix

e
d

 a
n

x
ie

ty
 a

n
d

 
d

e
p

re
s

s
iv

e
 d

is
o

rd
e

r 
(m

a
le

s
 1

6
-1

9
 y

rs
) 

(2
0

1
2

) 

G
e

n
e
ra

li
s
e

d
 

a
n

x
ie

ty
 d

is
o

rd
e

r 
(m

a
le

s
 1

6
-1

9
 y

rs
) 

(2
0

1
2

) 

D
e

p
re

s
s
iv

e
 

e
p

is
o

d
e
 (

m
a
le

s
 

1
6

-1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

A
ll

 p
h

o
b

ia
s

 
(m

a
le

s
 1

6
-1

9
 

y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

O
b

s
e

s
s

iv
e

 
c

o
m

p
u

ls
iv

e
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

(m
a

le
s

 1
6

-
1

9
 y

rs
) 

(2
0

1
2

) 

P
a

n
ic

 
d

is
o

rd
e

r 
(m

a
le

s
 1

6
-

1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

A
n

y
 n

e
u

ro
ti

c
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

(m
a
le

s
 1

6
-1

9
 

y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

3
2

5
 

1
0

5
 

6
0
 

4
0
 

6
0
 

3
5
 

5
4

5
 

S
o

u
rc

e
: 
O

ff
ic

e
 f

o
r 

N
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 m

id
-y

e
a
r 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

s
 f
o

r 
2
0
1

2
. 
S

in
g
le

to
n
, 

N
. 
e

t 
a

l 
(2

0
0

1
).

  

E
s

ti
m

a
te

d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

fe
m

a
le

s
 a

g
e
d

 1
6

 t
o

 1
9

 w
it

h
 n

e
u

ro
ti

c
 d

is
o

rd
e
rs

 

M
ix

e
d

 a
n

x
ie

ty
 a

n
d

 
d

e
p

re
s

s
iv

e
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

(f
e

m
a
le

s
 

1
6

-1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

G
e

n
e
ra

li
s
e

d
 

a
n

x
ie

ty
 d

is
o

rd
e

r 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
 1

6
-1

9
 y

rs
) 

(2
0

1
2

) 

D
e
p

re
s

s
iv

e
 

e
p

is
o

d
e
 

(f
e

m
a

le
s

 1
6

-1
9

 
y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

A
ll

 p
h

o
b

ia
s

 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
 1

6
-

1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

O
b

s
e

s
s

iv
e

 
c

o
m

p
u

ls
iv

e
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

(f
e

m
a
le

s
 

1
6

-1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

P
a

n
ic

 
d

is
o

rd
e

r 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
 1

6
-

1
9

 y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

A
n

y
 n

e
u

ro
ti

c
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

(f
e

m
a

le
s

 1
6

-1
9

 
y
rs

) 
(2

0
1

2
) 

7
1

5
 

6
5
 

1
5

5
 

1
2

5
 

5
5
 

3
5
 

1
1

0
5
 

S
o

u
rc

e
: 
O

ff
ic

e
 f

o
r 

N
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 m

id
-y

e
a
r 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

s
 f
o

r 
2

0
1

2
. 
S

in
g
le

to
n
, 

N
. 
e

t 
a

l 
(2

0
0

1
).

  

In
 t

h
e

 o
ld

e
r 

a
g
e

 g
ro

u
p
 o

f 
1
6

-1
9

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
 m

ix
e

d
 a

n
x
ie

ty
 a

n
d

 d
e
p

re
s
s
iv

e
 d

is
o
rd

e
r 

is
 t

h
e

 m
o
s
t 

p
re

v
a

le
n

t 
m

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 d
is

o
rd

e
r 

w
it
h

 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

fe
m

a
le

s
 a

ff
e

c
te

d
 m

o
re

 t
h
a

n
 d

o
u

b
le

 t
h

a
t 
o
f 

m
a

le
s
. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 103



 

- 30 - 

Appendix 2: Service Descriptions – Tier 1 and 2 Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Programmes 

TIER 1 SERVICES 

The Healthy Child Programme (HCP) 

The Healthy Child Programme (DH, 2009) is an early intervention and prevention 

programme.  It is a single programme divided into two life stages: pregnancy and 

first five years of life (0-5) and 5-19 years.  

The SEPT 0-19 Children’s Service incorporates Health Visitors and School Nurses 

and they are commissioned to provide key elements of the HCP 0-5 and 5-19 

programmes (other partners include GPS, Schools, Children’s Centres). The 

universal offer is key to early identification of need and risk. The Universal Plus and 

Partnership Plus programmes can then be implemented appropriate to need and 

should ensure the most vulnerable are identified and supported.  

Current provision 

An evaluation of the 0-5 HCP (2010) found that full universal offer was not  available 

in Central Bedfordshire.  However with increased numbers of health visitors being 

recruited the following improvements are planned in the next 2 years as part of the 

universal provision: 

· Increase in number of women seen antenatally by the health visitor 

· 95% of mothers to receive face to face postnatal contact by 10 weeks to 

include assessment of maternal mood by end of 2014/15 

· All children/parents to attend 1 year and 2-2½ year Health and Development 

Review. 

The 0-19 Team are also working to ensure those families identified as Universal Plus 

and Universal Partnership Plus receives appropriate early interventions or referrals. 

Reduced numbers of school nurses in recent years has affected implementation of 

the 5-19 HCP which has also been patchy in Central Bedfordshire with the following 

implications: 

· There is inconsistency around content and follow-up of the School Entry 

Review 

· There is no health review provided at transition year (Year 6/8) – a key time to 

identify emerging health and wellbeing issues 

· Weekly school Nurse drop-ins are being rolled out to 5 Upper Schools in 

Central Bedfordshire and their 13 Middle schools, all in areas of higher 

deprivation during 2013/14. These will be rolled out to all remaining Upper 

and Middle schools and special schools in Central Bedfordshire during 

2014/15. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 104



 

- 31 - 

· Opportunities for public health education/promotion to improve emotional 

health and wellbeing are very limited. 

There is planned expansion of the School Nurse Service to deliver the full HCP 5-19 

in Central Bedfordshire. The service specification has been redeveloped recently to 

ensure full delivery of the 5-19 Healthy Child Programme by the end of the 

2014/2015 academic year.  This will include Solihull and CAMHS training for School 

Nurses to enable them to assess and provide support at Tier 1 and 2. 

 

Aspire 

The Aspire Programme is an early intervention workshop and coaching programme 

for vulnerable children susceptible to poor outcomes. The programme aims to help 

them reach their potential and addresses the risk factors that may lead to teenage 

pregnancy. It is delivered over 14 weeks, with 6 weekly workshops, followed by 6 

weeks’ telephone coaching and 2 further workshops.  This is followed up by quarterly 

tracking over 12 months. Schools nominate children to join the programme.  In 

Central Bedfordshire the programme runs in 11 targeted schools for 20 children per 

school (10 boys and 10 girls).   

CHUMS – Emotional Health and Wellbeing  School Based Training and Support 

CHUMS provide Tier 1 early intervention and prevention service for schools 

promoting emotional health and wellbeing school based training for all schools in 

Central Bedfordshire. An emotional health and wellbeing lead will be trained in each 

school, and training involves being able to support young people, identify early signs 

of emotional distress and being able to signpost to appropriate Tier 2 services where 

appropriate. This is also being expanded to include work with school nurses and 

drop in sessions. 

 CHUMS offers supervision and consultation to the emotional wellbeing lead from 

those schools that sign up. Each locality has its own cluster enabling those trained to 

network and gain support from peers as well as working alongside the CHUMS 

Family Care Practitioners. 

4YP UK 

4YPUK are a Tier 1 and 2 service offering guidance, support and mentoring to young 

people aged 11 to 25 years. These are delivered by drop in sessions in Leighton 

Buzzard, Houghton Regis, and Dunstable, however sessions are also held at youth 

centres across Central Bedfordshire by appointment. 4YP also provide support and 

mentoring for young people in schools in Central Bedfordshire. 

Referrals to 4YP are made for a range of mental health issues and frequently include 

referrals for anxiety, depression, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 

conduct disorders, emotional disorders, anger management, self-harm and sexual 

Agenda Item 13
Page 105



 

- 32 - 

exploitation. Other common reasons for presentation to the service include 

homelessness, benefit issues, to encourage community and peer involvement, for 

intensive support and mentoring.  

Sources of 4YP referrals are outlined in table 1 but are rarely received from primary 

or secondary care.  

In Central Bedfordshire 4YP UK are commissioned to provide: 

· Intensive support project – referral to this is only via early help (CAF) and can 

be made by any professional working in Central Bedfordshire 

· Troubled families programmes – commissioned from Sep 2013 – 2014, 

working with families identified as requiring High and Medium levels of 

support – referral to this is via the Troubled families triage 

· Group mentoring - 85 school pupils in Central Bedfordshire receiving group 

mentoring (for those at risk of school exclusion) in 2012/13 

· Early intervention project, 2100 clients seen by early intervention project (April 

2011 – March 2013) 

 

Open Door 

Open Door deliver both Tier 1 and Tier 2 services to young people aged 13-25 but 

only in the Ivel Valley area of Central Bedfordshire. Open Door offers short term 

counselling, support and treatment (usually up to 12 sessions).  

Main reasons for presentations to Open Door include anxiety, difficulties with family 

relationships and self-esteem and self-harm.  

In Ivel Valley, Open Door referrals are only accepted from GPs. There is currently a 

waiting list to be seen and this may fluctuate seasonally (e.g. demand peaks after 

Christmas and before the school summer holidays). Services are delivered by 

volunteer counsellors with the exception of two paid counsellors working in schools. 

TIER 2 SERVICES 

CHUMS – Emotional Health and Wellbeing  Service and Bereavement Service 

CHUMS offer a short term (on average 4 sessions) emotional health and wellbeing 

service for young people across Central Bedfordshire delivered by a multi -

disciplinary team using evidence based interventions.  This is for young people with 

mild to moderate mental health issues, with common presenting issues being 

anxiety, family relationships, autism, behavioural issues and some self-harm.   

In addition to this, CHUMS offer a number of Tier 2 group support sessions across 

Central Bedfordshire, for example support with anxiety, behaviour issues, self-

Agenda Item 13
Page 106



 

- 33 - 

esteem, and for those on the autistic spectrum. CHUMS also run parents’ support 

groups alongside the children’s groups. 

 CHUMS also deliver a Tier 2 bereavement and trauma service across Central 

Bedfordshire. This service is commissioned to support children who have 

experienced bereavement relating to specific types of traumatic event (suicide, 

murder or road traffic accidents). The service is delivered by a consultant trauma 

psychologist and a principal psychologist two trauma psychiatrists and a number of 

trainees.  

CHUMS have volunteer drivers and are sometimes able to pay for taxis to support 

young people to make appointments as well as offering appointments in a range of 

locations including community based settings and individual’s homes. 

Plan B/CAN 

Plan B is a Tier 2 service which offers support, information and advice to a young 

people aged 5 to 18 who use drugs or alcohol or who are affected by someone using 

these substances. Outreach services are delivered across Central Bedfordshire 

Monday to Friday 9am to 4:30pm, with late appointments offered to those in crisis in 

the week. 

The main reason why young people present to Plan B is because either themselves 

or someone close to them (mainly parent/carer) is affected by drugs and/or alcohol 

(experimental drug users through to problematic drug users in the Tier 3 service). 

Support is also available for those with complex trauma, historical abuse, sexual 

abuse or sexual exploitation when these issues have led them into drugs/alcohol. 

Depression, personality disorders, anxiety and other emotional disorders are 

common among those presenting to the service. 

Sources of referrals to Plan B are outlined in table 1, but are rarely or never received 

from primary or secondary care. If referrals do not have Tier 2 needs that can be 

addressed by Plan B, they may be referred on to CHUMS, Open Door (in Ivel Valley 

only), Relate, MIND or SEPT. There is currently no waiting list for the Plan B service. 

The service is commissioned by Central Bedfordshire Council and Public Health until 

2014. 

SEPT – Early Intervention Looked After Children’s Service 

The only Tier 1 or 2 service delivered by SEPT is the early intervention looked after 

children’s service (all other CAMHS services are tier 3). 

This is a Tier 2 service for young people aged 0-18 years delivered by South Essex 

Partnership Trust (SEPT) and which operates across Central Bedfordshire. Support 

is provided to families and children for up to 16 weeks (although timescales are 

flexible). Services provided include art therapy, nursing support and play therapy. It 

Agenda Item 13
Page 107



 

- 34 - 

is planned that Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services will be 

introduced to this service later this year.  

The service frequently receives referrals from organisations such as the local 

authority, school nurses and primary care. Referrals are rarely or never received 

from secondary care or the voluntary sector. Individuals are not currently able to self-

refer into this service; however self-referrals may be introduced later in the year as 

part of the introduction of IAPT. There is currently no waiting list for the service.  

Placement breakdown is a common reason why young people present to this 

service, as well as issues such as anxiety, depression, ADHD and conduct 

disorders. Many of the children using this service are complex cases and risky and 

anti-social behaviours are common.  

The service is commissioned jointly between Bedford Borough and Central 

Bedfordshire Councils until 2014. There were 61 direct contacts in Central 

Bedfordshire in quarter 1 of 2013, with a total caseload of 18 young people in this 

period. The service is new and has only been in operation since April 2013.  

As this is a new service that commenced in 2013, no outcomes data will be available 

until late 2013 (October onwards). 

Relate Bedfordshire and Luton 

Relate offer Tier 2 short term counselling services to young people and families 

across Central Bedfordshire. Services are provided by trained counsellors. These 

are: 

· Talktime young people’s counselling  

This is one to one counselling for 10-21 year olds which is delivered face to face in a 

number of venues across Central Bedfordshire, free of charge to the young person. 

Up to 6 sessions are delivered and common mental health issues dealt with include 

anxiety and anger. Additional sessions can be delivered if a clinical decision is 

recommended. The majority of referrals to Relate are self-referrals however referrals 

to the service can also be made by professionals (e.g. teacher, local authority worker 

etc.) by ringing Relate.  

Talktime is commissioned by Central Bedfordshire Council until April 2014. 

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) also commission Talktime in 

Leighton Buzzard. This service is primarily for Leighton Buzzard residents (90%) and 

GPs can refer to this service, or self referrals can be received. The Leighton Buzzard 

service is commissioned for 6 hours per week by BCCG. 

 8 middle/upper schools in Central Bedfordshire also commission Talktime directly, 

which means the service is accessible to pupils at those schools for between 2 to 6 

hours per week at the school location. In 2012/13, 440 clients were seen by Talktime 

in Central Bedfordshire. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 108



 

- 35 - 

Young people are referred on to Tier 3 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

if they have more severe mental health needs or to safeguarding services if there are 

safeguarding issues. No areas for improvement in the referrals process were 

identified.  

· Family counselling 

This service is commissioned by Central Bedfordshire Council until April 2014 and 

consists of short term counselling sessions for young people together with their 

families to address the family and young person’s tier 2 mental health issues.  

Referrals for family counselling and Talktime are via the early help (CAF) process. 

Clients can self-refer and a early help (CAF) form will be completed with the 

permission of the client(s). 75 families received family counselling in 2012/13 in 

Central Bedfordshire.  

Relate nationally also offer a range of online support and on-line chat resources to 

support young people and families 

· Education and learning services 

Commissioned directly by schools and organisations and previous workshops have 

included delivering e.g. anti-bullying training to staff. 

SORTED 

Sorted is a Tier 2 service for young people aged 18-25, which operates across 

Central Bedfordshire. SORTED deliver emotional health and wellbeing support, 

which may include object therapy or cognitive behavioural therapy. 

Referrals can be from a range of sources including primary care, self-referral or 

education. The most common method of referral is from a GP. 

SORTED also deliver a service for young people aged 5-13 in Central Bedfordshire 

who have been affected by Domestic Violence. Referral to this service is via the 

early help (CAF). 

In addition to this, SORTED deliver an early intervention and wellbeing service 

across Central Bedfordshire. Referrals to this service are through the early help 

(Common Assessment Framework - CAF). Relate and SORTED deliver 900 hours 

annually of this service in Central Bedfordshire (450 of these delivered by SORTED). 

Common presenting issues to SORTED’s mental health service include Obsessive 

Compulsive Disorder, anxiety/panic attacks, depression, eating disorders, self-harm, 

bullying/domestic violence and anger. 

SORTED’s domestic violence service and early intervention service deliver 12 weeks 

of support. In addition to this, SORTED’s mental health service delivers on average 9 

weeks of support to an individual however the number of sessions is open ended 

(e.g. no cut-off after a specific number of sessions).  

Agenda Item 13
Page 109



 

- 36 - 

SORTED are commissioned by Bedfordshire CCG. The domestic violence service is 

commissioned by Central Bedfordshire Council. 

Hear 2 Listen 

Hear 2 Listen is a Tier 2 service, for 11-25 year olds across Central Bedfordshire, 

which provides a young people’s counselling service. Anxiety, depression, ADHD, 

conduct disorder and emotional disorders are all common reasons for people 

presenting to Hear 2 Listen. Other common presenting issues include low self-

esteem, difficulty with relationships (personal and educational), eating disorders, 

self-harm, abuse, lack of confidence and substance misuse. Hear 2 Listen also run 

workshops and support groups for young people to help raise awareness and 

increase support on a variety of issues including addiction, understanding addiction 

within the home, self-esteem, confidence and relationships. 

Hear 2 Listen operates mostly 9am to 5pm during the week, but is able to offer some 

services during the evenings and at weekends. The service is based in Biggleswade, 

but also operates from some schools in Central Bedfordshire. 

Referrals to Hear 2 Listen are most commonly received by education; however self-

referrals and school nurse referrals are also common. Referrals are uncommon or 

rare from CAMHS, the local authority, voluntary sector, primary or secondary care. 

There is a waiting list for the service of no more than 6 weeks. Hear 2 Listen have 

not yet needed to refer on to other organisations as they operate across multiple 

tiers.  

Hear 2 Listen is currently funded on an on-going basis from a variety of sources e.g. 

trusts, grants and local contributions, however there are currently no local 

commissions. Between 50 and 100 referrals were received in Central Bedfordshire 

during 2012/13. 

Brook 

Brook delivers a planned programme of 4-6 one-to-one interventions for young 

people who have been identified as exhibiting potentially risky sexual behaviours. 

Service aims: 

· To provide information, support and opportunities to young people 

· To provide appropriate evidence strategies for reducing unintended teenage 

pregnancies 

· To identify the societal, community and family level factors that may influence 

the young person’s routes to early parenthood and supporting them to 

overcome individual barriers 

· To provide accurate , up-to-date, objective information about personal and 

lifestyle issues, learning and career opportunities, progression routes, 

choices, where to find help and advice and how to access it 

Agenda Item 13
Page 110



 

- 37 - 

· To develop young people’s resilience as a means of reducing the risk factors 

associated with early parenthood 

· For the provider to work collaboratively with local services to address the 

multiple factors associated with teenage pregnancy 

 

Appendix 3: Evidence base 

NICE Best Practice for social and emotional wellbeing in children and 

adolescents  

Social and emotional wellbeing provides the building block for healthy behaviours 

and educational attainment. It also helps prevent behavioural problems and mental 

illness. The following tables summarise NICE recommendations about emotional 

health and wellbeing and specific mental health conditions.    

Table taken from the NHS Bedfordshire Mental Health Assessment (2012) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Promoting social and emotional wellbeing in schools (NICE) 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 111



 

- 38 - 

Social and emotional wellbeing: early 
years NICE PHG 40 (October 2012) 

1. Ensure social and emotional 
wellbeing of vulnerable children 
features in the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and JSNA and 
informs integrated commissioning of 
universal and targeted services for 
children under 5 – including GP’s, 
maternity, health visiting and early 
years providers 

2. Early years and health 
professionals should identify 
vulnerable children and assess 
need by building trusting 
relationships with vulnerable 
families and identify risk factors e.g. 
using the early years foundation 
stage assessment process 

3. Health visitors and midwives should 
offer a series of intensive home 
visits for vulnerable children and 
families 

4. Children’s services should ensure 
all vulnerable children can benefit 
from high quality childcare and take 
up their entitlement to early 
childhood education where 
appropriate 

5. Health and early years providers 
should pit systems in place to 
deliver integrated universal and 
targeted services to support 
vulnerable children, involving 
parents and encouraging vulnerable 
parents to use early years services 
  

 
Universal/Tier 1 
 

Promoting children’s social and 
emotional wellbeing in primary 
education NICE PHG12 (2008) 

1. Ensure all primary schools adopt a 
whole school approach and work 
with local CAMHS to support a 
“stepped care” approach to prevent 
and manage mental health 
problems  

2. Develop a programme to develop 
children’s social and emotional skills 
including: 

· a curriculum that develops 

 
 
Universal/Tier 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 112



 

- 39 - 

social and emotional skills 
across all subject areas and 
integrated activities to 
support development of skills 
e.g. assemblies, homework 

· Training and development for 
teachers to deliver curriculum 
and manage behaviour  

· Support for parents to 
develop parenting skills 

3. Ensure teachers/practitioners are 
trained to identify and assess early 
signs of anxiety, emotional distress 
and behavioural problems and use 
the CAF process where appropriate 

4. Provide a range of interventions 
including problem-focused group 
sessions delivered by specialists 
and parenting sessions alongside. 

 
 
 
 

Tier 1-2 

Social and emotion wellbeing in 
secondary education NICE PHG 20 
(2009) 

1. Secondary education settings to 
take an organisation-wide approach 
to promote the social and emotional 
wellbeing of young people 

2. Schools to ensure social and 
emotional wellbeing features within 
plans, policies, activities and an 
ethos of mutual respect is 
promoted. 

3. Ensure young people have access 
to pastoral support and specialist 
services 

4. Integrate social and emotional skills 
across the curriculum to promote 
positive behaviours and successful 
relationships and reduce bullying 
etc. Reinforce learning through 
extra curricular activities e.g. 
homework, voluntary work 

5. Work in partnership with 
parents/carers and help develop 
parenting skills where appropriate 

6. Work in partnership with young 
people to give them to the 
opportunity to contribute to decision 
making and build relationships e.g. 
through peer education 

7. Integrate social and emotional 

 
 
Universal/Tier 1 

Agenda Item 13
Page 113



 

- 40 - 

 

 

 

 

 

Conduct Disorders 

NICE Parent-
training/education 
programmes in 
the management 
of children with 
conduct 
disorders TA102 
(2006) 

Parenting programmes 

(for children under 12 

years old). Evidence 

based and ideally last 8-

12 sessions. Some 

evidence for individual 

interventions to help 

with coping skills and 

problems solving in 

adolescents. 

Tier 1/2 

 

Emotional disorders 

NICE 
Depression 
in children 
and young 
people : 
identification 
and 
management 
in primary, 
community 
and 
secondary 
care CG28 
(2005) 

Mild depression can be 
treated at tier 1 or 2 with 
psychological 
interventions for 2-3 
months (if not improved 
after 4 weeks of watchful 
waiting).  Include 
individual non-directive 
supportive therapy, group 
CBT or guided self-help. 
 
Referral to specialist 
services is suggested if 
not improved. 
Psychological therapies 
are also appropriate 
therapy for anxiety 
problems. 

 
Tier 1/2/3 

wellbeing within the training and 
continual professional development 
of practitioners and governors 

Agenda Item 13
Page 114



 

- 41 - 

 

 

Hyperkinetic Disorders 

NICE 

Attention 

deficit 

hyperactivity 

disorder: 

Diagnosis 

and 

management 

of ADHD in 

children, 

young people 

and adults 

CG72 (2008) 

Watchful waiting up to 10 

weeks or offering a referral 

to a parent-

training/education 

programme considered if 

suspected ADHD is having 

an adverse impact on 

development or family life.  

 

For young people with 

moderate levels of 

impairment a group parent-

training/education 

programme, either on its 

own or together with a 

group treatment 

programme, CBT and/or 

social skills training, for the 

child or young person. 

Tier 2/3 

 

Developmental Disorders 

NICE 
Autism in 
children and 
young 
people 
CG128 
(2011) 

Local pathway for 

recognition, referral and 

diagnostic assessment of 

possible autism. ‘Autism 

team’ to be set up. Single 

point of referral to autism 

team.  Behavioural 

interventions to address a 

wide range of specific 

behaviours in children and 

young people, to reduce 

symptom frequency and 

severity, increase 

development of adaptive 

skills. 

 

Tier 2/3 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 115



 

- 42 - 

Eating Disorders 

NICE Eating 
disorders 
CG9 (2004) 

People with suspected 
anorexia nervosa should 
be referred to specialist 
care immediately.  
 
Those with suspected 
bulimia can be managed 
with an evidence-based 
self-help programme.  
 
Adolescents can be 
appropriately managed 
with cognitive behavioural 
therapy but will normally 
need 16-20 sessions over 
4-5 months 

 
Tier 1/2/3 

 

 

 

Self - Harm 

NICE Self 
Harm 
CG16 
(2004) 

Referral for further 

treatment and help should 

be based upon a 

comprehensive psychiatric, 

psychological and social 

assessment, including an 

assessment of risk, it 

should not be determined 

solely on the basis of self-

harming. 

Tier 1/2/3 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 116



 

- 
4

3
 -

 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 4
: 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 d

a
ta

 

P
ro

v
id

e
r 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 d

a
ta

 
T

re
n

d
s
 i

n
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

/R
e
fe

rr
a

l 
d

a
ta

 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 
G

a
p

s
/C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 

C
H

U
M

S
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

C
h
a

n
g
e

 i
n

 S
D

Q
 s

c
o

re
, 

a
n

n
u

a
l 
a
u

d
it
 

·
 

N
o
t 

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 a

n
a

ly
s
e

d
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

C
 

 
  

  
  
 

N
e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

M
o

n
th

ly
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 

d
a

ta
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 e

tc
. 

·
 

R
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 s

te
p
p

e
d

 u
p

/d
o

w
n

 
to

 C
A

M
H

S
 T

ie
r 

3
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 
b

u
t 
n

o
t 
b

y
 B

B
/C

B
 

           

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

(S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

2
-M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

3
) 

E
M

S
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 

·
 

M
e

a
n

 S
D

Q
 s

c
o

re
s
 f
o

r 
th

e
 e

m
o
ti
o

n
a

l 
w

e
llb

e
in

g
 (

E
M

S
) 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 (

p
re

/p
o

s
t 

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o
n

)d
e

c
re

a
s
e

d
 f

ro
m

 1
8

 t
o

 1
5

 
(c

o
h

o
rt

 1
) 

a
n

d
 1

8
 t

o
 1

6
 (

c
o
h

o
rt

 2
) 

·
 

T
h
e

 m
e

a
n

 p
re

 S
D

Q
 s

c
o

re
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 ‘
a
b

n
o

rm
a

l’ 
ra

n
g
e

 (
1
7

-
4

0
),

 w
h

ile
 t

h
e

 m
e
a

n
 p

o
s
t 

S
D

Q
 s

c
o

re
 i
s
 c

la
s
s
if
ie

d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

‘r
a

is
e
d

’ 
ra

n
g
e

 (
1
4

-1
7

) 

·
 

T
h
e

 m
a

jo
ri
ty

 o
f 

re
d
u

c
ti
o

n
 m

a
d
e

 o
n

 t
h

e
 S

D
Q

 w
a

s
 f

o
r 

th
o

s
e
 w

h
o

 r
e
c
e

iv
e

d
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 2

 a
n

d
 6

 s
e

s
s
io

n
s
 

·
 

O
ld

e
r 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

ls
 s

h
o

w
e
d

 g
re

a
te

r 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e
n

ts
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

re
a

tm
e

n
t,

 a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
 m

a
y
 b

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

e
tt
e

r 
p

e
rc

e
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 d

if
fi
c
u

lt
ie

s
 

·
 

R
e
la

ti
o

n
s
h

ip
s
 s

h
o

w
e

d
 t

h
e

 m
o

s
t 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 
o

n
 S

D
Q

 
s
c
o

re
s
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 t

re
a

tm
e
n

t,
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
s
m

 a
n
d

 l
o
w

 m
o

o
d

 
m

a
k
in

g
 t

h
e

 l
e
a

s
t 

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 

·
 

In
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 r
e
s
u
lt
e

d
 i
n

 l
a

rg
e

r 
d
e

c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n

 S
D

Q
 

s
c
o

re
s
 t

h
a

n
 g

ro
u

p
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 

·
 

In
 g

ro
u

p
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
, 
b

e
h
a

v
io

u
r 

d
if
fi
c
u

lt
ie

s
 f
o

llo
w

e
d

 b
y
 

a
n

x
ie

ty
 s

h
o

w
e

d
 t

h
e

 b
ig

g
e

s
t 

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

s
 i
n

 S
D

Q
 s

c
o

re
 

·
 

W
h
e
n
 c

o
m

p
a

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 s
c
o

re
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 S

D
Q

 a
u
d

it
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

1
2

 A
u
d

it
, 
th

e
 T

o
ta

l 
D

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 S

c
o

re
 h

a
s
 

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
 f

ro
m

 1
6

 t
o
 1

8
. 
T

h
is

 s
u

g
g
e

s
ts

 t
h

a
t 

C
H

U
M

S
 i
s
 

n
o

w
 d

e
a

lin
g
 w

it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n
 m

o
re

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

p
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 

is
s
u
e

s
 t

h
a

n
 i
n
 t

h
e

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a

r 

·
 

O
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 d

a
ta

 n
o

t 
c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 
m

o
n
th

ly
 w

it
h

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 r
e
p
o

rt
 

·
 

O
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 d

a
ta

 s
p

ilt
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

 i
s
 n

o
t 

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
/r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

  

·
 

O
n

ly
 n

o
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 
a

c
c
e

p
te

d
 i
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 
b

y
 B

B
/C

B
C

 

·
 

A
ll 

o
th

e
r 

re
fe

rr
a

l/
p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s
u
e

 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 i
s
 

re
p

o
rt

e
d

 m
o
n

th
ly

 b
u

t 
n

o
t 
b

ro
k
e

n
 d

o
w

n
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

C
 

·
 

P
o

s
tc

o
d

e
 l
e

v
e

l 
d
a

ta
 i
s
 

c
o

lle
c
te

d
 f

o
r 

re
fe

rr
a

l 
d

a
ta

 s
o

 i
t 

w
o

u
ld

 b
e

 
p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t
o

 r
e
p

o
rt

 t
h

is
 

b
y
 B

B
/C

B
C

 i
n
 f

u
tu

re
 

·
 

P
ro

v
id

e
r 

k
e
e

n
 t
o

 
c
o

lla
b

o
ra

te
 i
n

 f
u

tu
re

 t
o
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
d

e
v
e

lo
p

 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 117



 

- 
4

4
 -

 

              
N

e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

M
o

n
th

ly
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 

d
a

ta
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 e

tc
. 

·
 

R
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 s

te
p
p

e
d

 u
p

/d
o

w
n

 
to

 C
A

M
H

S
 T

ie
r 

3
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 
b

u
t 
n

o
t 
b

y
 B

B
/C

B
 

 

 R
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 (

J
a

n
u

a
ry

-J
u

ly
 2

0
1

3
):

 
E

M
S

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 

·
 

N
u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

m
o
n

th
ly

 r
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 r

e
c
e

iv
e

d
 r

a
n

g
e

d
 f

ro
m

 6
4

 t
o

 
1

3
5

, 
w

it
h

 v
e

ry
 f

e
w

 i
n

a
p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 r

e
fe

rr
a

ls
 (

w
h

e
re

 
e

lig
ib

ili
ty

 c
ri
te

ri
a

 a
re

 n
o
t 

m
e

t)
 

·
 

A
p

p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 t

w
o

 t
h

ir
d

s
 (

5
6

%
 t
o

 8
4

.6
%

) 
o
f 

th
e

 m
o

n
th

ly
 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 a

c
c
e
p

te
d

 t
o
 t

h
e

 E
M

S
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

e
re

 f
ro

m
 C

B
 

a
n

d
 o

n
e
 t

h
ir
d

 f
ro

m
 B

B
 

·
 

B
e

h
a

v
io

u
r 

is
s
u
e

s
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

n
g
e

r,
 a

g
g
re

s
s
io

n
 a

n
d

 
c
o

n
d
u

c
t)

 a
n
d

 a
n

x
ie

ty
 w

e
re

 t
h
e

 m
o

s
t 

c
o

m
m

o
n

 p
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 

is
s
u
e

s
, 

w
it
h

 d
e

p
re

s
s
io

n
 a

ls
o
 b

e
in

g
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 

·
 

G
P

s
, 

p
a

re
n

t/
c
a

re
r 

a
n

d
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
a

re
 t

h
e

 m
o

s
t 

c
o
m

m
o

n
 

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 

·
 

T
h
o

s
e

 u
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 E

M
S

 w
e

re
 m

o
s
t 

c
o
m

m
o

n
ly

 a
g
e

d
 5

- 1
5

 
y
e

a
rs

 

·
 

T
h
e

re
 w

a
s
 a

n
 a

p
p

ro
x
im

a
te

 5
0

:5
0

 s
p

lit
 o

f 
m

a
le

s
/f

e
m

a
le

s
 

u
s
in

g
 t

h
e

 E
M

S
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 

·
 

T
h
e

 m
a

jo
ri
ty

 o
f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 w

e
re

 W
h
it
e

 B
ri
ti
s
h

 

·
 

W
a
it
 t

im
e

 a
v
e

ra
g
e

 f
o

r 
1

:1
 a

p
p
o

in
tm

e
n

ts
 r

a
n

g
e

d
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 

8
 a

n
d

 1
2

 w
e

e
k
s
 d

u
ri
n

g
 t

h
is

 p
e

ri
o

d
 (

w
a

it
in

g
 l
is

t 
o
f 

7
4

-1
0
3

 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

) 

·
 

In
 2

0
1

3
, 

C
H

U
M

S
 r

e
c
e

iv
e

d
 m

o
re

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 d

e
m

a
n

d
 

(r
e

fe
rr

a
ls

) 
th

a
n

 t
h

e
y
 w

e
re

 c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

(a
c
ro

s
s
 C

B
+

B
B

 c
o
m

b
in

e
d

).
 E

.g
. 

J
a

n
- A

p
ri
l 
2

0
1

3
 C

H
U

M
S

 
w

e
re

 c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

d
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 t

h
e

 E
W

S
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 f

o
r 

2
6

4
 

p
e

o
p

le
, 

b
u

t 
th

e
 a

c
tu

a
l 
n

u
m

b
e

r 
d

e
liv

e
re

d
 w

a
s
 3

5
8

 
B

e
re

a
v
e

m
e

n
t 

s
e

rv
ic

e
: 

R
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 (

J
a

n
u

a
ry

-J
u

ly
 2

0
1

3
):

 

to
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 n
e

e
d

 e
tc

. 

·
 

F
o
r 

2
0

%
 o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

 p
o

s
t 

in
te

rv
e

n
ti
o

n
 S

D
Q

 
s
c
o

re
 w

a
s
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 (

e
.g

. 
n

o
n

 
re

tu
rn

 o
f 

q
u

e
s
ti
o

n
n
a

ir
e

) 
                 

·
 

O
u

tc
o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
ra

p
y
 

n
o

t 
re

p
o

rt
e
d

 o
n

 
m

o
n
th

ly
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
re

p
o

rt
 

·
 

D
a
ta

 n
o

t 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 b

y
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 118



 

- 
4

5
 -

 

·
 

N
u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

m
o
n

th
ly

 r
e
fe

rr
a

ls
 r

e
c
e

iv
e

d
 r

a
n

g
e

d
 f

ro
m

 2
7

 t
o

 
4

6
, 

w
it
h

 b
e
tw

e
e

n
 a

 q
u
a

rt
e
r 

a
n
d

 a
 t

h
ir
d

 o
f 

th
e
s
e

 b
e

in
g
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 c
h

ild
re

n
 (

a
p
p

ro
x
im

a
te

ly
 7

0
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

p
e

ri
o

d
) 

·
 

T
h
e

 m
a

jo
ri
ty

 o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 w

e
re

 f
ro

m
 s

c
h
o

o
ls

 

·
 

A
 s

m
a

ll 
n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 w

e
re

 f
ro

m
 G

P
s
 a

n
d

 h
e

a
lt
h
 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

ls
, 
b

u
t 
a

 v
e

ry
 s

m
a

ll 
n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 w

e
re

 
fr

o
m

 C
A

M
H

S
 o

r 
s
o
c
ia

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

·
 

B
e

tw
e

e
n

 8
3

%
 a

n
d

 9
6
%

 o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 w

e
re

 c
o

n
ta

c
te

d
 

w
it
h

in
 3

 d
a

y
s
 

B
B

/C
B

 a
p

a
rt

 f
ro

m
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
  

  

C
A

M
H

S
 

T
ie

r 
2
 

L
o

o
k
e

d
 

a
ft

e
r 

c
h

ild
re

n
 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

N
o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

·
 

W
ill

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 I
A

P
T

 o
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 S

D
Q

 s
c
o

re
 

 N
e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

M
o

n
th

ly
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 

d
a

ta
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 e

tc
. 

·
 

R
e
fe

rr
a

l 
d

a
ta

 b
ro

k
e

n
 d

o
w

n
 

b
y
 B

e
d
fo

rd
 B

o
ro

u
g
h

 a
n

d
 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

s
 a

n
d

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 

re
fe

rr
a

l 
s
o

u
rc

e
, 
a

g
e

, 
e

th
n

ic
it
y
, 

d
is

c
h
a

rg
e

 
d

e
s
ti
n
a

ti
o

n
 e

tc
. 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

N
o

t 
a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 
 R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
: 

·
 

T
o
ta

l 
c
a

s
e

lo
a
d

 n
u

m
b

e
rs

 i
n

 Q
1

 2
0
1

3
 w

e
re

 1
8
 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

B
e

d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 (
6
1

 d
ir
e

c
t 
c
o

n
ta

c
ts

) 

·
 

S
o

c
ia

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 w

a
s
 b

y
 f

a
r 

th
e

 l
a

rg
e

s
t 

re
fe

rr
e

r 
to

 t
h

is
 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 

·
 

7
5

%
 (

C
e

n
tr

a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

) 
o
f 

fi
rs

t 
c
o
n

ta
c
t 

to
 c

lie
n

ts
 w

a
s
 

w
it
h

in
 4

 w
e

e
k
s
 o

f 
in

it
ia

l 
c
o

n
ta

c
t 

 

·
 

P
o

s
tc

o
d

e
 l
e

v
e

l 
d
a

ta
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 o

n
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 

·
 

N
o
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 d

a
ta

 w
ill

 
b

e
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 f
o

r 
th

is
 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

n
ti
l 
a
ft

e
r 

q
u

a
rt

e
r 

2
 l
a

te
r 

in
 2

0
1
3

 
(p

o
s
t 

O
c
to

b
e

r)
 a

s
 i
t 

is
 

a
 n

e
w

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 

·
 

O
n

ly
 1

 q
u

a
rt

e
r’
s
 

re
fe

rr
a

l 
d

a
ta

 a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

s
o

 f
a

r,
 s

o
 t

o
o

 e
a

rl
y
 t

o
 

id
e

n
ti
fy

 t
re

n
d

s
  

·
 

P
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 n

o
t 

re
c
o

rd
e

d
 o

n
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 r
e
p
o

rt
s
 

 

R
e
la

te
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

O
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 n

o
t 
re

p
o

rt
e

d
 f

o
r 

B
B

/C
B

 s
e
p

a
ra

te
ly

 e
x
c
e

p
t 

fo
r 

o
n

 s
p

e
c
if
ic

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

 

·
 

T
a

lk
ti
m

e
 a

n
d
 F

a
m

ily
 c

o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 c

lie
n

t 
fe

e
d

b
a

c
k
 i
n

 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 s
h

o
w

e
d

 a
n

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

w
e

llb
e

in
g
 o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

 f
o

llo
w

in
g
 t

h
e

ir
 c

o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
  

·
 

P
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 o

r 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 d

a
ta

 n
o

t 
c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 

c
o

lla
te

d
/a

n
a

ly
s
e

d
 b

y
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 119



 

- 
4

6
 -

 

w
h

e
re

 e
.g

. 
c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

d
 

o
n

ly
 b

y
 C

B
 

 
N

e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

N
o
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 a
v
a

ila
b

le
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

 s
e
p

a
ra

te
ly

 

·
 

P
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

in
fo

 n
o

t 
g
e

n
e

ra
lly

 r
e
p

o
rt

e
d

 
s
e

p
a

ra
te

ly
 f

o
r 

B
B

/C
B

  

·
 

T
a

lk
ti
m

e
/f
a
m

ily
 c

o
u

n
s
e
lli

n
g
 

fu
n

d
e

d
 b

y
 C

B
C

: 
m

a
in

 
p

re
s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 w

e
re

: 
a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 c

o
p

e
 w

it
h

 
p

ro
b

le
m

s
, 

s
tr

e
s
s
/w

o
rr

y
/a

n
x
ie

ty
 a

n
d

 
re

la
ti
o
n

s
h

ip
s
 

·
 

B
e
fo

re
 c

o
u
n

s
e

lli
n
g
 4

2
%

 f
e

lt
 b

a
d

 a
b
o

u
t 

is
s
u

e
s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 

re
la

ti
o
n

s
h

ip
s
, 

s
tr

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 a
n

g
e

r 
w

h
e

re
a

s
 1

%
 f
e

lt
 b

a
d

 
a

b
o
u

t 
th

e
s
e
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 f
o

llo
w

in
g
 c

o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g

 
 N

e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 i

s
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

F
ig

u
re

s
 f

o
r 

C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e
 f

u
n
d

e
d

 w
o

rk
 (

o
n

e
 

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t 
fa

m
ily

 c
o

u
n

s
e

lli
n

g
 a

n
d

 t
a

lk
ti
m

e
) 

s
u

g
g

e
s
t 

a
b

ili
ty

 
to

 c
o
p

e
 w

it
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 f
o

llo
w

e
d

 b
y
 s

tr
e
s
s
/w

o
rr

y
/a

n
x
ie

ty
 

a
n

d
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
s
h

ip
s
 a

re
 t
h

e
 m

o
s
t 
fr

e
q
u

e
n
t 

p
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 

is
s
u
e

s
 

·
 

H
ig

h
e

r 
n
u

m
b
e

rs
 o

f 
fa

m
ili

e
s
 u

s
e

 T
a

lk
ti
m

e
 a

n
d
 f
a

m
ily

 
c
o

u
n

s
e

lli
n
g
 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 t
h

a
n

 B
e
d
fo

rd
 

B
o

ro
u

g
h
 

C
B

/B
B

 a
s
 

c
o

n
tr

a
c
ts

/f
u

n
d

in
g
 a

re
 

fr
o
m

 a
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

 

4
Y

P
 U

K
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 
in

 s
c
o

re
s
 o

n
 

a
n

 “
o
p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y
 w

h
e

e
l”
 a

n
d

 
o

n
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

 s
o
ft

 s
k
ill

s
 e

.g
. 

s
e

lf
-e

s
te

e
m

, 
c
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

 
a

n
d

 m
o
ti
v
a

ti
o

n
 a

re
 c

a
p
tu

re
d

 
fo

r 
s
p
e

c
if
ic

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
/p

ro
je

c
ts

 
d

e
liv

e
re

d
  

 N
e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

N
o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

 

·
 

T
h
e

 i
n

te
n

s
iv

e
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 i
n
 C

e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 
(1

9
 o

f 
2

1
 c

lie
n

ts
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 e

v
a

lu
a

ti
o
n

) 
s
h
o

w
e

d
 a

 5
2
.6

%
 

in
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n
 a

re
a

s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 f

e
e

lin
g
s
, 

m
o

ti
v
a

ti
o

n
, 

c
o

n
fi
d
e

n
c
e

 a
n
d

 f
e
e

lin
g
s
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

 o
f 

c
o

u
n

s
e

lli
n
g
  

 
 

·
 

G
ro

u
p

 m
e
n

to
ri
n

g
 i
n

 C
e
n

tr
a

l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 i
n

 J
a

n
u
a

ry
 –

 
M

a
y
 2

0
1

3
 (

7
 a

tt
e

n
d
e

e
s
) 

s
h
o

w
e

d
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 s
o
ft

 s
k
ill

s
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 a

n
 8

0
%

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 
in

 s
e

lf
-e

s
te

e
m

 a
n
d

 a
 1

4
7

%
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n
 m

o
ti
v
a

ti
o

n
 

 

·
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e
 i
n
fo

 
p

ro
v
id

e
d

 d
id

 n
o

t 
in

c
lu

d
e

 d
a

ta
 o

n
 

p
re

s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
, 

re
fe

rr
a

l 
s
o

u
rc

e
, 

d
is

c
h
a

rg
e

 d
e

s
ti
n

a
ti
o
n

, 
a

g
e

 o
r 

g
e

n
d
e

r 

Agenda Item 13
Page 120



 

- 
4

7
 -

 

·
 

Q
u

a
lit

a
ti
v
e

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 w

e
re

 c
o

lle
c
te

d
 f
o

r 
c
o
u
n

s
e

lli
n
g
 f

o
r 

th
o

s
e
 a

t 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
s
c
h
o

o
l 
e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
 (

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 i
n

 o
n

e
 

s
c
h

o
o

l)
 i
n

 C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
n

d
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 p
o

s
it
iv

e
 

o
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 e

.g
. 

“I
t 
h

e
lp

e
d

 m
e
, 

I’
m

 l
e

s
s
 a

n
g
ry

 a
n

d
 I

 t
a

lk
 t
o

 
p

e
o
p

le
 m

o
re

” 
 

H
e
a

r 
2
 

L
is

te
n
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

E
x
a

c
t 

o
u

tc
o
m

e
 f

ig
u

re
s
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

ila
b

le
 

N
e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

E
x
a

c
t 

fi
g
u

re
s
 n

o
t 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 

b
u

t 
a

ll 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 d
u

e
 t
o

 
p

ro
b

le
m

 b
e

h
a

v
io

u
r 

a
t 

s
c
h

o
o

l 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
: 

·
 

E
x
a

c
t 

fi
g
u

re
s
 n

o
t 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 b

u
t 

a
p

p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 9

5
%

 o
f 

th
o

s
e
 

w
h

o
 a

c
c
e

s
s
e

d
 t
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 s

h
o

w
e

d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e
n

ts
 e

.g
. 

im
p

ro
v
e

d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
re

la
ti
o
n

s
h

ip
s
, 

in
c
re

a
s
e

s
 i
n

 s
e
lf
-e

s
te

e
m

, 
e

m
o
ti
o

n
a

l 
a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
, 
c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 e
d
u

c
a

ti
o
n

a
l 

e
n

g
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
N

e
e

d
: 

·
 

A
ll 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 w

e
re

 f
o

r 
d
is

ru
p

ti
v
e

 b
e

h
a

v
io

u
r 

e
.g

. 
d

if
fi
c
u

lt
y
 w

it
h

 
e

m
o
ti
o

n
a

l 
m

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

(a
n

g
e

r)
, 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
y
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g
 

h
e

a
lt
h

y
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
s
h

ip
s
 o

r 
fo

r 
is

o
la

ti
o
n
 e

.g
. 

a
n

x
ie

ty
, 

la
c
k
 o

f 
c
o

n
fi
d
e

n
c
e

 a
n
d

 l
o

w
 s

e
lf
-e

s
te

e
m

 

·
 

O
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 d

a
ta

, 
b

re
a

k
d
o

w
n

 o
f 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 

d
a

ta
 b

y
 p

re
s
e

n
ti
n

g
 

is
s
u
e

, 
fi
g
u

re
s
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 
s
o

u
rc

e
 a

n
d

 
d

e
s
ti
n
a

ti
o

n
 

O
p

e
n
 

D
o
o

r 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
s
: 

·
 

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 
in

 t
ra

it
s
 s

u
c
h

 
a

s
 h

a
p

p
in

e
s
s
, 

s
e

lf
-

c
o

n
fi
d
e

n
c
e

 a
n
d

 a
b

ili
ty

 t
o

 
s
o

lv
e

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 r

e
c
o

rd
e

d
 

b
e
fo

re
 a

n
d

 a
ft

e
r 

c
o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g
 

a
n

d
 c

a
n

 b
e

 a
n

a
ly

s
e

d
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

 
 N

e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

A
n

a
ly

s
is

 i
s
 b

y
 C

B
/B

B
 

c
o

m
b

in
e

d
 i
n

 e
.g

. 
a

n
n

u
a

l 

·
 

In
 C

e
n
tr

a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

, 
s
e

lf
-c

o
n
fi
d
e
n

c
e

, 
d

e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h

 
p

ro
b

le
m

s
 a

n
d

 h
a

p
p

in
e
s
s
 s

h
o

w
e

d
 t

h
e

 b
ig

g
e

s
t 

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e
n

t 
a
ft

e
r 

c
o

u
n

s
e

lli
n
g
, 

b
u

t 
a

ll 
a

re
a

s
 m

e
a

s
u

re
d
 

(i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
o

o
k
in

g
 t

o
 t
h
e

 f
u

tu
re

, 
a

tt
it
u
d

e
 t
o

 o
th

e
rs

 a
b

ili
ty

 
to

 c
o
p

e
 w

it
h

 l
if
e

 a
n

d
 f
e
e

lin
g
s
 a

b
o

u
t 

y
o

u
rs

e
lf
) 

a
ll 

s
h

o
w

e
d

 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e
n

ts
 a

ft
e

r 
c
o
u

n
s
e

lli
n
g

 

·
 

R
e
fe

rr
a

l 
n

u
m

b
e

rs
 a

n
d

 
p

re
s
e

n
ti
n

g
 i
s
s
u

e
 b

y
 

B
B

/C
B

 
 

Agenda Item 13
Page 121



 

- 
4

8
 -

 

re
p

o
rt

 

P
la

n
 B

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
s
: 

·
 

V
a

ri
o

u
s
 d

e
p
e

n
d

in
g
 o

n
 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
p

ro
je

c
t 
b

u
t 

in
c
lu

d
e

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
d

 
k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e

, 
fe

e
lin

g
 s

a
fe

r,
 

b
e

tt
e

r 
re

la
ti
o
n

s
h

ip
s
 a

n
d

 
q
u

a
lit

y
 m

e
a

s
u

re
s
  

N
e
e

d
(R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
/p

re
s
e
n

ti
n

g
 

is
s

u
e
):

 

·
 

S
p

lit
 b

y
 B

B
/C

B
 

C
A

N
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
e

o
p

le
’s

 t
e
a

m
: 

T
ie

r 
2

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 

·
 

T
h
e

 C
A

N
 y

o
u

n
g
 p

e
o

p
le

’s
 t

e
a
m

 i
n
 C

e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e
 

s
a

w
 3

0
 y

o
u

n
g
 p

e
o
p

le
 i
n

 Q
1

 2
0
1

3
 

·
 

C
a
n

n
a
b

is
 f

o
llo

w
e

d
 b

y
 a

lc
o
h

o
l 
w

e
re

 t
h
e

 m
o

s
t 
c
o

m
m

o
n

 
re

a
s
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
 p

re
s
e

n
ti
n

g
 t
o

 C
A

N
 (

in
 Q

1
) 

·
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 w

e
re

 m
o
s
t 

lik
e

ly
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
le

 a
n
d
 W

h
it
e

 
B

ri
ti
s
h

 

·
 

U
n
iv

e
rs

a
l 
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o
n

 f
o

llo
w

e
d

 b
y
 a

 r
e
la

ti
v
e

 w
e

re
 t

h
e

 
m

o
s
t 

c
o
m

m
o

n
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l 
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

·
 

B
e

tw
e

e
n

 4
0

 a
n

d
 4

5
%

 o
f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

 i
n

 a
re

a
s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 h

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
llb

e
in

g
, 

s
o

c
ia

l 
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 q
u

a
lit

y
 o

f 
lif

e
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
  

·
 

M
a

n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 s
e

e
 v

e
ry

 s
m

a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e

o
p

le
 q

u
a

rt
e
rl
y
, 

m
a

k
in

g
 i
t 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o

 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 t
re

n
d

s
 

·
 

D
a
ta

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 s

e
p
a

ra
te

ly
 f

o
r 

B
B

/C
B

 

·
 

G
o

o
d
 d

a
ta

 a
n

d
 s

p
lit

 b
y
 

C
B

/B
B

 

·
 

G
o

o
d
 q

u
a

lit
a

ti
v
e

 
fe

e
d
b

a
c
k
 c

a
p

tu
re

d
 

·
 

N
o
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
a

n
a

ly
s
is

/c
o

m
p

ila
ti
o

n
 o

f 
d

a
ta

 f
o

r 
tr

e
n

d
 a

n
a

ly
s
is

 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 a

s
 f
a

r 
a
s
 

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

r 
a

w
a

re
 

(d
a

ta
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o

n
 

q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y
) 

 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 5
: 

R
e

fe
re

n
c

e
s

 

·
 

E
g
g
e

r,
 
H

. 
L

. 
a

n
d

 
 
A

n
g
o

ld
, 

A
. 

(2
0
0

6
) 

C
o
m

m
o

n
 
e
m

o
ti
o
n

a
l 

a
n

d
 
b
e

h
a

v
io

u
ra

l 
d

is
o
rd

e
rs

 
in

 
p

re
s
c
h
o

o
l 

c
h

ild
re

n
: 

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

, 

n
o

s
o

lo
g
y
, 

a
n

d
 e

p
id

e
m

io
lo

g
y
. 

J
o

u
rn

a
l 
o
f 

C
h

ild
 P

s
y
c
h

o
lo

g
y
 a

n
d

 P
s
y
c
h

ia
tr

y
, 

4
7

 (
3

-4
),

 3
1

3
–
3

7
. 

·
 

G
re

e
n

, 
H

.,
 M

c
G

in
n

it
y
, 

A
.,

 M
e

lt
z
e

r,
 H

.,
 F

o
rd

, 
T

. 
a

n
d

 G
o
o

d
m

a
n

, 
R

. 
(2

0
0
4

) 
M

e
n

ta
l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u

n
g
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n
 G

re
a

t 

B
ri
ta

in
, 

2
0

0
4
. 

O
ff

ic
e

 f
o

r 
N

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
. 

L
o
n

d
o
n

, 
H

M
S

O
 

·
 

C
H

IM
A

T
 h

tt
p

:/
/a

tl
a

s
.c

h
im

a
t.
o

rg
.u

k
/I

A
S

/p
ro

fi
le

s
/p

ro
fi
le

?
p

ro
fi
le

Id
=

3
4

&
g
e

o
T

y
p

e
Id

=
2

. 
A

c
c
e

s
s
e
d

 0
1
/0

8
/1

3
 

·
 

D
e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t 
o
f 

H
e
a

lt
h
 (

2
0

0
4

) 
C

A
M

H
S

 S
ta

n
d
a

rd
, 

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 f
o

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

, 
Y

o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
n
d

 M
a
te

rn
it
y
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 

L
o

n
d
o

n
. 
D

e
p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
o
f 

H
e
a

lt
h

. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 122



 

- 
4

9
 -

 

·
 

E
g
g
e

r,
 H

. 
L

. 
a

n
d

  
A

n
g
o
ld

, 
A

. 
(2

0
0
6

) 
C

o
m

m
o
n

 e
m

o
ti
o

n
a

l 
a

n
d

 b
e

h
a

v
io

u
ra

l 
d

is
o
rd

e
rs

 i
n

 p
re

s
c
h

o
o

l 
c
h

ild
re

n
: 
p

re
s
e
n

ta
ti
o

n
, 

n
o

s
o

lo
g
y
, 

a
n

d
 e

p
id

e
m

io
lo

g
y
. 

J
o

u
rn

a
l 
o
f 

C
h

ild
 P

s
y
c
h

o
lo

g
y
 a

n
d

 P
s
y
c
h

ia
tr

y
, 

4
7

 (
3

-4
),

 3
1

3
–
3

7
. 

·
 

G
re

e
n

, 
H

.,
 M

c
G

in
n

it
y
, 
A

.,
 M

e
lt
z
e

r,
 H

.,
 F

o
rd

, 
T

. 
a

n
d

 G
o
o

d
m

a
n

, 
R

. 
(2

0
0

4
) 

M
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n

 G
re

a
t 

B
ri
ta

in
, 

2
0

0
4
. 

O
ff

ic
e

 f
o

r 
N

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
. 

L
o
n

d
o
n

, 
H

M
S

O
. 

·
 

K
u

rt
z
, 

Z
. 

(1
9

9
6

) 
T

re
a

ti
n

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 w
e

ll:
 a

 g
u

id
e

 t
o

 u
s
in

g
 t

h
e

 e
v
id

e
n

c
e

 b
a

s
e

 i
n

 c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
a
n

a
g
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 f

o
r 

th
e

 

m
e

n
ta

l 
h
e

a
lt
h

 o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
. 
L

o
n
d

o
n

. 
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a

lt
h
 F

o
u

n
d

a
ti
o
n

. 

·
 

S
in

g
le

to
n

, 
N

.,
 B

u
m

p
s
te

a
d

, 
R

.,
 O

’B
ri
e

n
, 
M

.,
 L

e
e

, 
A

. 
a

n
d

 M
e
lt
z
e

r,
 H

. 
(2

0
0
1

) 
P

s
y
c
h

ia
tr

ic
 m

o
rb

id
it
y
 a

m
o

n
g
 a

d
u

lt
s
 l
iv

in
g
 i
n

 p
ri
v
a

te
 

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
s
, 

2
0

0
0
. 

O
ff

ic
e

 f
o

r 
N

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
. 

L
o
n

d
o
n

. 
H

M
S

O
. 

·
 

Y
o

rk
, 
A

. 
(E

d
) 

(2
0
0

6
) 

B
u

ild
in

g
 a

n
d

 s
u

s
ta

in
in

g
 s

p
e

c
ia

lis
t 

c
h

ild
 a

n
d

 a
d
o

le
s
c
e

n
t 

m
e

n
ta

l 
h
e

a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

C
o

u
n

c
il 

R
e

p
o

rt
 C

R
1

3
7

. 

L
o

n
d

o
n

. 
R

o
y
a

l 
C

o
lle

g
e

 o
f 

P
s
y
c
h

ia
tr

is
ts

.

Agenda Item 13
Page 123



by telephone: 0300 300 8000 
by email:  customer.services@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
on the web: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
Write to Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,  
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ 

Contact us…  

 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 124



Appendix (h) 

1 | P a g e  

 

 

FINAL COPY 

Review of Tier 3 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

(CAMHS) 

 

1. Introduction, Background, Aim and Review Methodology  

Acknowledgement  

Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) would like to take the 

opportunity to thank all those who took part in this process and the time invested to 

make this happen. 

Introduction:   

Definitions of the Tiers of Community adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) 

services can be found below. 

Definitions of Tiers of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services:  

 

Tier 1: Social, emotional and developmental support from professionals outside 

specialist CAMHS, as part of their everyday work that generates resilience and 

prevents mental health problems (e.g. teachers, social workers, SEN workers, 

Health visitors, school nurses and GPs). 

 

Tier 2: Any specialist CAMHS workers using individual professional skills with 

children and families (e.g. primary mental health workers, psychologists and 

counsellors working in community and primary care settings. 

 

Tier 3: Specialist CAMHS workers working in specialist therapeutic teams in 

community mental health clinics or child psychiatry outpatient service ( known 

as  Core CAMHS) 

 

Tier 4: Highly specialist teams working in day and in-patient units providing services 

to children and young people with the most serious problems (this is commissioned 

by National Commissioning Board, specialised commissioning team (SCT). 

 

The tiers are based on the CAMHS four-tier strategic framework, which was laid out 

in 1995 Health Administration System (HAS) and is widely used.    

 

NB From 1st April 2013, the responsibility for commissioning tier 4 services lies with 

the National Commissioning Board, specialised commissioning team. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 125



Appendix (h) 

2 | P a g e  

 

CAMHS are a comprehensive range of services that provide help, assessment and 

treatment to children and young people experiencing emotional or behavioural 

difficulties, or mental health problems, disorders and illnesses. Referral is through 

professionals such as GPs, social workers and educational psychologists. More 

details about CAMHS services can be found elsewhere in this report.  CAMHS 

services are described in tiers, and used to explain the nature of the presenting 

condition and the service received. There are four tiers, tier 1 is described as a 

universal service for children and young people with low level need – tier 4 is used to 

describe very specialist services used by a small number of children and young 

people.  

BCCG commission tiers 2 and 3 CAMHS services, local authority’s commission 

services generally at tiers 1 and 2, whilst NHS England is responsible for 

commissioning specialist services at tier 4.  

In order to inform the development of a revised service specification and model of 

services delivery for tier 3 CAMHS, Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

(BCCG) has undertaken a review of tier 3 CAMHS as currently provided.  This report 

sets out the scope and methodology used to complete the review, and highlights 

findings and recommendations.  

A separate review of Tiers 1 and 2 has been completed by Public Health for both 

local authority areas.  The aim of which was to examine and evaluate the Tier 1 and 

Tier 2 CAMHS service provision in Bedfordshire and identify information to inform 

future commissioning of services. This included collecting service providers and local 

stakeholder’s views on local services, gaps and areas for improvement.  The review 

produced a final report and recommendations presented to the Commissioning 

Officers Group at Bedford Borough Council (BBC) and the Acting Early Group in 

Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC).  A full copy of the findings and 

recommendations from this review are attached in Appendix 1 and 2 of this report.  

The BCCG are members of the review project team in each local authority area.    

This report of the tier 3 review does not intend to repeat the findings and issues 

raised within the Public Health Review but considers appropriate recommendations 

for Tier 3 commissioning and issues to be addressed as part of a potential overall 

strategy for CAMHS across Bedfordshire.   

NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE 

Health outcomes matter to patients and the public.  The White Paper: ‘Liberating the 

NHS’ outlined the Coalition Government’s intention to move the NHS away from 

focusing on process targets to measuring health outcomes. The annual NHS 

Outcomes Framework reflects the White Paper vision and contains a range of 

indicators to provide a balanced coverage of NHS activity. Its purpose is to: 

· provide a national level overview of how well the NHS is performing; 

Agenda Item 13
Page 126



Appendix (h) 

3 | P a g e  

 

· provide an accountability mechanism between the Secretary of State for 

Health and the NHS Commissioning Board for the effective spend of some 

£95 bn of public money; and 

· act as a catalyst for driving up quality throughout the NHS by encouraging a 

change in culture and behaviour.  

LOCAL PERSPECTIVE 

Bedfordshire CCG is developing its vision for Children’s services. This will be based 

on an integrated partnership multi-disciplinary approach to all community based 

services.  This work will reflect NHS England’s and Operating Framework 14/15 

vision of integrated working between health and social care.  Children’s services 

both in and outside our hospitals are also being reviewed and a model will be 

developed to support the vision, which will include the integration of community and 

hospital services. With this in mind it is expected that CAMHS model will be 

developed in line with this approach over the coming months and years to ensure a 

strategic fit within this vision. 

Aims:  

The aim of the review was to ensure that Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning 

Group:- 

· Looks at the needs and intervention required to meet the needs of children 

and young people rather than diagnosis.   

· Looks at the current gaps in service and issues within the delivery of Tier 3 

CAMHS in Bedfordshire and makes recommendations for improvements 

which support the tier 1 and 2 pathway. 

· Focuses on BCCG responsibilities as the lead commissioners of Tier 3 

services.  

· Focuses on availability, location, waiting time, flexibility and staffing of the 

service to children and young people and their family. 

· Enables an effective, seamless patient journey through clear pathway/tiers. 

· Provides continuous improvement and outcome based service specification, 

specifying functions which meet the needs of children and young people with 

a mental health issue in Bedfordshire.  

   

As Commissioners, to deliver outcomes, we need to ensure that these points are 

embedded within our service specifications, quality/performance monitoring and 

management arrangements.   

Background: 

In Bedfordshire, the responsibility for providing tier 3 services is with Bedfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG), who has commissioned South Essex 

Agenda Item 13
Page 127



Appendix (h) 

4 | P a g e  

 

Partnership Trust (SEPT) to deliver these services; working in partnership with local 

authorities and other providers (who deliver tier 1 & 2).  The budget for the tier 3 

CAMHS services commissioned by BCCG is approximately £4.1m for 2013/14 

The Benchmarking Network data released in November 2013 allows us to compare 

data and statistics with other CAMHS provided across England.   The data produced 

makes comparisons across a range of indicators per 100,000 population, 

Bedfordshire has a 0-17 year old population of approximately 100,000.  

Through this comparison, we can directly compare the level of funding the local 

CAMHS services gets with other providers.   The tier 3 CAMHS service 

commissioned in Bedfordshire falls in the top quartile for investment for 0-17yrs for 

100,000 population, i.e. Bedfordshire is in the top 25 %  

The CGG has made this comparison on tier 3 services only – the national 

benchmarking data could include tiers 1 and 2 if covered by the same provider. This 

means that the budget provided to SEPT for tier 3 services per 100,000 could in fact 

be more in comparison than other areas if they have includes other tiers in their 

submission. 

 
Therefore at this stage, it is not envisaged that there will be any further financial 

investment as a result of completing the review, and any changes to services will be 

met within the resource envelope held.  

For 2013/14 SEPT, has been commissioned to deliver 13,233 direct contacts (e.g. 

face-to-face contact or significant consultation with service users/parent) and 1,045 

in-direct contacts (such as consultation with professionals) for tier 3 CAMHS.  

SEPT has included an indicative figure of £40,000 savings in the Cost Improvement 

Plan for 2013/14.    

The BCCG currently commission the following Tier 3 services from SEPT with each 

team/functions having a separate service specification.  These teams are as follows:-  

 

Core CAMHS Team (Tier 3 / Specialist CAMHS) 

The objective of this service is to address the needs of children, young people their 

families and carers presenting with moderate to severe mental health problems by:- 

· Supporting them to develop problem solving skills.   

· Developing parents’ and carers’ ability to manage existing psychological 

problems more effectively. 

· Enhancing children and young people’s coping abilities. 

· Having a positive impact on the child or young person’s resilience to assist 

them manage negative stress more effectively. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 128



Appendix (h) 

5 | P a g e  

 

· Providing evidence based clinical interventions to treat diagnosed Mental 

Health disorders/illnesses, where appropriate. 

The service operates from 9am to 5pm and there are three teams based at the 

Bedford Borough, South and Mid Bedfordshire. 

 

Learning Disability Team 

The objective of this service is to provide an integrated service to children up to the 

age of 18 years, who have a learning disability, complex neuropsychiatric needs 

associated with challenging behavioural problems and moderate to severe mental 

health problems.  The service operates from 9am to 5 pm and the team is based in 

Bedford, but covers Bedfordshire. 

 

Home Treatment Team (HTT)  

The objective of this service is to ensure that young people with a high level of 

mental health needs have access to appropriate and effective treatment and in 

particular to reduce pressure and increase capacity in the current Tier 3 services to 

undertake planned work and reducing the number of CAMHS inpatient bed days 

(Tier 4). It does this by providing a local highly specialist alternative to inpatient 

service for children and young people up to the age of 18.  This includes a focus on:  

· Maintaining young people with severe mental health needs safely within their 

community focusing on a service around the individual and family. 

· Providing intensive evidence-based treatment on an outreach basis and an 

extended service including evenings, weekends and 24 hour on call for crisis 

resolution. 

· Assessing all children and young people who potentially require inpatient 

admission.    

· Facilitating planned early discharge where appropriate. 

· Working closely with other services including the Core specialist CAMHS 

team and education and social care teams using a care pathway approach.  

· Ensuring that high intensive treatment and support is as short term as 

possible with the transfer of services back to the Core specialist services as 

soon as is medically appropriate. 

The service operates from:-  

During weekday normal office hours all elements of the service to be available 

During weekdays 5pm to 10pm provision of home support and an on call service 

Agenda Item 13
Page 129



Appendix (h) 

6 | P a g e  

 

During weekends 9am to 10pm provision of home support and on call service  

There is 24/7 support via a telephone helpline and adult CR/HT 

Tier 2 Services:  

In addition, BCCG also commissions Tier 2 services from a range of providers - 

CHUMS, Relate, Open Door and Sorted.  CHUMS are the largest tier 2 provider 

commissioned by BCCG (they are commissioned to provide interventions to 66 new 

referrals per month).  Further details of all the Tier 2 services commissioned by 

BCCG along with all commissioned services across both tiers 1 and 2, can be found 

in the Public Health report on the findings and recommendations of the review of 

CAMHS Tiers 1 and 2 – at Appendix 1 and 2.   

 

Review Methodology  

There has been input from a range of stakeholders to identify issues with current 

service provision, gaps and areas for improvement. Key steps in the project 

included:  

· An initial scoping meeting with appropriate key stakeholders which included 

local authorities and SEPT. 

· Initial feedback from the Children Young People and Maternity Services 

Programme Board. 

· Summary of information on estimated local need for CAMHS services 

provided by Public Health. 

· Data from service providers including SEPT and CHUMS.  

· Consultation meetings with service providers (SEPT and CHUMS), including 

clinicians, Team and Senior Managers.  

· Discussions with local authority senior managers from Bedford Borough and 

Central Bedfordshire Councils. 

· Benchmarking of other reviews of CAMHS undertaken elsewhere. 

· NHS Benchmarking network information data, November 2013. 

· NICE guidance and recommendations in relation to Tier 3 Mental Health 

Services Guideline -  Referral, Assessment and coordination of care and 

Treatment considerations in all settings to include Psychological 

therapies used in the treatment of children and young people should be 

provided by therapists who are also trained child and adolescent mental 

healthcare professionals.  

· Results of a questionnaire circulated to all GPs and Local Authority Social 

Workers/Children’s Services staff.  (See Appendix 3)  

It is intended that as part of the next phase of the project, service users, parents and 

carers will be consulted on the finding of this report.   

Agenda Item 13
Page 130



Appendix (h) 

7 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

2. Summary of Findings  

2.1 Access 

Needs of the Bedfordshire population: 

Mental Health:-The prevalence estimates for different mental health disorders, 

broken down by age for Bedfordshire are detailed below.  Please note that any child 

may have more than one disorder. (Source ONS 2001.)  

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Emotional Disorders by Age Bands 

Age band 
(years) 
 

Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate (2010-
11) 

National Prevalence in 
2004 

Estimated local 
absolute number* 
(BCCG) 

 Anxiety 
Disorders  

Depressive 
Disorder  

Anxiety 
Disorders  

Depressive 
Disorders  

5-10 yrs old 29500 2.20% 0.20% 649 59 

11-16 yrs old 30,680 4.40% 1.40% 1350 429 

5-16 yrs old 60,180 3.30% 0.90% 1986 541 

 
 

     

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Conduct Disorders by Age Bands 

Age band 
(years) 

Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate 
(2010-11) 

National 
Prevalence 
in 2004 

Estimated 
local 
absolute 
number* 
(Bedford 
Borough) 

Estimated 
local 
absolute 
number* 
(Central 
Bedfordshire) 

Estimated local 
absolute 
number*(BCCG)   
 

5-10 yrs 
old 

29,500 4.90% 549 897 1446  

11-16 yrs 
old 

30,680 6.60% 803 1,222 2025  

5-16 yrs 
old 

60,180  5.80% 1355 2136 3490  

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Hyperkinetic Disorders by Age Bands 

Age band (years)  Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate (2010-11)  

National Prevalence 
in 2004 

Estimated local 
absolute numbers * 

Agenda Item 13
Page 131



Appendix (h) 

8 | P a g e  

 

5-10 yrs old  29,500 1.60% 472 

11-16 yrs old  30,680  1.40% 429 

5-16 yrs old  60,180 1.50%  902 

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Eating Disorders by Age Bands 

Age band 
(years) 

National 
Prevalence 
in 2004 

Estimated 
local 
absolute 
number* 
(Bedford 
Borough)  

Estimated local 
absolute number* 
(Central 
Bedfordshire)  

Estimated local 
absolute number 
(BCCG)*  

5-10 yrs old 0.30% 34 55 89 

11-16 yrs 
old 

0.40% 49 74 123 

5-16 yrs old 0.30% 70 110 180 

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorders by Age 

Bands 

Age band (years) National Prevalence 
in 2004 

Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate (2010-
2011) 

Estimated local 
absolute number 
(BCCG)* 

5-10 yrs old 1.00% 29500 295 

11-16 yrs old 0.80% 30680 245 

5-16 yrs old 0.90%  60180 541 

 

National and Estimated Local Prevalence of Psychotic Disorders  

Age band (years) National Prevalence Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate (2010-
2011) 

Estimated local 
absolute number 
(BCCG)* 

5-18 years  70,460  0.40%  282 

Source: National estimate from NICE, applied to local population estimate 

 Source: Child and Maternity Health Observatory (CHIMAT) Data: Self-harm for 0-17  

Year   CHIMAT Self-harm for 0-17 year  

2010-2011 154 

2011-2012 74 

 

Local Self-harm Data: Numbers of Emergency Admissions for Intentional Self-harm 

for 10-17 year olds (2008-2011) in BCCG 

Year  Intentional Self-harm for 10-17 year olds within BCCG 

2008-2009  71  

2009-2010 70 

2010-2011 100 

Agenda Item 13
Page 132



Appendix (h) 

9 | P a g e  

 

* Estimates are based on local population numbers (rounded figures). National Estimate from Mental Health of Children and 

Young People in Great Britain 2004 

Source: NHS Bedfordshire (Bedfordshire Clinical Commission Group) Mental Health Assessment  

Learning Disabilities: The prevalence estimates for learning disabilities in 
Bedfordshire are detailed below.  Please note that any child may have more than 
one disorder.  
 
The known prevalence rate of a learning disability as defined above is 3% of 
children. Of these 0.3% have a severe learning disability, with a high likeliness of 
complex health needs. There are 700,000 children with disabilities, under the age of 
16, in the UK – this data includes children with physical disabilities who do not have 
a learning disability. (Family Resources Survey, 2002-2003). Of these up to 6,000 
children living at home are dependent on assistive technology (including ventilators 

Age band (years) National Prevalence Bedfordshire 
Population 
Estimate  

Estimated local 
absolute number 
(BCCG)* 

0-18 years  3% 120,360 3611 

 

Prevalence of complex health needs in the population of children with learning 

disabilities is increasing, with an expected increase in levels of severe learning 

disabilities of about 1% per annum, with an overall increase of 10% by 2020. 

Data from SEPT contract management informs us that in April 2012 to March 2013 

SEPT received 2568 referrals, 2030 of these were accepted.    

Currently there is no data outlining the needs of those receiving SEPT services, or 

other Tier 2 services which we provide such as the nature of diagnosis or the 

reasons for receiving CAMHS treatment.   

It is anticipated that the future introduction of Payment By Results and the clustering 

(of needs) processes could be used to identify the number of service users treated, 

allocating each patient to a classification system and agreeing what should be 

provided for people in each cluster. This information could be used to help identify 

the appropriate number of cases within each CAMHS tier.   

From data provided by SEPT – Funding for Core CAMHS is £2.583m and the 

number of contacts per annum for Core CAMHS is 12,440 (2013/14 data).The 

estimated cost per contact is £208 per contact. However the national average is 

£220 per contact.  

 

The cost of tier 2 per contact in Bedfordshire is £95. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 133



Appendix (h) 

10 | P a g e  

 

 

Eligibility Criteria:   

Feedback from SEPT clinicians and senior Managers identified the following as gaps 

within the current commissioning arrangements. This will need continuous service 

development and will be included within the new service specification: 

· Sexualised behaviour (psychosocial assessments and treatment reducing  

harm to others and the community). 

· Eating disorders (early referrals with up to date record of weight, BMI also 

indication if weight lost how much and how quickly also any physical 

investigation and the results thereof etc.).    

· Forensic Service (to address the needs of young people who display anti-

social, high risk and/or offending behaviour e.g. arson etc.).    

· A need for family based interventions and support especially as research 

indicates that many children with a mental health disorder will also have 

parents with mental health issues.  For example, CHUMS data suggests that 

50% of children referred to their emotional health and wellbeing service also 

have a parent with a mental health issue.  

· Paediatric psychology – currently there is only 1 post based at the Luton and 

Dunstable Hospital.  However, it is anticipated that this issue will be picked up 

as part of the review of paediatric services.  

· SEPT( Tier 3) and other Tier 2 providers have also highlighted a rise in the 

number of complex cases, leading to an increase  in-direct work such as 

liaising with social workers. Although the recent withdrawal of Social worker 

posts in SEPT (Bedford Borough) may also be a factor in this issue. In April 

12 to March 13, there was 2042 in-direct contacts with SEPT (16%) compared 

to 12440 (84%) direct contacts.   

· Moving between tiers - this has been consistently raised as an issue. 

Feedback from professionals and stakeholders have emphasised that when 

users do not meet criteria for tier 3 but they need more than 4 sessions, 

where do they go?  There are a significant number of cases referred from tier 

3 to tier 2, which indicates that the pathway is not very clear to those referring 

and those using the services. This is further supported by the recent CAMHS 

Benchmark data.  

· The results of a questionnaire circulated to GPs and Social 

Workers/Children’s Services professionals in both Bedford Borough and 

Central Bedfordshire Council found that referrals are being rejected as 

patients do not meet the threshold for Tier 3 services; this was an important 

issue for professionals. 

· From the recent NHS CAMHS benchmarking data it was apparent that there 

are disproportional national average numbers of medical, clinical psychologist, 

Agenda Item 13
Page 134



Appendix (h) 

11 | P a g e  

 

operational managers, administrational and support workers compared to 

other Trust average. 

The above information tells us that in order to ensure that the needs of children and 

young people are met quickly and smoothly we need to redefine the pathway, review 

the composition and grading of the workforce and possibly reduce the number of 

teams from 3 to 2, supported by up skilled staff and administration to take on and 

support cases with complex needs.  There is also a need to integrate the 3 functions 

in tier 3 into a single service specification, ensuring that services are based on 

intervention required to meet the needs of individuals and not diagnosis.  

Discussions with local authorities suggests that there could be better integration of 

the CAMHS LD team with local authorities and development of  a prioritisation model 

to manage crisis and prevention as well as high cost placements.  These would 

enable evidence based outcomes for young people.  The creation of two teams on 

local authority boundaries will enable this.   

Recommendations:  

· In order to ensure that this need is met and people receive appropriate 

referral and treatment, more work was required by all partners (including local 

authorities) to identify the  actual numbers of cases  required for 

commissioning across all CAMHS tiers (1-3) to meet local need.     

· Develop a new outcome based single service specification for SEPT based on  

meeting the needs identified and not diagnosis including parental support, 

sexualised behaviour, eating disorders, forensic services etc.  

· Redefine Tier 3 and ensure seamless service specification between tiers to 

avoid any gaps. 

· SEPT to review and act upon their workforce, skill mix profile and professional 

training.  

· Need to set the contacts/ activities to reflect the spending, ready for the 

contract variation.  

· Reduce the numbers of Core CAMHS teams from three to two to realign with 

local authority boundaries and integrate CAMH Tier 3 services with provide a 

seamless service for children and young people which reflects their health 

and social care needs. 

  

2.2 Patient Journey: 

BCCG commission tiers 2 and 3 and Local Authorities have responsibility for 

commissioning 1 and 2. The tier 1and 2 review was not able to establish how many 

children and young people fall in tier 1 and 2, therefore we need to look at how many 

cases are and should be should be within the  tiers, and this will need to be done by 

working with partners, including  local authorities  and providers.   

Agenda Item 13
Page 135



Appendix (h) 

12 | P a g e  

 

At present there are many CAMHS providers in tier 2, this can make the journey very 

complicated resulting in users and professionals making referrals to all services, 

including Tier 3. Therefore for referrers and for service users we need to ensure that 

there is a single entry point into CAMHS to allow streamlining, and better co-

ordination in the service users journey.  This is supported by the findings of the 

questionnaires circulated to GPs and Social Workers/Children’s Services.  Common 

themes identified through the responses were focused on: 

· the importance of earlier access to services (such as a reduction in the 

current waiting times);  

· earlier intervention; and 

· a joined up approach across all relevant services (health, social work and 

education/schools) including better communication between agencies at 

different tiers to meet the mental health needs of children and young people.      

It would be beneficial to benchmark service areas looking at a whole tier approach to 

CAMHS as part of developing a strategic and holistic patient journey and developing 

pathways with partners to ensure children and young people get the right treatment 

at the right time. This needs to be embedded into an overall CAMHS strategy for 

Bedfordshire.  

 

Recommendations: 

· Develop a pathway of care across all tiers to ensure coherent patient journey 

across providers and tiers. This should include Tier 4 specialist 

commissioning.  

· Develop a CAMHS strategy across Bedfordshire. 

 

 

2.3 Referrals: 

Against their commissioned target, SEPT is currently over performing. Data provided 

by SEPT clearly identifies that the number of referrals accepted is the same as the 

number of referrals received. Anecdotal evidence (letters from the service to 

commissioners, findings of tier 3 review and conversations with clinicians) suggests 

that there are a number of inappropriate referrals to the service (perhaps as much as 

a third of referrals are more appropriate for tier 1 and tier 2 services).  

Anecdotally there is evidence that GPs and other professionals make more than one 

referral and make inappropriate referrals as there is limited knowledge about the 

providers with clear criteria about what should be referred under which tier. Across 

the children’s workforce, there is a lack of knowledge about where to refer to and 

how across different tiers.  

Agenda Item 13
Page 136



Appendix (h) 

13 | P a g e  

 

Stepping up and down between tiers 2 and 3 has issues too – e.g. between CHUMS 

and SEPT. There is a need to ensure that people enter the system at the correct tier 

and therefore get timely appropriate treatment.   

These points were supported by the findings of the questionnaire circulated to GPs 

and Social Workers/Children’s Services where a number of challenges to making 

referrals were raised. This included the lack of a single point of access, absence of 

clarity and knowledge about referral criteria and services available locally and the 

high number of rejections received due to the current Tier 3 criteria. However, a 

small number of respondents also mentioned that the process of making referrals to 

SEPT had improved or that it was positive or good.        

From the national benchmark data it is indicated that over 60% of SEPT services do 

not use prioritisation criteria.  Data from the national benchmarking exercise also 

highlighted that in 2012/13 SEPT received 2,005 referrals per 100,000 population – 

and accepted 1,357 of these referrals  

 

Recommendations: 

· Develop a Single Point of Access and communicate to users and 

professionals how it works. Ensure that they can refer in an appropriate 

manner.  It was reported that for a Single Point of Access to operate 

effectively, the professional would have to be appropriately trained, skilled and 

knowledgeable.  

· There are currently too many CAMHS providers resulting in duplication, and 

confusion for those entering the system and those referring. Therefore we 

need to stream line, redefine clear pathways and pool the money for better 

outcomes and VFM.  

· Improve monitoring of rejected referrals including obtaining more consistent 

data is required from SEPT to understand and monitor these as on-going 

issues. 

 

 

 

2.4 Waiting Times  

The results of the questionnaire outlined that the ability of the tier 2 and 3 CAMHS to 

assess and treat the service user quickly is highly desired by professionals and 

commissioners.    

It was notable that this was not considered to be the case at present, with many 

respondents highlighting instances of significant waiting times for CAMHS. 73% of 

Agenda Item 13
Page 137



Appendix (h) 

14 | P a g e  

 

GPs and 69% of Social Workers/Children’s Services professionals who responded 

did not feel that the current waiting time was appropriate with a significant theme 

throughout the responses on the need to reduce waiting times.  However, it was felt 

by some that there needs to be a flexible response which should be based on 

need/urgency of the child presenting with mental health problems. 

What did become apparent was that the waiting time as indicated by SEPT, is from 

referral to assessment but there is further waiting time from assessment to 

treatment. On average the waiting time from referral to assessment is 10 weeks and 

a further 20 weeks from assessment to treatment, which equals 30 weeks. 

The BCCG have stated that it is their intention that by 2015, we expect that 100% of 

children and young people referred to tier 3 CAMHS will be seen and where 

appropriate treatment started within 6 weeks.  

Data from SEPT analysed at the end of quarter 2, 2013/14 indicates that the average 

length of treatment is 30.5 weeks. However it was apparent that length of treatment 

varied from team to team, Dunstable averaging 55 weeks compared to North 

Bedfordshire averaging at 16 weeks.   

 

Recommendations:  

· Explore reducing waiting times from referral to assessment and assessment 

to treatment as part of CQUIN, along with reducing repeat referrals.   

· To monitor referral to assessment and assessment to treatment as part of 

SEPT contract monitoring.  

· Clinicians from SEPT should be supported by their organisation to discharge 

cases back to GPs or back to referees at the end of their treatment, thus 

creating a throughput and reducing waiting times. 

· The length of treatment should be reduced thus allowing new referrals to be 

assessed, treated and discharged quickly. 

 

2.5 Providing Choice and Flexibility (Location and appointment times): 

· Currently, the SEPT Core CAMHS Teams work across three locations, two 

sites in Bedford and one in Dunstable.  SEPT offer some flexibility on where 

appointments are held e.g. outreach work, and clinics, however, they should 

build on this further.  

· The accessibility of Beech Close site in Dunstable can be a challenge 

particularly for those coming from Leighton Buzzard as it can be 50 minutes 

on a bus and children and their families may have weekly or fortnightly 

sessions.  Accessibility increased as an issue for this team when they moved 

to Beech Close from a more central location in Dunstable.  There could be 

merit in exploring a move to a more central location and/or undertake more 

outreach work.  

Agenda Item 13
Page 138



Appendix (h) 

15 | P a g e  

 

· The Mid Bedfordshire team are based in Bedford rather than in Mid 

Bedfordshire.  

· There was a notable difference in responses to our questionnaire, showing 

that half the respondents wanted different times for both non-urgent 

assessment and treatment, across the 3 teams in Bedfordshire and half 

thought that current arrangements were adequate.  

· The availability of services outside of working hours would be beneficial for 

those service users who have to attend school, college, or work during the 

hours of 9:00am to 5:00pm on weekdays. This was a theme within the 

responses to the questionnaire circulated  to professionals.  

· From the GP and Social work questionnaire, when asked where should the 

most appropriate location for specialist CAMHS services for non-urgent 

treatment be?, the location which received the most votes was for a local and 

accessible CAMHS unit/clinic. There was also broad support for other 

locations including GP Practice/Health Centre, School, home and community 

venue (e.g. local Children’s Centre). 

· Professionals believed that it should be possible for a level of flexibility to be 

built into the service, based on the need of the child. This would allow service 

users to be seen when and where they choose.  

· There is a need for consultation with children, young people and their 

parents/carers on access to services. 

Recommendation:   

· More outreach work is required based on consultation with children and their 

families/carers, as well as asking questions at the beginning of their initial 

assessment about what their needs are in terms of location and timings.  This 

should include exploring options of using alternative venues e.g. GPs 

surgeries/Health Centre, School, home and community venue (e.g. local 

Children’s Centre) etc.  

2.6. Providing a High Quality Service: 

· Findings from the questionnaire circulated to professionals highlighted that 

SEPT Tier 3 provide a quality service to the children and young people who 

meet their criteria.   

· Appointment booking and Did Not Attend (DNA) – From the current local 

data, DNA rate for Quarter 2 in 2013 is 13% for the CAMHS Core Team, in 

comparison with benchmarking average is also 13%. This places us in the top 

quartile, however the bottom quartile is 9%. Therefore, reducing DNAs 

(particularly within the Core Teams) would create additional capacity within 

the current service.  More work could be undertaken to benchmark with other 

areas, the possible use of text messaging reminders etc. it is recommended 

that SEPT undertake an audit in this area and identify solutions.  

Agenda Item 13
Page 139



Appendix (h) 

16 | P a g e  

 

· Case Co-ordinator/communication with children, young people teams - 

Feedback from SEPT suggests that there is a need for a case co-ordinator to 

work alongside therapists to provide consistency and communication. Often 

extra time is being spent on in-direct work and does not maximise the 

effective use of resources.   

· Implementation of an IT system – There is still a great emphasis on paper 

work and duplication in relation to information gathering, completion of the 

CAF, and assessment by tiers repeating the same question.   

· Home Treatment Team – At present the response time is 4 hours from 

referral to assessment.  Often this is too long for children and young people 

and their families, commissioners may need to consider reducing the 

response time to 2 hours.  The questionnaire for professionals raised the 

importance of easy access to the crisis support (delivered by the Home 

Treatment Team) including over a weekend or evening/night.   

· Transitions to adult services – Some cases are held by clinicians after their 

18th birthday.  Clinicians inform us that this is due to lack of appropriate 

treatment or not meeting the adult criteria/ threshold for services.  Data 

provided by SEPT from the Care Plus System in early October 2013 outlined 

that there were 98 transition cases of 18 year olds plus   being held by Core 

CAMHS, HTT and Looked After Children’s Teams.  16 of these cases had no 

plan to close/or identified transition arrangements.  Commissioners need to 

ensure that SEPT continues to undertake an annual audit of transitions to 

ensure on-going discharge or transfer to adult services.  

· Workforce to meet present and future needs -from the recent NHS 

benchmarking data which is for SEPT CAMHS including Essex and Luton,  

Workforce makeup/pay band is unclear for Bedfordshire, however it was 

apparent that there are discrepancies :- 

High numbers of the following: 

ü Medical staffing on average with other NHS providers is 8.86 fte 

compared to SEPT which was 11.43 fte  

ü Clinical psychologists on average is 11.58fte compared to SEPT 

19.92fte 

ü Operational Mangers on average 2.6fte compared to SEPT 4.60fte 

ü Mental health therapist on average  is11.68fte compared to SEPT at 

17.69fte  

Low numbers of the following: 

ü Administration staff  on average 19.30fte compared to SEPT  6.56fte 

ü Support worker on average at 2.17fte compared to Zero employed by 

SEPT 

· Training of  other health, social care, education, patient and carers was on 

average is 80% compared to 10 % by  SEPT 

Agenda Item 13
Page 140



Appendix (h) 

17 | P a g e  

 

· In general the workforce skill mix in relation to Bandings was limited.   

Recommendations:   

· Explore the nature of DNA through undertaking an audit and looking at 

possible ways to reduce these.   

· Jointly develop an integrated multidisciplinary working to deliver tiers 1, 2, 3 

services. 

· Reduce the HTT 4 hour target from referral to assessment to 2 hours in the 

service specification to ensure easy access to crisis support.  

· Explore integrated IT systems to reduce duplication and increase efficiency.  

· Ensure that SEPT undertake an annual transitions audit this should include 

ensuring that post 17 years  cases  are smoothly discharged or transferred to 

adults as per transition protocol.   

· Review the workforce and realign with CAMHS benchmarking profile, 

reconfiguration of teams and up skill staff. 

3.  Service Specification for Tier 3 CAMHS  

BCCG currently commission Tier 3 CAMHS services from SEPT with three separate 

service specifications for each individual team, Core CAMHS, Home Treatment and 

Learning Disability teams.    

To deliver the Government’s vision of outcome based commissioning set out the 

White Paper: Liberating the NHS and the NHS Outcomes Framework, the BCCG 

need to develop an outcome based service specification which reflects both the NHS 

Outcomes Framework and the development of outcome measures being developed 

as part of the implementation of Children and Young Peoples’ IAPT.  Detailed 

outcome measures need to be included within the new service specification.   

The development of a single specification for the Tier 3 CAMHS service would 

reduce any potential for silo working and help focus on the delivery of outcomes 

which commissioners would like the service to deliver.  Respondents to the 

professional questionnaire raised communication between SEPT teams as an issue, 

which could have an impact on referrals and treatment.   

Although BCCG commission Tier 3 services for significant mental health issues, 

there is anecdotal evidence that referrals are made to both tier 3 and tier 2 providers 

(such as CHUMS, Relate) simultaneously to ensure quick and timely access into 

assessment and treatment.  Therefore there may be double counting. 

An amended draft service specification will incorporate the relevant 

recommendations from this review with clear outcomes.  

The recommendations below are combination of recommendations from tier 1, 2 and 

3 reviews. This will help us to develop the seamless and robust CAMHS Strategy. 

Agenda Item 13
Page 141



Appendix (h) 

18 | P a g e  

 

Recommendations for the CAMHS Service. Tiers 

  

1. Develop a pathway for child and adolescent mental health services, 
with a single referral route where appropriate (e.g. through the early 
help CAF service) – for all tiers.    

All 
 

2. There are too many providers and it is confusing for the child and 
their family to move through the system. Need to consider pooling the 
budget together, streamline the pathway and reducing duplication in 
the services. 

All  

3. Develop a standard template to be used for monitoring/evaluation of 
child mental health and wellbeing services to include information about 
outcomes, quality, client feedback and breaking down service user 
information by local authority area. 

All 

4. Raise awareness of existing Tier 1 and 2 child mental health and 
wellbeing services locally. 

All 

5. Develop an emotional health and wellbeing (CAMHS) strategy for 
Bedfordshire, to be reported to the Children’s Partnership Board and 
CYP and maternity services programme board.  

All 

6. Develop a pathway of care across all tiers – coherent patient journey 
across providers and tiers. This should include Tier 4 specialist 
commissioning. 

All 

7. In order to ensure that this need is met and people receive 
appropriate referral and treatment, more work was required by all 
partners (including local authorities) to identify the numbers contacts 
required for commissioning across all CAMHS tiers (1-3) to meet local 
need.    

All 

8. Develop a new outcome based single service specification for SEPT 
Tier 3 service based on  meeting the needs identified and not diagnosis 
including parental support, sexualised behaviour, eating disorders, 
forensic services etc.  

3 

9. Redefine/Redesign Tier 3 and ensure seamless service specification 
between tiers to avoid any gaps. 

2&3 

10. Need to set the contacts/ activities to reflect the spending, ready for 
the contract variation. 

3 

11. Ensure that GPs can refer in an appropriate manner, it was 
reported that for a Single Point of Access to operate effectively, the 
staff would have to be appropriately trained, skilled and 
knowledgeable.  

All 

12. Improve monitoring of rejected referrals.  2 & 3 

13. Monitor the referral to assessment and the assessment to 
treatment and repeat referrals as part of contract monitoring   

2&3 

14. Explore monitoring and reduce waiting times from referral to 
assessment and assessment to treatment as part of CQUIN. 

2&3 

15. Clinicians should be support by the organisation to reduce length of 
treatment and discharge cases back to GPs or back to referrals at the 
end of their treatment, thus creating a throughput and reducing waiting 
time. 

3 

16. More outreach work based on consultation with children, as well as 
asking question at the beginning of their initial assessment  about what 

2&3 

Agenda Item 13
Page 142



Appendix (h) 

19 | P a g e  

 

their needs are in terms of location and timings– explore options of 
using alternative venues e.g. GPs surgeries, Library  etc. 

17. Explore nature of DNA through undertaking an audit and looking at 
possible ways to reduce these.   

2&3 

18. Reduce the HTT1 4 hour target from referral to assessment to 2 
hours in the service specification. 

3 

19. Jointly develop an integrated multidisciplinary working to deliver 
tiers 1,2,3  

All  

20. Explore integrated IT system to reduce duplication and increase 
efficiency.  

All 
 

21. Ensure that SEPT undertake an annual transitions audit this should 
include ensuring that post 18 years  cases  are smoothly discharged or 
transferred to adults as per transition protocol.    

3 

22. Further work needed in relation to capacity, effectiveness of the tier 
3 workforce and around a need to up-skill staff to meet the new 
challenging demands.   

3 

23. Reduce the number of Core CAMHS team (Tier 3) from three to 
two to ensure better consistency and throughput. This will realign 
CAMHS Tier 3 services with local authority boundaries to provide an 
integrated and seamless service for children and young people which 
reflects their health and social care needs. 
 
 

3 

 

                                                           
1
  

Agenda Item 13
Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Meeting: Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 7 April 2014 

Subject: Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel 

Report of: Cllr Mrs Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care Health 
and Housing 

Summary: The report proposes the adoption of a Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel 
investigation on improving the way Anti Social Behaviour is dealt with for 
the Council’s Landlord Service as identified through their role in co 
regulation. 

 

 
Advising Officer: Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing 

Contact Officer: Carol Rooker, Head of Housing Management 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: South of Central Bedfordshire 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

1. As a landlord, the Council is responsible for providing good quality homes and 
services to the Council’s tenants. Many of these tenants are vulnerable. 
Tenant scrutiny provides a means of ensuring that the Council has sound 
financial and service management and this will contribute to the Council 
providing value for money, and enabling the Council to successfully deliver its 
priorities. 

 
Financial: 

2. The costs involved in developing and supporting the Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel 
can be covered within the existing Landlord Service Business Plan.  

Legal: 

3. The Council, as part of the new revised regulatory framework for social housing 
providers, is expected to give tenants a wide range of opportunities to influence, 
and be involved, in the following areas: 

•  Formulating their landlord’s housing related policies and priorities 

•  Making decisions about how housing related services are delivered, 
including setting service standards 

•  Scrutinising their landlord’s performance and recommending how 
performance might be improved 

 
The Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel provides  the formal scrutiny role for tenants, who 
will, if necessary, hold the Council to account for any concerns they have with 
the services that they receive.  
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 145



Risk Management: 

4. There is a reputational risk to the Council if there are inadequate arrangements 
in place to ensure that tenants are supported in being able to hold the Council as 
their landlord to account. 
 

There is also a risk of intervention by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(Regulation Committee) if they consider that the Council is not complying with 
the regulatory arrangements, in terms of co-regulation. 
 

There is a governance risk of the Panel failing to act in the best interests of the 
tenants and community. The above risks have been mitigated by the 
introduction of clear terms of reference and a robust Code of Conduct for the 
Tenants Scrutiny Panel and this mechanism for reporting the Panel’s findings 
back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

5. Not Applicable. 

Equalities/Human Rights: 

6. The Council, as a public body, must act to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
victimization and harassment against people on the grounds of race, religion or 
belief, age, sex, pregnancy and maternity, gender reassignment, sexual 
orientation and disability. Further, the duty requires the Council to advance 
equality of opportunity between different groups, and foster good relationships 
between different groups. 
 

The National Standard for Housing Providers on Tenant Involvement and 
Empowerment – requires that the Council understands and responds to the 
diverse needs of tenants. The new Tenants Scrutiny Panel assists in progress 
on meeting this aim. 
 

Public Health 

7. Good quality housing and services have a positive impact on public health and 
well being. 
 

Community Safety: 

8. Not Applicable. 
 

Sustainability: 

9. Not Applicable. 
 

Procurement: 

10. Not applicable.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

The Committee is asked to:- 
 

1. The Committee is asked consider the recommendations detailed in the 
report and where applicable to the Council, and recommend that they be 
implemented at the earliest opportunity and within the timescales outlined 
in the Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel report on Anti Social Behaviour. 
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 146



2. That the Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel be invited to monitor the implementation 
of the recommendations and report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in the future, on an exception basis, any recommendations not 
appropriately implemented within the timescales outlined in the report. 
 

 
Background 
 
1. 
 

Members will recall that as part of the Government’s revised regulatory 
framework for social housing, housing providers are expected to support 
tenants in enabling them to monitor and shape the housing services that 
are provided, and to hold their landlords to account. 
 

2. As part of this requirement for co-regulation, the Council’s tenants, 
following consultation, agreed to set up a formal Tenants Scrutiny Panel, 
which was formed in 2013, and has now completed its first enquiry into 
the way that the Landlord Service deals and responds to complaints about 
anti social behaviour.  
 

3. The initial report of the Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel was prepared by four 
members of the panel. See Appendix A – The Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel 
Report on Anti Social Behaviour, and please see Appendix B the Tenant’s 
Scrutiny Panel’s action plan.  
 

Presentation 
 
1. 
 

The Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel has prepared a presentation to showcase the 
report, its recommendations and the Action Plan which has been 
produced. 
 
The second part of the presentation has been produced by the Landlord 
Service in response, to identify the actions it will take to implement the 
recommendations, and the learning from this first report.  
 
Appendix C – The Tenants Scrutiny Panel Presentation on Anti Social 
Behaviour, and the Landlord Services response.  
 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – The Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel Report on Anti Social Behaviour 
Appendix B – The Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel Action Plan on Anti Social Behaviour 
Appendix C – The Tenants Scrutiny Panel Presentation on Anti Social Behaviour. 
 
Background papers and their location: (open to public inspection) 
Tenant’s Scrutiny Panel and Designated Persons and Tenant’s Complaints Panel from 
Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 21 January 2013. 

Agenda Item 14
Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

1 | P a g e

Central Bedfordshire Council

Tenant Scrutiny Panel

Final Report

Anti-Social Behaviour

Contact Details: Julie Harnett, TSP Chair,

c/o Brett Douglas Tenant Involvement Manager

Appendix A 

Agenda Item 14
Page 149



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

2 | P a g e

Executive Summary

This report was undertaken for the Housing Service at Central Bedfordshire Council

(CBC) to examine why the target of resolving Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) cases within 28

days is not being achieved, and to recommend long term sustainable solutions.

As a result, this report covers all aspects of the ASB service including how to access and

report ASB, as well as how CBC responds and then deals with it.

On scrutinising ASB service we found that the way that workload is split between CBC

management and staff is good as shown by the division of case load based on officers

capacity. However, we found the system does not work when key members of the team

are on leave.

There is a positive relationship between CBC and its partners. Partners told us they

undertake joint visits and share information when dealing with cases. Partners were

complimentary about the skill and ability of CBC staff that deal with ASB.

More systematic communication between staff, partners and victims is needed when

responding to ASB, including when contacting ASB victims whether by phone or letter

which appears to be inconsistent. In particular some tenants advised that CBC failed to

respond to telephone messages.

It was difficult to draw any conclusions about whether the ASB service provides value for

money as performance and satisfaction information is not collected and reported in a

way that enables it to be analysed against costs.

We have made a number of recommendations. Some of these include that CBC should

work with its tenants to review its customer facing information about how to report

ASB. Another is that when staff receive reports of ASB cases that more priority should be

given to assessing vulnerability and where the vulnerable are identified that these

victims are given the correct priority.

Agenda Item 14
Page 150



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

3 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.1 The TSP was set up in March 2013, recruited by Central Bedfordshire Council,

following work completed by an independently facilitated Tenant Scrutiny

Steering Group made up of involved tenants, staff and elected Members. Our

main role is to scrutinise the council to ensure that they run their services and

procedures to their own standards. The panel currently consists of four

members: Julie (Chair), Mal, Maggie and Ron.

1.2 Our first project was to undertake a review of the ASB service. We decided this

would be our first project by looking at the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). By

studying the data from the KPIs, we were able to see that the target in relation to

resolving all ASB cases within 28 days was not being met.

1.3 The first thing we decided to do was to read the ASB procedure to try and find

out what their standards are, as well as to check for any flaws in the procedure,

therefore allowing us to make recommendations. We had interviews with senior

management and we also had focus groups with tenants, staff and partners. We

also did some mystery shopping, bench marking and reviewed some current

cases. All of these activities enabled us to finish the report and make our final

recommendations.

Agenda Item 14
Page 151



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

4 | P a g e

2. Methodology

2.1 The scrutiny project was undertaken using the following methodology:

Document review, including the ASB Housing Services Procedure Manual

A series of interviews were held with housing staff responsible for dealing

with ASB, and managing relevant staff

Three focus groups; with frontline staff, with customers that had

experienced ASB and with partners of the housing service.

Telephone calls to customers that had experienced ASB.

Examining case files.

Analysing benchmarking information and other data.

3. Findings

3.1 Access to the service

3.1.1 There is a lack of information about the ASB service available to customers. We

checked in CBC reception, some other places where it would be reasonable to

expect to find information and could not find any information such as leaflets. Staff

that we met were unclear about the location of information leaflets and could not

state with certainty where they could be found. Failing to provide information in a

variety of places could mean that people experiencing ASB may not know how to

report it.

3.1.2 ASB Service Standards are not well-promoted. Tenants that we met who had

reported ASB had no knowledge of the ASB Service Standards, and so had no

understanding of what service to expect and how to hold CBC to account if it failed

to meet the stated level of service. Failing to promote effectively the Service

Standards also increases the risk of tenants having unrealistic expectations of what

CBC can, and can’t, do to resolve ASB.

3.1.3 CBC has stated that there are a number of ways to report ASB; in person, by phone,

by email and through an online reporting system. However, contact information

about how to report ASB is in reality not easy to find. Tenants that we met said that

they found it hard to obtain the phone numbers of the relevant staff and had

resorted to using e mail. This means that residents without access to email may

find it hard to report ASB and will therefore be less likely to do so.

3.1.4 It is not easy to report ASB outside of office hours. A mystery shopping exercise

was undertaken using the following phone numbers: Police Service Neighbourhood

Agenda Item 14
Page 152



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

5 | P a g e

team – 01234 841212; Community Safety Team – 0300 300 8302 / 8098; Well Being

Lifeline – 0800 0740263. Results were disappointing and it was found that most

calls made were not answered, and for those that were answered staff were either

unable to give effective advice or to make contact with an on duty specialist

member of staff. This means that some instances of ASB go un-recorded, some

tenants may be unable to obtain appropriate advice and incidents of ASB will be

unresolved.

3.2 Response to first reports of ASB

3.2.1 While the ASB Procedure Manual is comprehensive, the section ‘receiving a

complaint’ does not set out clear instructions to staff about assessing the

seriousness of the case, or vulnerability of the person making the complaint. In

addition there are no set timescales within which the Tenancy Management Officer

(TMO) must respond, although we understand that a response within 48 hours is

usual (this contradicts the ASB service standards which state that reports of ASB

will be acknowledged within 1 working day). This means that serious cases or cases

involving vulnerable people may not be given a high priority.

3.2.2 Reports of ASB are not responded to in a consistent manner. Tenants that we met

had experienced an inconsistent service when reporting ASB, this included CBC

failing to respond to telephone messages left and different approaches to keeping

complainants informed.

3.2.3 Not all members of staff undertake vulnerability risk assessments when reports of

ASB are made. For example, during the out of hours mystery shopping exercise the

only member of staff responding to the one call answered did not ask whether the

caller had any needs that may have made them vulnerable. Failing to ask relevant

questions of people reporting ASB could mean that the situation could become

volatile.

3.3 Dealing with ASB

3.3.1 There is no real or clear definition in the procedure between ASB and nuisance, for

both staff and tenants/residents alike. Staff have told us that CBC tends to deal

more with nuisance, but the procedure takes the same approach regardless of the

type of complaint. This means that CBC is missing an opportunity to look for

different solutions to different types of problems.

3.3.2 The procedure does not make it clear how the workload is split between the Estate

Management Officers (EMOs) and the Tenancy Enforcement Officer (TEO). The TEO

Agenda Item 14
Page 153



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

6 | P a g e

is responsible for more serious cases but it is not clear at what point cases are

referred on. This means that staff may not be clear where their own responsibility

lies.

3.3.3 The procedure does not place sufficient emphasis on acting quickly when cases are

urgent and it is not clear who takes responsibility for identifying whether a case is

urgent and what timescales should be kept to. This means that victims may be put

at risk.

3.3.4 The procedure includes various solutions to resolving ASB, including restorative

justice, parenting contracts, written and verbal warnings and abatement notices

but it does not include clear instructions and advice for staff on how to use these

solutions. As a result it is not clear whether for example, restorative justice or

community payback schemes have been regularly used, despite it being made clear

in the procedure that these are usually very effective solutions even when ASB is

first reported.

3.3.5 Victims of ASB are not regularly kept informed of the progress of their case, and

although the procedure does require staff to do this, it relies heavily on letters and

does not specify that staff must agree acceptable timescales to provide updates

with the victim. As a result, victims that we met reported that they had to chase

staff for information. This makes victims feel frustrated and extremely isolated.

3.3.6 Not all aspects of the procedure are being followed. The procedure includes

guidance to staff on the use of diary sheets as way of collecting evidence. Victims

that we met reported that although they had completed diary sheets, the sheets

were not collected and did not seem to be required; and staff did not provide

ongoing support and guidance in relation to the completion of the diary sheets.

This means that victims may not feel it is worth completing the diary sheets which

may affect the quality of evidence.

3.3.7 It does not appear that staff routinely complete the case management file pro

forma. The pro forma prompts staff to ask relevant questions and to make a record

of the responses, as well as setting out what action has been agreed with the

victim. Tenants that we met could not recall having been asked questions from the

pro forma and had not seen or signed an action plan. This contributes to some

tenants feeling that they didn’t know what was happening to resolve their case.

3.3.8 The procedure does not encourage staff to provide a responsive service. Tenants

that we met felt that CBC was not proactive in resolving cases and as a result the

ASB had persisted for unacceptable periods of time. In one instance, CBC had told

Agenda Item 14
Page 154



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

7 | P a g e

the victim that the ASB pre-dated her tenancy and had existed for 12 years. This

approach has resulted in victims having to repeatedly contact CBC, and its partners

including the local MP, to achieve some level of improvement.

3.3.9 The procedure does not include any reference to working with the community to

resolve ASB. Tenants are unaware of any community or diversionary activities that

CBC participates in. Neither are they aware of any Good Neighbour Agreements

(GNAs) – with one tenant that we met suggesting that such a scheme would be

beneficial in agreeing local behaviour standards. This could affect the likelihood of

achieving a sustainable solution and such agreements could encourage the

community to come forward when experiencing ASB which will assist CBC in

understanding issues on its estates.

3.3.10 It is not clear what diversionary activities CBC uses to prevent or reduce ASB, as

some partners that we met were not able to describe how they had been involved

or what activities had taken place.

3.3.11 CBC and its partners work together to respond to ASB in hotspot areas that are

identified by the police through collecting and analysing data received from

residents.

3.3.12 Partners that we met had not been involved in the development of CBC’s ASB

procedure or policy, some of them also stated that they were unaware of the

procedure but knew about CBC’s methods used to prevent ASB and that an

appropriate approach to enforcement is taken.

3.3.13 Exchange of some information between CBC and some partners may need to be

revisited to ensure that it is wholly appropriate and necessary. Information sharing

should be limited to any potential breach of tenancy.

3.3.14 There is a positive relationship between CBC and its partners. The partners that we

met spoke very highly of CBC and felt linked in, invited and involved. They referred

to undertaking joint visits and sharing information and making clear plans through

partnership meetings to identify the right partner to support victims. They felt that

CBC was willing to work together, come up with ideas, always positive, open and

supportive as well as taking in to account the needs of the individual.

Agenda Item 14
Page 155



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

8 | P a g e

3.4 Staff

3.4.1 The division of cases between the EMOs is working to support their capacity. ASB

cases are dealt with on a patch basis where each EMO is responsible for the same

number of properties in a geographical area. Workload is monitored by the

manager to understand how many cases each has. If one area becomes overloaded

then the workload would be redistributed; this hasn’t happened yet.

3.4.2 Staff are adequately kept up-to-date with new issues, for example the ASB Bill, new

Tools and Powers and the Community Harm Statement. Regulatory updates come

from The Social Landlords Crime and Nuisance Group (SLCNG) by email, through

attendance at conferences and workshops; with further advice provided by the

internal CBC legal team.

3.4.3 Staff find that training is easy to access. Staff that we met reported that they had

undergone many training courses and were able to confirm that funding is

sufficient to allow for this. Courses attended include seminars and conferences, as

well as free briefing sessions on the ASB Bill.

3.4.4 However, staff training needs are not assessed sufficiently to be sure that their

needs are being met. Training is identified through feedback from staff dealing with

ASB and ideas from the manager. In addition, training undertaken is not assessed

for impact and whether it has improved the service.

3.4.5 Staff training is not as effective as it could be in terms of assisting staff when there

are long term absences. We came to this conclusion though talking to staff and

found that when a key member of the team is on leave for a long time the system

does not work as well. We also had a look at some cases which supported our

findings. This means that the system is under more pressure when there is long

term absence and by giving staff more training there will be more flexibility so

members of staff can cover each other when there are staff on leave for a long

time.

3.4.6 IT systems are not fully supporting staff to carry out their roles. At present the main

IT system – QL – acts as a receptacle for all ASB data, which is not ideal as this

cannot track costs of action or flag up required actions, for example. Consideration

is currently being given to working more closely with the Police and use a shared

system to more quickly exchange data and up to date information.

Agenda Item 14
Page 156



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

9 | P a g e

3.4.7 The effectiveness of partnership working has been affected by some of CBC

partners finding it difficult to keep up with staff changes at CBC and in particular

the long term absence of some staff.

3.5 Tenant involvement

3.5.1 Tenants were involved in agreeing the ASB procedure. The Way Forward Panel was

invited to approve it, as well as a small independent group of residents who

reviewed it.

3.5.2 Tenant involvement has not continued as a way of monitoring performance of the

service and obtaining useful feedback. Tenants are also not included in any of the

partnerships. This means that the service may not be as responsive as it could be.

3.6 Satisfaction with the ASB service

3.6.1 CBC has acknowledged that it has not been successful in understanding satisfaction

with its ASB service. This is because it has relied on written surveys being returned

by victims and it has not taken the opportunity yet to explore other options.

Without customer feedback, CBC cannot be sure that it is providing the right

service.

3.7 Performance

3.7.1 Although CBC had, prior to this project, already identified that it wished to review

the ASB service, it had not taken advantage of the Respect Standard (now replaced

by Charter) to carry out a gap analysis. This means that it has missed a valuable

opportunity to improve and update the service in line with the Charter and good

practice and as a result tenants have not had access to the best service available.

3.7.2 The target of resolving cases in 28 days is not realistic and does not help staff to do

their job effectively. The types of ASB cases reported to CBC Housing Department

vary from low level neighbourhood nuisance to long standing serious cases

involving threats of, and actual, violence. Tenants we met cited cases that had been

on-going for months, even years, without satisfactory resolution. Staff that we met

also stated that they felt that the 28 day target is not appropriate for all cases,

especially multi-agency cases. Giving examples of cases being closed due to the

target and subsequently being re-opened as a sustainable solution had not been

found. Our review of cases files supported this. Staff interview evidence suggested

that the indicator was not based on good practice or guidance and it is unclear why

this target was chosen, especially when annual benchmarking results from

Agenda Item 14
Page 157



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

10 | P a g e

HouseMark show that on average, cases nationally are resolved after 75 days. The

impact of stating that cases will be resolved in 28 days raises the expectations of

the victim when in reality it sometimes cannot be achieved.

3.7.3 The procedure sets out clear guidelines for how the performance of staff should be

monitored. However, with the long term absence of the TEO it is clear that these

guidelines have not been kept to. This means that victims of ASB may not be

receiving the service that they require, and that staff may be experiencing lack of

support.

3.7.4 We already know CBC is not meeting its own performance target of resolving cases

within 28 days, but we were unable to draw any other conclusions about other

aspects of its performance as these are not reported, including performance

against ASB service standards.

3.7.5 Not all partnerships are governed by Service Level Agreements (SLAs). This means

that there can be misunderstandings and differing expectations around roles,

responsibilities and timescales which may impact on performance.

3.7.6 There is an over reliance on using complaints and satisfaction data to understand

whether the team is performing, and less attention to spot checks on cases

undertaken by the manager. This is not effective as insufficient satisfaction data is

being received and it is not clear how many complaints have been received about

the service.

3.8 Value for money

3.8.1 It has been difficult to draw any value for money conclusions as CBC does not

routinely collect satisfaction data, although it does have information about costs

and performance. Benchmarking information relating to cost that was made

available was from 2009/10 and 2010/11 (CBC is currently working to submit more

recent data) and so it is not based on current circumstances. However the

information showed that staffing costs had decreased over that period, which was

not in line with CBC’s peer group which showed an increase (and CBC could not

explain why this had happened) and it also showed that the number of employees

per 1,000 properties was higher than peers.

3.8.2 Although staff that we met could not identify any value for money examples, there

was a clear emphasis on being encouraged to consider costs when deciding on

solutions. However, without staff understanding the concept of VFM, this could

Agenda Item 14
Page 158



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

11 | P a g e

mean that staff always choose what they think is the least expensive option which

may not be the most effective.

4. Conclusion

4.1 We have been able to undertake an in-depth investigation on CBCs’ behalf. As

the newly formed TSP, we hope that you find all our research and information of

great importance to CBC, along with providing you with a very useful analysis of

the ASB service that you otherwise would have had to undertake yourselves.

4.2 We hope that our recommendations will be accepted and implemented within

our suggested timescales, as we would like to see CBC excel in the way it delivers

this service; using a creative approach and to be innovative, especially given the

pressure on resources and changing expectations of customers.

4.3 We would like to thank everyone who took part, Brett Douglas for all his

organisational skills enabling us to take part in a very steep learning curve,

supported by our external mentor Anna O’Halloran. Carol Rooker and Richard

Farrow for taking time out of their busy schedule, along with the staff who

attended our focus group, the customers willing to take part who had

experienced ASB and all the partner agencies that provide invaluable support to

the whole of CBCs’ Housing Team.

Agenda Item 14
Page 159



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

12 | P a g e

5. Recommendations

Number Recommendation Priority Timescale

1 CBC should work with its tenants to review its

customer facing information about how to report

ASB so that it is easy to find and encourages

reports of ASB.

High 6 months

2 CBC should work with customers to take steps to

ensure that the ASB Service Standards are well

promoted using methods that customers use.

Medium 3 months

3 An effective system to report ASB outside of office

hours should be made available, with clear

guidance for staff operating the service as well as

clear information for customers needing to use it,

and that is easy to access.

Low 4 months

4 Ensure that serious cases or those involving

vulnerable people are given the correct priority

through proper assessment of the situation when

the complaint is first made. Issue guidance to staff

receiving first complaints including timescales, and

monitor that these timescales are being kept to.

Work with customers to agree target timescales.

High 1 month

5 When reviewing the procedure ensure that it

clearly states how urgent cases must be identified

and managed, with clear timescales that staff can

be held accountable to and that are used to

reassure victims.

High 6 months

6 Take steps to more effectively monitor and report

staff compliance with the procedure and ASB

service standards to ensure that a consistent

service is being offered and tenants know what to

expect.

High 3 months

7 Work with all staff to raise the importance of

undertaking risk assessments each time a report of

ASB is made and that the procedure is being

complied with.

High Immediately

8 Ensure that staff are aware of, and use, the variety

of solutions available to resolve ASB through

providing a comprehensive procedure, effective

monitoring and training.

High 12 months

9 Work with customers, using best practice and

learning from others to develop appropriate

procedures for dealing with nuisance. Take steps to

more clearly define the difference between ASB

and nuisance, to assist staff and customers

understand the different solutions.

Medium 6 months

Agenda Item 14
Page 160



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

13 | P a g e

10 Involve partners in the development of all new

policies and procedures to ensure that all activities

are coordinated, reduce the likelihood of

duplication and that all targets are reasonable and

agreed

Medium 6 months

11 CBC needs to issue clear guidance for staff to

ensure that roles within the team are understood –

particularly the difference responsibilities held by

the EMO and the TEO.

Medium 6 months

12 Improve communication with victims through

agreeing frequency and method of contact during

the action planning process, ensure that staff

compliance with this is recorded on the case file

and the CRM and monitored by the manager.

Medium Immediately

13 Provide staff with training and guidance on the use

of diary sheets to ensure that they are only issued

in appropriate circumstances and that victims feel

supported to complete them. Offer alternative

methods of collecting evidence to victims – such as

tape recorders and cameras.

Medium 3 months

14 CBC should ensure that it takes all necessary action

to ensure that it is creative in achieving long term

sustainable solutions to ASB. To help it do this it

needs to analyse the different potential solutions

available to it and understand what’s most likely to

work through learning from others and previous

cases, as well it being clear in the procedure about

how to escalate cases to either senior or expert

staff.

Medium 6 months

15 CBC should revise the procedure with partners to

include information about diversionary activities as

a potential solution to ASB and it should also

consider working with tenants to resolve issues in

the local area, for example by signing a Good

Neighbour Agreement (GNA). CBC should work

with residents to agree the best methods of

publicising this.

Low 6 months

16 Work with tenants to develop a way that tenants

can regularly be involved in the service to shape,

monitor and provide feedback.

High 3 months

17 Training needs of staff should be individually

assessed using a training needs analysis (or similar)

against the needs of the service to ensure there are

no gaps in knowledge. The impact of training

should be assessed as well to ensure that the

training is of a high quality.

Low 3 months

Agenda Item 14
Page 161



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

14 | P a g e

18 CBC should ensure that the team is able to operate

properly at all times, even when there are long

term absences, by training staff on all aspects of

the role and taking steps to ensure that long term

absences are filled, particularly in key posts.

High 6 months

19 Using best practice and learning from other

organisations generally, take steps to set up a

successful method of achieving satisfaction data.

High 4 months

20 Set a clear deadline for finalising the work with the

Police to explore the likely effectiveness of Safety

Net, or another system, and implement within a

clear timeframe.

Medium 6 months

21 CBC should review its ASB performance indicators;

including consulting with a diverse group of

residents, learning from best practice and from

high performing peers. Challenging and achievable

targets will assist victims of ASB to understand

what to expect, as well as leading to service

improvements and support a victim centred

approach.

High 6 months

22 CBC should put in to place more effective ways to

monitor service delivery. The procedure sets out

the current system – but it is clear that this is not

being kept to. CBC should learn from best practice

how high performing organisations monitor

casework.

High 1 month

23 CBC should work with regular partners to review

the success of those partnerships and decide

whether implementing SLAs would improve

accountability and performance.

Medium 12 months

24 Take steps to record, understand and analyse the

true cost of the ASB service, including the costs of

particular solutions (for example the cost of home

visits, letters, warnings, legal action, partner

interactions etc.) and use this information, along

with satisfaction and performance data to be sure

that VFM solutions are being used to their full

potential.

High 12 months

25 CBC should regularly assess its ASB service,

including the procedure and policy against the

Respect Charter, and good practice widely

available, to ensure that its tenants are provided

with an excellent service.

High 12 months

26 Increase staff awareness of VFM through regular

training and awareness-raising sessions, for

example at team meetings and 121s.

High 1 month

Agenda Item 14
Page 162



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

15 | P a g e

27 Continue to provide current data to HouseMark to

ensure that any decisions made relating to VFM

are based on recent information. Take steps to

analyse satisfaction and performance against costs

to draw VFM conclusions about the service and use

the conclusions to inform service development.

High 12 months

28 Keep partners up to date with staff changes to

ensure that they are aware of who does what and

to ensure that handovers happen where ever

possible when staff leave.

High Immediately

Agenda Item 14
Page 163



Central Bedfordshire Council Tenant Scrutiny Panel – Final Report Aug13 Version 5

16 | P a g e

6. Appendices

6.1 Partners that attended the focus group:

Bromford Support

Luton Mediation Service

Domestic Abuse Coordinator

Bedfordshire Police

6.2 Staff interviews:

Carol Rooker

Richard Farrow

6.3 Staff Focus Group:

(Housing Management plus Community Safety)

6.4 Documents examined:

Housing Services Scorecard @ December 2012

HouseMark benchmarking data

ASB Procedure Manual

ASB Information Pack

Information leaflets

Staff job descriptions

Agenda Item 14
Page 164



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

1
4

0
4

0
7

 i
te

m
 1

4
 A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B

T
a

sk
 N

o

T
a

sk
 /

 

re
co

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
O

u
tp

u
ts

 /
 e

v
id

e
n

ce
R

e
so

u
rc

e
s

S
ta

rt
 D

a
te

T
a

rg
e

t 

D
a

te

A
ct

u
a

l 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 

D
a

te
O

u
tc

o
m

e

P
ro

g
re

ss
 

to
 d

a
te

 

(R
A

G
)

S
ta

tu
s 

(s
ta

rt
e

d
 /

 

co
m

p
le

te
d

)
N

a
rr

a
ti

v
e

 (
if

 R
 o

r 
A

)

1
R

e
v

ie
w

 C
u

st
o

m
e

r 

fa
ci

n
g

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 

a
cc

e
ss

ib
le

 v
ia

 w
e

b
 

a
n

d
 l

e
a

fl
e

ts
 

F
ro

n
t 

li
n

e
 

st
a

ff
/R

e
si

d
e

n
t 

in
p

u
t

M
a

r-
1

4
A

p
r-

1
4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 

E
xp

e
ri

e
n

ce

 
N

o
t 

st
a

rt
e

d
T

h
is

 w
il

l 
b

e
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 n
e

w
 

S
E

O
's

 r
e

sp
o

n
si

b
il

it
y

 t
o

 l
e

a
d

 o
n

2

E
n

su
re

 A
S

B
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
s 

a
re

 w
e

ll
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
 

a
n

d
 a

cc
e

ss
ib

le
 f

o
r 

cu
st

o
m

e
rs

P
ro

ce
d

u
re

 t
o

 b
e

 

p
u

t 
o

n
 w

e
b

si
te

 a
n

d
 

le
a

fl
e

ts
 d

is
tr

ib
u

te
d

 

to
 v

a
ri

e
d

 l
o

ca
ti

o
n

s

 
N

o
v

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

a
cc

e
ss

 f
o

r 

re
si

d
e

n
ts

 t
o

 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 o

n
 

A
S

B

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

E
M

O
 T

e
a

m
 h

a
v

e
 b

e
e

n
 a

sk
e

d
 t

o
 

p
ro

d
u

ce
 a

n
 a

d
v

ic
e

 l
e

a
fl

e
t 

b
y

 e
n

d
 

o
f 

F
e

b
 1

4
 f

o
r 

a
p

p
ro

v
a

l.
 

3
S

y
st

e
m

 t
o

 r
e

p
o

rt
 A

S
B

 

o
u

t 
o

f 
h

o
u

rs

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 r

e
a

d
il

y
 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 o

n
 h

o
w

 

to
 r

e
p

o
rt

 A
S

B
 o

u
t 

o
f 

h
o

u
rs

R
e

si
d

e
n

t 

In
v

o
lv

e
m

e
n

t 

T
e

a
m

/C
o

m
m

u
n

ic

a
ti

o
n

s

N
o

v
-1

3
M

a
r-

1
4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

re
si

d
e

n
ts

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 w

il
l 

b
e

 p
a

rt
 o

f 

le
a

fl
e

t 
p

ro
d

u
ce

d
 a

t 
p

o
in

t 
2

. 

4

E
n

su
re

 a
ll

 c
a

se
s 

a
re

 

co
rr

e
ct

ly
 r

is
k

 

a
ss

e
ss

e
d

 a
n

d
 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
se

d
 

a
cc

o
rd

in
g

ly
 a

n
d

 

m
o

n
it

o
re

d
. 

A
g

re
e

 

ti
m

e
sc

a
le

s 
w

it
h

 

re
si

d
e

n
ts

 f
o

r 
se

ri
o

u
s 

ca
se

s

R
is

k
 a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 

a
re

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

ca
se

 f
il

e
s 

a
n

d
 o

n
 

Q
L 

sy
st

e
m

S
ta

ff
N

o
v

-1
3

F
e

b
-1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 

E
xp

e
ri

e
n

ce

G
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

H
E

M
 h

a
s 

ca
rr

ie
d

 o
u

t 
re

ce
n

t 

re
v

ie
w

s 
o

f 
ca

se
s 

w
h

e
re

 r
is

k
 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
ts

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 

e
v

id
e

n
ce

d
. 

5

W
h

e
n

 r
e

v
ie

w
in

g
 t

h
e

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 e
n

su
re

 

th
a

t 
it

 c
le

a
rl

y
 s

ta
te

s 

h
o

w
 u

rg
e

n
t 

ca
se

s 

m
u

st
 b

e
 i

d
e

n
ti

fi
e

d
 

a
n

d
 m

a
n

a
g

e
d

, 
w

it
h

 

cl
e

a
r 

ti
m

e
sc

a
le

s

N
e

w
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
 

cl
e

a
rl

y
 d

e
fi

n
in

g
 

p
ro

ce
ss

 f
o

r 

id
e

n
ti

fy
in

g
 u

rg
e

n
t 

ca
se

s 
a

n
d

 

ti
m

e
sc

a
le

s 
fo

r 

d
e

a
li

n
g

 w
it

h
 t

h
e

 

ca
se

S
ta

ff
/R

e
si

d
e

n
t 

In
p

u
t 

to
 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 r
e

v
ie

w

A
p

r-
1

4
A

p
r-

1
5

U
p

 t
o

 d
a

te
 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 

w
it

h
 d

e
fi

n
e

d
 

p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

a
n

d
 

ti
m

e
sc

a
le

s

 
N

o
t 

st
a

rt
e

d

T
h

e
 A

S
B

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 i
s 

to
 b

e
 

re
v

ie
w

e
d

 i
n

 2
0

1
4

 t
a

k
in

g
 i

n
to

 

a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e

 c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 a
n

d
 

g
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
g

u
id

a
n

ce
 p

lu
s 

th
e

 

n
e

w
 p

o
w

e
rs

 t
h

a
t 

w
il

l 
b

e
 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 l

a
te

r 
in

 2
0

1
4

.

6

T
a

k
e

 s
te

p
s 

to
 m

o
re

 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e

ly
 m

o
n

it
o

r 

a
n

d
 r

e
p

o
rt

 s
ta

ff
 

co
m

p
li

a
n

ce
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 a
n

d
 A

S
B

 

se
rv

ic
e

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s

T
h

e
 n

e
w

 E
st

a
te

s 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

T
e

a
m

 L
e

a
d

e
r 

w
il

l 

m
o

n
it

o
r 

v
ia

 1
2

1
 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

s 
a

n
d

 

d
o

cu
m

e
n

t 
th

e
se

 

a
cc

o
rd

in
g

ly

E
M

T
L/

E
M

O
M

a
r-

1
4

O
ct

-1
4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

d
a

ta

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

1
-1

s 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
s 

a
lr

e
a

d
y

 t
a

k
e

 p
la

ce
 

w
it

h
 i

n
d

iv
id

u
a

l.
 

7

W
o

rk
 w

it
h

 a
ll

 s
ta

ff
 t

o
 

ra
is

e
 t

h
e

 i
m

p
o

rt
a

n
ce

 

o
f 

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
in

g
 r

is
k

 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
ts

R
is

k
 a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 

a
re

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

ca
se

 f
il

e
s 

a
n

d
 o

n
 

Q
L 

sy
st

e
m

E
M

T
L/

E
M

O
N

o
v

-1
3

F
e

b
-1

4
Im

p
ro

v
e

d
 c

a
se

 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
sa

ti
o

n
G

C
o

m
p

le
te

d

st
a

ff
 h

a
v

e
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
m

in
d

e
d

 o
f 

th
e

 

u
se

 o
f 

R
is

k
 A

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

ts
 a

t 
th

e
 

fi
rs

t 
co

n
ta

ct
 s

ta
g

e
 t

o
 c

o
rr

e
ct

ly
 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
se

 e
a

ch
 c

a
se

 a
t 

1
-2

-1
's

.

P
a

g
e

 1
A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 V

3

Agenda Item 14
Page 165



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

1
4

0
4

0
7

 i
te

m
 1

4
 A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B

8

E
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

st
a

ff
 a

re
 

tr
a

in
e

d
 i

n
 t

h
e

 v
a

ri
e

ty
 

o
f 

so
lu

ti
o

n
s 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 

to
 r

e
so

lv
e

 A
S

B

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
st

a
ff

 

th
a

t 
d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce

E
M

T
L/

H
E

M
N

o
v

-1
3

S
e

p
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 
tr

a
in

e
d

 

st
a

ff
 a

n
d

 

co
n

si
st

e
n

t 
ca

se
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

A
 t

ra
in

in
g

 p
la

n
 w

il
l 

b
e

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 

fo
r 

e
a

ch
 m

e
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
th

e
 t

e
a

m
 

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

 t
h

e
 r

e
st

ru
ct

u
re

.

9

W
o

rk
 w

it
h

 c
u

st
o

m
e

rs
 

to
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
 

a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
fo

r 

d
e

a
li

n
g

 w
it

h
 

n
u

is
a

n
ce

. 
C

le
a

rl
y

 

d
e

fi
n

e
 t

h
e

 d
if

fe
re

n
ce

 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 A
S

B
 a

n
d

 

n
u

is
a

n
ce

N
u

is
a

n
ce

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 w
it

h
 

st
a

ff
 a

n
d

 r
e

si
d

e
n

ts

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
/S

ta
ff

A
p

r-
1

4
N

o
v

-1
4

 
N

o
t 

S
ta

rt
e

d

N
u

is
a

n
ce

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
w

il
l 

b
e

 

w
ri

tt
e

n
 a

lo
n

g
si

d
e

 t
h

e
 A

S
B

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
w

h
e

n
 r

e
v

ie
w

e
d

. 

1
0

In
v

o
lv

e
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 i

n
 

th
e

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

a
ll

 n
e

w
 p

o
li

ci
e

s 
a

n
d

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 

in
v

o
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
/S

ta
ff

A
p

r-
1

4
O

ct
-1

4
N

e
w

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

 
N

o
t 

S
ta

rt
e

d

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

 w
il

l 
b

e
 f

u
ll

y
 i

n
v

o
lv

e
d

 i
n

 

th
e

 r
e

v
ie

w
 o

f 
A

S
B

 a
n

d
 N

u
is

a
n

ce
 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s.

1
1

C
B

C
 n

e
e

d
s 

to
 i

ss
u

e
 

cl
e

a
r 

u
id

a
n

ce
 f

o
r 

st
a

ff
 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
a

t 
ro

le
s 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 t

e
a

m
 a

re
 

u
n

d
e

r
s
to

o
d

 –
 

p
a

rt
ic

u
la

rl
y

 t
h

e
 

d
if

fe
re

n
t 

 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

il
it

ie
s 

h
e

ld
 

b
y

 t
h

e
 E

M
O

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 

T
E

O

R
e

st
ru

ct
u

re
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 a
n

d
 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

a
te

d
 t

o
 

re
le

v
a

n
t 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 

a
n

y
 c

h
a

n
g

e
s

H
E

M
/H

O
H

M
M

a
r-

1
4

M
a

y
-1

4

C
le

a
r 

st
ru

ct
u

re
 

a
n

d
 r

o
le

s 

u
n

d
e

rs
to

o
d

G
S

ta
rt

e
d

U
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 r

e
st

ru
ct

u
re

 t
h

e
 T

E
O

 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

 h
a

s 
b

e
e

n
 d

e
le

te
d

 a
n

d
 a

 

n
e

w
 T

e
a

m
 L

e
a

d
e

r 
w

il
l 

ta
k

e
 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

il
it

y
 f

o
r 

le
a

d
in

g
 o

n
 A

S
B

 

is
su

e
s.

  

1
2

Im
p

ro
v

e
 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

 w
it

h
 

v
ic

ti
m

s 
th

ro
u

g
h

 

a
g

re
e

in
g

 f
re

q
u

e
n

cy
 

a
n

d
 m

e
th

o
d

 o
f 

co
n

ta
ct

 d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 

a
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 

p
ro

ce
ss

 a
n

d
 

m
o

n
it

o
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 

m
a

n
a

g
e

r 

R
is

k
 a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 

a
re

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

ca
se

 f
il

e
s 

a
n

d
 o

n
 

Q
L 

sy
st

e
m

E
M

T
L/

E
M

O
N

o
v

-1
3

F
e

b
-1

4

C
le

a
r 

a
ct

io
n

 

p
la

n
s 

th
a

t 
h

a
v

e
 

b
e

e
n

 a
g

re
e

d
 

w
it

h
 v

ic
ti

m
s 

o
f 

A
S

B

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

S
ta

ff
 h

a
v

e
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
m

in
d

e
d

 o
f 

th
e

 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

ce
 o

f 
th

e
 i

n
v

o
lv

e
m

e
n

t 

a
n

d
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
v

ic
ti

m
s 

in
 t

h
e

 

a
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

a
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

is
 m

a
d

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 v

ic
ti

m
 a

b
o

u
t 

re
g

u
la

ri
ty

 a
n

d
 m

e
th

o
d

 o
f 

fe
e

d
b

a
ck

 a
n

d
 u

p
d

a
te

s.
 

P
a

g
e

 2
A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 V

3

Agenda Item 14
Page 166



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

1
4

0
4

0
7

 i
te

m
 1

4
 A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B

1
3

P
ro

v
id

e
 s

ta
ff

 w
it

h
 

tr
a

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 g
u

id
a

n
ce

 

o
n

 t
h

e
 u

se
 o

f 
d

ia
ry

 

sh
e

e
ts

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

y
 a

re
 o

n
ly

 i
ss

u
e

d
 

in
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 

ci
rc

u
m

st
a

n
ce

s 
a

n
d

 

th
a

t 
v

ic
ti

m
s 

fe
e

l 

su
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 t

o
 

co
m

p
le

te
 t

h
e

m
. 

O
ff

e
r 

a
lt

e
rn

a
ti

v
e

 m
e

th
o

d
s 

o
f 

co
ll

e
ct

in
g

 e
v

id
e

n
ce

 

to
 v

ic
ti

m
s
 –

 s
u

c
h

 a
s
 

ta
p

e
 r

e
co

rd
e

rs
 a

n
d

 

ca
m

e
ra

s

D
ia

ry
 s

h
e

e
ts

 a
re

 

g
iv

e
n

 t
o

 a
ll

 v
ic

ti
m

s 

o
f 

n
u

is
a

n
ce

/A
S

B
 t

o
 

re
co

rd
 i

n
ci

d
e

n
ts

 

a
n

d
 l

o
g

 p
e

rs
is

te
n

cy
 

o
f 

in
ci

d
e

n
ts

 

E
M

O
N

o
v

-1
3

N
o

v
-1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 

E
xp

e
ri

e
n

ce

G
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
p

ti
o

n
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

ta
p

e
 r

e
co

rd
e

rs
 

a
n

d
 c

a
m

e
ra

s 
fo

r 
u

se
 b

y
 

re
si

d
e

n
ts

 a
re

 n
o

t 
a

s 
y

e
t 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 a

n
d

 r
e

se
a

rc
h

 n
e

e
d

s 
to

 

b
e

 u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
 t

o
 e

st
a

b
li

sh
 t

h
e

 

v
a

li
d

it
y

 o
f 

su
ch

 e
v

id
e

n
ce

 i
n

 

co
u

rt
. 

1
4

C
B

C
 s

h
o

u
ld

 e
n

su
re

 

th
a

t 
it

 t
a

k
e

s 
a

ll
 

n
e

ce
ss

a
ry

 a
ct

io
n

 t
o

 

e
n

su
re

 t
h

a
t 

it
 i

s 

cr
e

a
ti

v
e

 i
n

 a
ch

ie
v

in
g

 

lo
n

g
 t

e
rm

 s
u

st
a

in
a

b
le

 

so
lu

ti
o

n
s 

to
 A

S
B

 

R
is

k
 a

ss
e

ss
m

e
n

ts
 

a
n

d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 

a
re

 d
o

cu
m

e
n

te
d

 i
n

 

ca
se

 f
il

e
s 

a
n

d
 o

n
 

Q
L 

sy
st

e
m

E
M

T
L/

E
M

O
M

a
r-

1
4

S
e

p
-1

4

T
e

n
a

n
ci

e
s 

a
re

 

su
st

a
in

e
d

 a
n

d
 

co
u

rt
 a

ct
io

n
 

a
v

o
id

e
d

 w
h

e
re

 

p
o

ss
ib

le

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

I 
b

e
li

e
v

e
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
 i

s 

cl
e

a
r 

in
 t

h
is

 r
e

sp
e

ct
, 

b
u

t 
th

a
t 

tr
a

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

st
a

ff
 i

s 
n

e
e

d
e

d
 t

o
 

e
n

su
re

 t
h

e
y

 u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s.
 

1
5

C
B

C
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e

v
is

e
 t

h
e

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 w
it

h
 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 t
o

 i
n

cl
u

d
e

 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

d
iv

e
rs

io
n

a
ry

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

a
s 

a
 p

o
te

n
ti

a
l 

so
lu

ti
o

n
 

to
 A

S
B

 a
n

d
 i

t 
sh

o
u

ld
 

a
ls

o
 c

o
n

si
d

e
r 

w
o

rk
in

g
 

w
it

h
 t

e
n

a
n

ts
 t

o
 

re
so

lv
e

 i
ss

u
e

s 
in

 t
h

e
 

lo
ca

l 
a

re
a

, 
fo

r 

e
xa

m
p

le
 b

y
 s

ig
n

in
g

 a
 

G
N

A

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
st

a
ff

 

th
a

t 
d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce

M
a

r-
1

4
S

e
p

-1
4

T
e

n
a

n
ci

e
s 

a
re

 

su
st

a
in

e
d

 a
n

d
 

co
u

rt
 a

ct
io

n
 

a
v

o
id

e
d

 w
h

e
re

 

p
o

ss
ib

le

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

O
ff

ic
e

rs
 a

re
 a

w
a

re
 o

f 
a

n
d

 

co
n

si
d

e
r 

a
ll

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 t

o
 

th
e

m
 t

o
 r

e
so

lv
e

 a
n

y
 c

a
se

, 
w

it
h

 

th
e

 e
m

p
h

a
si

s 
b

e
in

g
 o

n
 a

v
o

id
in

g
 

le
g

a
l 

a
ct

io
n

 i
f 

p
o

ss
ib

le
. 

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

tr
a

in
in

g
 w

il
l 

re
it

e
ra

te
 t

h
is

 

a
p

p
ro

a
ch

. 

1
6

W
o

rk
 w

it
h

 t
e

n
a

n
ts

 t
o

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

 a
 w

a
y

 t
h

a
t 

te
n

a
n

ts
 c

a
n

 r
e

g
u

la
rl

y
 

b
e

 i
n

v
o

lv
e

d
 i

n
 t

h
e

 

se
rv

ic
e

 t
o

 s
h

a
p

e
, 

m
o

n
it

o
r 

a
n

d
 p

ro
v

id
e

 

fe
e

d
b

a
ck

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

cu
st

o
m

e
r 

co
n

ta
ct

 

a
n

d
 f

e
e

d
b

a
ck

 

re
g

a
rd

in
g

 t
h

e
 

se
rv

ic
e

E
M

O
/H

A
M

a
r-

1
4

S
e

p
-1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

d
a

ta

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
la

n
s 

w
il

l 
b

e
 p

u
t 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
e

a
ch

 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
o

ff
ic

e
r 

d
e

a
li

n
g

 w
it

h
 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce
 a

n
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

e
s 

to
 

im
p

ro
v

e
 c

u
st

o
m

e
r 

fe
e

d
b

a
ck

 

fr
o

m
 V

ic
ti

m
s 

w
il

l 
b

e
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

.

P
a

g
e

 3
A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 V

3

Agenda Item 14
Page 167



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

1
4

0
4

0
7

 i
te

m
 1

4
 A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B

1
7

T
ra

in
in

g
 n

e
e

d
s 

o
f 

st
a

ff
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e

 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

ll
y

 a
ss

e
ss

e
d

 

u
si

n
g

 a
 t

ra
in

in
g

 n
e

e
d

s 

a
n

a
ly

si
s

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
st

a
ff

 

th
a

t 
d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce

H
E

M
/E

M
T

L
M

a
r-

1
4

S
e

p
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 
tr

a
in

e
d

 

st
a

ff
 a

n
d

 

co
n

si
st

e
n

t 
ca

se
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
la

n
s 

w
il

l 
b

e
 p

u
t 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
e

a
ch

 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
o

ff
ic

e
r 

d
e

a
li

n
g

 w
it

h
 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce
. 

1
8

C
B

C
 s

h
o

u
ld

 e
n

su
re

 

th
a

t 
th

e
 t

e
a

m
 i

s 
a

b
le

 

to
 o

p
e

ra
te

 p
ro

p
e

rl
y

 

a
t 

a
ll

 t
im

e
s,

 e
v

e
n

 

w
h

e
n

 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 l
o

n
g

 

te
rm

 a
b

se
n

ce
s,

 b
y

 

tr
a

in
in

g
 s

ta
ff

 o
n

 a
ll

 

a
sp

e
ct

s 
o

f 
th

e
 r

o
le

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s 

in
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
st

a
ff

 

th
a

t 
d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 

A
S

B
/N

u
is

a
n

ce

H
E

M
/E

M
T

L
M

a
r-

1
4

S
e

p
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 
tr

a
in

e
d

 

st
a

ff
 a

n
d

 

co
n

si
st

e
n

t 
ca

se
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

Le
a

rn
in

g
 &

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
la

n
s 

to
 b

e
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 f
o

r 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
st

a
ff

 b
a

se
d

 u
p

o
n

 r
o

le
 

co
m

p
e

te
n

ci
e

s.
 

1
9

U
si

n
g

 b
e

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
e

 

a
n

d
 l

e
a

rn
in

g
 f

ro
m

 

o
th

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
s 

g
e

n
e

ra
ll

y
, 

ta
k

e
 s

te
p

s 

to
 s

e
t 

u
p

 a
 s

u
cc

e
ss

fu
l 

m
e

th
o

d
 o

f 
a

ch
ie

v
in

g
 

sa
ti

sf
a

ct
io

n
 d

a
ta

V
is

it
s 

to
 h

ig
h

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 

A
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s/

A
ss

o
ci

a
ti

o
n

s 
to

 e
st

a
b

li
sh

 

b
e

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
e

 

H
E

M
/E

M
T

L
M

a
r-

1
4

N
o

v
-1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 &
 

cu
st

o
m

e
r 

sa
ti

sf
a

ct
io

n

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

T
h

is
 w

o
rk

 w
il

l 
n

e
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 d

o
n

 e
 

a
lo

n
g

si
d

e
 t

h
e

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 

re
v

ie
w

s.
 

2
0

S
e

t 
a

 c
le

a
r 

d
e

a
d

li
n

e
 

fo
r 

fi
n

a
li

si
n

g
 t

h
e

 w
o

rk
 

w
it

h
 t

h
e

 P
o

li
ce

 t
o

 

e
xp

lo
re

 t
h

e
 l

ik
e

ly
 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e

n
e

ss
 o

f 

S
a

fe
ty

 N
e

t,
 o

r 

a
n

o
th

e
r 

sy
st

e
m

, 
a

n
d

 

im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

in
 a

 

cl
e

a
r 

ti
m

e
fr

a
m

e

S
a

fe
ty

 N
e

t 
is

 t
o

 b
e

 

u
se

d
 f

o
r 

A
S

B
R

A
C

 

ca
se

s 
o

n
ly

 a
s 

d
is

cu
ss

e
d

 a
t 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 o
n

 4
th

 

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
4

P
o

li
ce

/ 
C

S
N

o
v

-1
3

A
p

r-
1

4
G

C
o

m
p

le
te

d

It
 h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 a
g

re
e

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 t
h

a
t 

S
a

fe
ty

 N
e

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 u
se

d
 f

o
r 

A
S

B
R

A
C

 c
a

se
s 

o
n

ly
. 

O
ff

ic
e

rs
 w

il
l 

h
a

v
e

 a
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

sy
st

e
m

 a
n

d
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 i
n

p
u

t 

th
o

se
 h

ig
h

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 c

a
se

s.
 

2
1

C
B

C
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e

v
ie

w
 i

ts
 

A
S

B
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 

in
d

ic
a

to
rs

; 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

co
n

su
lt

in
g

 w
it

h
 a

 

d
iv

e
rs

e
 g

ro
u

p
 o

f 

re
si

d
e

n
ts

, 
le

a
rn

in
g

 

fr
o

m
 b

e
st

 p
ra

ct
ic

e
 

a
n

d
 f

ro
m

 h
ig

h
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 p

e
e

rs
 

H
o

u
se

m
a

rk
 P

I'
s 

to
 

b
e

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
H

E
M

N
o

v
-1

3
A

p
r-

1
4

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

d
a

ta
 a

v
a

il
a

b
le

 

to
 b

e
 u

se
d

 f
o

r 

b
e

n
ch

m
a

rk
in

g
 

th
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 

a
g

a
in

st
 o

th
e

rs
.

G
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

A
g

re
e

d
 t

h
a

t 
w

it
h

 e
ff

e
ct

 1
st

 A
p

ri
l 

2
0

1
4

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 d
a

ta
 w

il
l 

b
e

 

re
p

o
rt

e
d

 a
s 

p
e

r 
th

e
 h

o
u

se
m

a
rk

 

d
e

fi
n

it
io

n
s.

P
a

g
e

 4
A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 V

3

Agenda Item 14
Page 168



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

1
4

0
4

0
7

 i
te

m
 1

4
 A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B

2
2

C
B

C
 s

h
o

u
ld

 p
u

t 
in

 t
o

 

p
la

ce
 m

o
re

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e

 

w
a

y
s 

to
 m

o
n

it
o

r 

se
rv

ic
e

 d
e

li
v

e
ry

D
o

cu
m

e
n

te
d

 

m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 o
f 

C
a

se
 

R
e

v
ie

w
s 

re
a

d
il

y
 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le

E
M

T
L

M
a

r-
1

3
A

p
r-

1
4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

d
a

ta
 a

n
d

 c
a

se
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

T
h

e
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 o

f 
a

 S
E

O
 p

o
st

 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 r

e
st

ru
ct

u
re

 w
il

l 

e
n

a
b

le
 t

h
is

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 b

e
 

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
 m

o
re

 e
ff

e
ct

iv
e

ly
.

2
3

W
o

rk
 w

it
h

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

 

to
 r

e
v

ie
w

 s
u

cc
e

ss
 o

f 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 w
o

rk
in

g

H
o

u
si

n
g

 a
tt

e
n

d
 

re
g

u
la

r 
jo

in
t 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

s 
w

it
h

 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 t
o

 d
is

cu
ss

 

ca
se

s

E
M

T
L/

E
M

O
F

e
b

-1
4

M
a

r-
1

4

Im
p

ro
v

e
d

 

u
n

d
e

rt
sa

n
d

in
g

 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 

a
g

e
n

ci
e

s

G
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Jo
in

t 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 t

h
e

 

P
o

li
ce

, 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 S

a
fe

ty
 a

n
d

 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 r
e

in
st

a
te

d
. 

 

2
4

A
n

a
ly

se
 t

h
e

 c
o

st
 o

f 

th
e

 A
S

B
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e
 c

o
st

 o
f 

d
if

fe
re

n
t 

so
lu

ti
o

n
s

H
E

M
/F

O
A

p
r-

1
4

N
o

v
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 

o
f 

V
F

M

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

e
d

A
 r

e
v

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e

 v
a

lu
e

 f
o

r 
m

o
n

e
y

 

a
sp

e
ct

 o
f 

th
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 n

e
e

d
s 

to
 

b
e

 u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
 w

h
e

n
 t

h
e

 o
th

e
r 

p
ri

o
ri

ty
 p

o
in

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 

a
re

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
.

2
5

R
e

v
ie

w
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 

a
g

a
in

st
 R

e
sp

e
ct

 

C
h

a
rt

e
r

P
ro

ce
d

u
re

 r
e

v
ie

w
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

H
E

M
/E

M
T

L/
E

M
O

N
o

v
-1

3
N

o
v

-1
4

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

e
d

T
h

is
 d

o
n

e
 i

n
 l

in
e

 w
it

h
 p

o
li

cy
 a

n
d

 

p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 r
e

v
ie

w
s 

a
s 

w
e

ll
 a

s 

p
o

li
cy

/l
a

w
 c

h
a

n
g

e
s.

2
6

In
cr

e
a

se
 s

ta
ff

 

a
w

a
re

n
e

ss
 o

f 
V

F
M

H
E

M
/E

M
T

L
M

a
r-

1
4

N
o

v
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 

o
f 

V
F

M

N
o

t 
S

ta
rt

e
d

W
il

l 
b

e
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 a
s 

p
a

rt
 o

f 

th
e

 o
n

-g
o

in
g

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
 

a
n

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 f
o

r 

st
a

ff
.

2
7

B
e

n
ch

m
a

rk
 a

g
a

in
st

 

H
o

u
se

m
a

rk
 D

a
ta

T
S

P
 V

ie
w

 t
h

e
 

H
o

u
se

m
a

rk
 r

e
p

o
rt

H
E

M
/J

M
M

a
r-

1
4

A
p

r-
1

4
im

p
ro

v
e

d
 

o
u

tc
o

m
e

s 
A

S
ta

rt
e

d

T
h

is
 i

s 
a

lr
e

a
d

y
 d

o
n

e
 b

u
t 

w
il

l 
b

e
 

m
o

re
 b

e
n

e
fi

ci
a

l 
w

h
e

n
 t

h
e

 

re
p

o
rt

e
d

 d
a

ta
 i

s 
in

 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 

h
o

u
se

m
a

rk
 d

e
fi

n
it

io
n

s.
 

2
8

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
 s

ta
ff

 

ch
a

n
g

e
s 

to
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

 u
p

d
a

te
d

 

in
 r

e
sp

e
ct

 o
f 

re
st

ru
ct

u
re

H
E

M
A

p
r-

1
4

M
a

y
-1

4

B
e

tt
e

r 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 

W
o

rk
in

g

A
S

ta
rt

e
d

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 a
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 

w
h

o
 d

e
a

ls
 

w
it

h
 A

S
B

 a
n

d
 u

p
d

a
te

s 
w

il
l 

b
e

 

g
iv

e
n

 w
h

e
n

 n
e

e
d

e
d

. 

P
a

g
e

 5
A

S
B

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 V

3

Agenda Item 14
Page 169



Page 170

This page is intentionally left blank



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

S
c
ru

ti
n
y
 P

a
n
e
l 

F
in

a
l 
R

e
p
o
rt

 

A
n
ti
-S

o
c
ia

l 
B

e
h
a

v
io

u
r 

 

T
e
n

a
n

t’
s
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n
e

l 
&

  

C
a
ro

l 
R

o
o
k
e
r,

 H
e
a

d
 o

f 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 C
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 171



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

In
tr

o
d

u
c
ti

o
n

 

•
W

h
o
 i
s
 t

h
e
 T

S
P

?
 

•
W

h
y
 w

e
 g

o
t 

in
v
o

lv
e
d

 

•
In

te
rv

ie
w

 &
 s

e
le

c
ti
o

n
 

•
W

h
y
 w

e
 c

h
o
s
e
 A

S
B

 
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 172



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

W
h

e
re

 w
e
 s

ta
rt

e
d

 

•
C

h
e
c
k
e

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 

•
D

id
 o

u
r 

h
o
m

e
w

o
rk

 

•
R

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

u
rt

h
e

r 
tr

a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 

 

Agenda Item 14
Page 173



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

M
e
th

o
d

 

•
H

e
ld

 f
o
c
u
s
 g

ro
u
p
s
 

•
B

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

e
d

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
a

re
d

 

•
M

e
t 

w
it
h

 s
ta

ff
, 
p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

e
n

a
n

ts
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 

A
S

B
 

•
C

o
m

p
ile

d
 e

v
id

e
n

c
e

 

•
K

e
p
t 

te
n
a

n
t 

&
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

is
s
u

e
s
 p

ri
v
a
te

 &
 

c
o

n
fi
d
e
n

ti
a

l 

•
W

ro
te

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 174



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

•
M

a
d
e

 2
8
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
A

llo
c
a
te

d
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

 t
im

e
s
c
a

le
 t

o
 e

a
c
h

 

•
In

it
ia

l 
re

s
p
o

n
s
e
 f

ro
m

 H
o
u

s
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

a
s
 

p
o
s
it
iv

e
 

•
A

s
k
e

d
 t

h
e

m
 t

o
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 i
n

to
 a

n
 

a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 175



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

O
u

tc
o

m
e
s
 

•
O

u
tp

u
ts

 &
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

n
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n

 

•
O

p
e
n

 d
ia

lo
g

u
e

 w
it
h

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

•
R

e
g
u

la
r 

m
o
n

th
ly

 m
e
e

ti
n

g
s
 t

o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 

•
S

o
m

e
 c

h
a
n
g

e
s
 a

lr
e
a

d
y
 i
n

tr
o

d
u
c
e
d

 
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 176



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

 

•
W

e
lc

o
m

e
d

 t
h
e

 r
e
p

o
rt

 :
 c

o
m

p
re

h
e
n

s
iv

e
, 

w
e
ll 

w
ri
tt

e
n

, 
b

a
la

n
c
e

d
 a

n
d

 f
a
ir

 

•
E

m
b
ra

c
e

d
 t

h
e

 p
e

rs
p
e

c
ti
v
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e

 t
e
n

a
n

ts
 v

ie
w

 

•
In

fo
rm

e
d

 r
e

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
n
a

g
e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a

m
 w

it
h

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l 
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

•
S

e
t 

u
p
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 

•
P

ro
d
u

c
e

d
 a

n
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

  

Agenda Item 14
Page 177



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
c
lu

d
e

 

•
Im

p
ro

v
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 

•
R

e
v
ie

w
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
d

u
re

 

•
D

if
fe

re
n

ti
a

ti
o

n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 n
u

is
a
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 a

n
ti
 s

o
c
ia

l 

b
e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

•
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 
c
a

s
e

s
 

•
L
e

a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
la

n
 

•
Id

e
n
ti
fy

 b
e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

 

•
R

e
v
ie

w
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

Agenda Item 14
Page 178



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

F
u

tu
re

 

•
D

e
v
e
lo

p
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
s
h
ip

 w
it
h
 T

e
n

a
n

t’
s
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

a
n
e
l 

•
E

m
b
ra

c
e

 t
h
e

 “
a

d
d

e
d

 v
a
lu

e
” 

th
e

 P
a
n

e
l 
c
a

n
 b

ri
n
g

 

•
D

e
v
e

lo
p

 m
a
n
a

g
e
rs

 a
n
d

 s
ta

ff
 b

u
y
-i

n
 

•
W

o
rk

 t
o
g

e
th

e
r 

o
n

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e
n

t 
o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
 

•
E

n
s
u

re
 t

h
e
 P

a
n
e

l 
is

 p
ro

p
e
rl

y
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
d
 a

n
d

 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 

•
E

n
s
u

re
 c

o
-r

e
g
u

la
ti
o

n
 i
s
 a

 r
e
a

lit
y
  

Agenda Item 14
Page 179



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

L
e
a
rn

in
g

 

•
W

h
a
t 
w

o
rk

e
d
 w

e
ll 

•
W

h
a

t 
c
o
u

ld
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 

•
O

n
-g

o
in

g
 t

ra
in

in
g

 

•
R

e
s
u

lt
s
 

 

Agenda Item 14
Page 180



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

W
h

a
t 

n
e
x
t 

•
P

ro
m

o
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 r
e

p
o
rt

 a
n

d
 f

in
d
in

g
s
 t

o
 t

e
n

a
n
ts

 

•
N

e
x
t 

E
n
q

u
ir

y
 

 

Agenda Item 14
Page 181



C
e
n

tr
a
l 
B

e
d

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

  
 w

w
w

.c
e

n
tr

a
lb

e
d

fo
r

d
s

h
ir

e
.g

o
v

.u
k

 

Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

s
?

 

Agenda Item 14
Page 182



 

 

 
 
 

Meeting: Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 7 April 2014  

Subject: Quarter Three Performance Monitoring Report 

Report of: Cllr Mrs Carole Hegley, Executive Member for Social Care, Health 
and Housing 

Summary: The report highlights the performance for the Social Care, Health and 
Housing Directorate for Quarter 3 of 2013/14 

 

 

Advising Officer: Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing 
Muriel Scott, Director of Public Health 

Contact Officer: Nick Murley, Assistant Director, Resources 
Celia Shohet, Assistant Director, Public Health 

Public/Exempt: Public  

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

1. The quarterly performance report underpins the delivery of the Council’s 
priorities, more specifically in the area of promoting health and well being and 
protecting the vulnerable. 

Financial: 

2. There are no direct financial implications. 

Legal: 

3. There are no direct legal implications. 

Risk Management: 

4. Areas of ongoing underperformance are a risk to both service delivery and the 
reputation of the Council. 

Staffing (including Trades Unions): 

5. Not Applicable.  

Equalities/Human Rights: 

Agenda Item 17
Page 183



 

 

6. This report highlights performance against performance indicators which seek to 
measure how the Council and its services impact across all communities within 
Central Bedfordshire, so that specific areas of underperformance can be 
highlighted for further analysis/drilling down as necessary. 

7. As such, it does not include detailed performance information relating to the 
Council's stated intention to tackle inequalities and deliver services so that 
people whose circumstances make them vulnerable are not disadvantaged. The 
interrogation of performance data across vulnerable groups is a legal 
requirement and is an integral part of the Council's equalities and performance 
culture, which seeks to ensure that, through a programme of ongoing impact 
assessments, underlying patterns and trends for different sections of the 
community identify areas whether further action is required to improve outcomes 
for vulnerable groups. 

Public Health 

8. The report highlights performance against a range of Adult Social Care, Housing 
and Public Health indicators that are currently in the corporate indicator set. 

Community Safety: 

9. Not Applicable. 

Sustainability: 

10. Not Applicable.  

Procurement: 

11. Not applicable.  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

The Committee is asked to consider and note the report 

 
Introduction 
 

12. This report provides information on how the Social Care, Health and Housing 
Directorate and Public Health contribution to the Medium Term Plan is being 
met. 

Overview 
 

13. Both continue to perform well against the Medium Term Plan priority of “Promote 
health and wellbeing and protecting the vulnerable”.   

14. Four of the measures are under performing. Two are Red: Number of Additional 
“Extra Care” flats provided (C2 MTP) and Clients receiving self directed support 
(C6 MTP) and two are Amber, Percentage of decent homes (Council stock) (C3 
MTP) and coverage by Village Care scheme (C 4a MTP). 

Agenda Item 17
Page 184



 

 

15. 
C2 MTP, Number of additional “Extra Care” flats is Red as the new likely 
delivery date of Summer 2015 for Priory View (formerly Dukeminster) exceeds 
the MTP target of 2014.  The building contract for Priory View was awarded in 
December 2013. 
 

16. 

 

The performance of C6 MTP, the number of social care clients receiving self 
directed support remains red against the local stretch target of 100%. This 
indicator however continues to perform well against the national target of 70%. 
 

17. The Percentage of decent homes (Council stock) is Amber. As previously 
reported, the MTP target of 100% decent homes may not be achieved because 
replacement of elements within Council properties (e.g. kitchens, bathrooms, 
etc) are no longer be based on failure of the Decent Homes Standard, but on the 
life expectancy of the element.   

18. The proportion of Central Bedfordshire covered by a Village Care Scheme 
remained at 87% and is scored amber, as the Sandy scheme was not up and 
running in December as originally planned. 

19. The remaining indicators are performing in line with the milestones set. 

20. Performance against C1 MTP, Protecting vulnerable adults, continues to 
progress. The audit of Safeguarding cases is now being carried out on a rolling 
monthly basis, using a combination of “peer audit” and safeguarding team case 
file audit. In total 25% of safeguarding cases will be audited by the safeguarding 
team. 

21. Good progress is being made on Council commissioned dementia care rated as 
good or excellent (C 5a MTP). Using the ADASS quality workbook, 61% of 
dementia care providers are rated as Good or Excellent.   

22. Good progress continues to be made on the number of Health Checks offered 
(C 7 MTP) with the target being exceeded and in line to deliver the Medium 
Term Plan target.   

Director’s Summary – Social Care, Health and Housing 
 

23. The Directorate continues to perform well against the Medium Term Plan priority 
of "Promote health and wellbeing and protecting the vulnerable". 

24. 
The proportion of people receiving self-directed support continues to increase 
overall. Performance against the national target is good and remains strong in 
comparison to neighbouring authorities and the Eastern Region. There is a 
continuing focus to achieve the local aspirational target of 100%. 

25. The build contract for Priory View, formerly Dukeminster, was awarded in 
December 2013, with a start on site in early 2014. 

26. 
The target for the Village Care Scheme was missed in December due to a delay 
in the "go live" date for the Sandy Scheme in December 2013. A 
revised launch date for March 2014 has been set. Development of the Leighton 
Buzzard Scheme is continuing and we remain on course to achieve the 100% 
ward coverage MTP target. 

27. Progress has been maintained in the other targets. 

Agenda Item 17
Page 185



 

 

Director’s Summary – Public Health 
 

28. The number of Health Checks offered again exceeded target in Quarter 3, and 
work continues to maximise their uptake. Now that the local programme is well 
established there is an increased focus on looking at the difference that Health 
Checks can make to those patients who are identified as being at risk, and 
making sure that Health Checks are effective in supporting local people to live 
longer, healthier lives. 

29. In the first 6 months of the 2013-14, Health Checks resulted in 81 newly 
diagnosed case of hypertension. They were also responsible for diagnosing type 
2 diabetes in 22 Central Bedfordshire residents who did not know that they were 
suffering from this serious condition. In cases like these, Health Checks provide 
the opportunity for pharmacological intervention; during this period 132 people 
who had Health Checks were identified as needing to be prescribed statins for 
the first time. 

30. But not everyone needs this type of help; patients who are identified to be at risk 
of poor cardio vascular health can often benefit from improvements in their 
lifestyle, before there is the need to prescribe medicines. Providing access to 
effective prevention and early intervention has been proven to reduce the need 
for expensive drugs required to treat health condition, before it becomes 
established. 

31. Between April and September 2013, 111 Central Bedfordshire residents who 
had a Health Check were referred to the Stop Smoking Service, and 139 were 
referred to a weight management programme. 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Quarter Performance Report Q3 2013/14 
 
Background papers and their location: (open to public inspection) 
None 

Agenda Item 17
Page 186



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A - Quarterly Performance Report (For CMT only) 

 
Medium Term Plan Indicators and CMT Appendix A indicators  
 
Quarter 3 2013/14 
 

 

Performance Judgement 

Report comparison -  
Depends on the nature of the indicator 

Direction of travel (DoT) 
RAG score (Standard scoring rules unless the indicator specifies 
alternative scoring arrangements) 

Seasonal 
Compared to the same time 
period in the previous year òòòò  Performance is reducing R 

RED - target missed / off target  - Performance at least 
10% below the required level of improvement 

Quarter on 
quarter 

Compared to the previous 
quarter óóóó  Performance remains unchanged A 

AMBER - target missed / off target - Performance less 
than 10% below the required level of improvement 

Annual 
Compared to one fixed point in 
the previous year 

 

ææææ  Performance is improving G 
GREEN - Target achieved or performance on track to 
achieve target 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A
genda Item

 17
P

age 187



 
 
 
Overview of performance 
 

Performance information being 
reported this quarter Ref Indicator 

Performance 
will be 

reported: 
Time period Performance 

Promote health and wellbeing and protect the vulnerable  

C 1 MTP Protecting Vulnerable Adults Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 óóóó  G 

C 2 MTP Number of additional ‘Extra Care’ flats provided Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 óóóó  R 

C 3 MTP Percentage of decent homes (Council stock) Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 ææææ  A 

C 4a MTP Number of Village Care schemes in operation Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 óóóó  A 

C 5a MTP Percentage of council commissioned dementia care classed as ‘good’ or ‘excellent’. Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 óóóó  G 

C 6 MTP Clients receiving self directed support  Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 òòòò  R 

C7 MTP Percentage of 40 to 74 year olds offered a health check Quarterly 
Quarter 3 
2013/14 ææææ  G 

 

 

A
genda Item

 17
P

age 188



 

 
Promote health and wellbeing and protect the vulnerable 

 

C 1 MTP Protecting Vulnerable Adults 

Latest comparator group 
average 

- 
Report 

comparison 
- 

Performance 
Judgement óóóó  G Milestones: 

1. Independent audits of safeguarding case files - Annual 
2. Annual Safeguarding Report - Annual 
3. Develop & implement new safeguarding performance framework – September 2013  

Comment:   

The monthly audit of Safeguarding cases continues to take place, with action taking place where required. Examples of excellent cases are shared as good practice with the Adult Social Care staff through the practice 
workshops run by the Safeguarding Team. 

The necessary changes to the Adult Social Care database (Swift) for the new reporting framework have been implemented and a data quality framework has been developed. 

Monthly performance reports are presented to the Executive and Deputy Executive members for SCHH. 

 

C 2 MTP Number of additional ‘Extra Care’ flats provided 

Latest comparator group 
average 

 
Report 

comparison 
 

Performance 
Judgement óóóó  R Milestones: 

1. Secure Planning Permission; agree s106 – July 2013 

2. Procure contractor - tbc 

3. Commence Construction – January 2014 

4. Open New Provision – by December  2014 

 

Comment:   

Following consultation the site formerly known as Dukeminster scheme has been named Priory View and the build contract was awarded  

 

C 3 MTP Percentage of decent homes (Council stock) 

Unit 
Good  
is 

2012/13 2012/13 Latest comparator group 
average 

- 
Report 

comparison 
Seasonal 

Performance 
Judgement ææææ  A 

% Low 

 

Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 Qu 4 Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 
Qu 4 / 

Outturn 

Target 98.20 98.20 99.00 100 100 100 100 100 

Actual 99.3 99.4 99.35 99.35 99.6 99.7 99.7  

 

 

Comment:   

As previously reported, following the adoption of the Housing Asset Management Strategy, replacement of elements within Council properties  

 

A
genda Item

 17
P

age 189



 

C 4a MTP Number of Village Care schemes in operation 

Unit 
Good  
is 

2013/14 

% High Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 Qu 4 Outturn 

Latest comparator group 
average 

- 
Report 

comparison 
- 

Performance 
Judgement óóóó  A 

Target NA 87.1 90.3 100 100 

Actual NA 87.1 87.1   
 

 

Comment:   

87% of Central Bedfordshire is covered by a Village Care scheme, which represents 27 out of 31 wards. The Village Care scheme in Sandy is finalising their volunteer packs and banking arrangements and it is anticipated that 
they will be up and running in January. Meetings are scheduled with Leighton/Linslade Town Council to develop a scheme to cover the three wards in Leighton Buzzard and Linslade. 

 

C 5a MTP Percentage of Council commissioned dementia care classed as ‘good’ or ‘excellent’ 

Unit 
Good  
is 

2013/14 

% High Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 Qu 4 Outturn 

Latest comparator group 
average 

- 
Report 

comparison 
- 

Performance 
Judgement óóóó  G 

Target 60 60 60 60 60 

Actual NA 61.2 61.2   

 

Comment:   

Using the ADASS quality workbook, 61% of dementia care providers are rated as Good or Excellent. 

 

C 6 MTP  Clients receiving self directed support (ASCOF1c) 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Latest comparator group 
average 

44.1 
CIPFA 
2011/12 

Report 
comparison 

Quarter on 
Quarter 

Performance 
Judgement òòòò  R 

Unit 
Good  
is 

Outturn Target 
(Outturn) 

Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 Qu 4 Outturn Target 
(Outturn) 

Qu 1 Qu 2 Qu 3 Qu 4 Outturn 

% High 52.9 100 54.7 66.2 71.7 75.9 75.9 100 77.1 77.5 75.3   
 

Comment:   

The number of people receiving self-directed support continues to rise with a slight decrease in Quarter 3. Between January and December 2013, 3,328 people received self-directed support, with 1,465 customers taking that 
support as a direct payment. Whilst the proportion of customer receiving self-directed support over the last 12 months has decreased, the year to date position, from April continues to show an increasing number of customers 
with self-directed support. 

As previously reported, the target of 100% for 2013/14 is still a challenging one and accounting for the identified exceptions, if performance reaches 86%, it will be deemed that the target will have been met. Progress to 
meeting this target continues, with a concerted effort being made to reach the target by March 2014. 

 

 

A
genda Item

 17
P

age 190



 

C 7 MTP  NHS Health checks (percentage of people aged 40 to 74 years of age offered a health check). 

Unit Good is 

 
Latest comparator group 

average 
 

Report 
comparison 

Quarter on 
Quarter 

Performance 
Judgement ææææ  G 

 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 
% High 

 Outturn Outturn Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Outturn Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Outturn 

Target Number 12,999 20,822 6,014 6,014 6,014 6,016 24,058 3,979 3,979 3,997 3,979 15,916 

Number 14,923 21,466 5,057 4,978 9,083 6,651 25,769 6,091 4,312 5,129   

Percentage 
offered a 
health check 

Actual 

% 115 103 84 83 151 111 107 153 108 128   

Target Number 6,500 10,411 3,007 3,007 3,007 3,008 12,029 2,767 2,767 2,767  11,068 

Number 7,547 10,499 1,992 2,398 2,949 3,148 10,487 2,714 2,328 2,767   

Number of 
Health 
checks 
delivered Actual 

% 116 101 66 80 98 105 87 98 84 82   

 

Comment:  

The number of Health Check invitations offered continues to exceed the revised target set and is in line to deliver as stated in the Medium Term Plan. The Quarter 3 performance was at 128% of target, giving a cumulative 
performance of 130% of the 9 monthly target achieved by the end of December. 

The trend at Quarter 3 shows a similar level of performance against target from 2012/13 and stable against activity in Quarter 2. 

In addition to the figures relating to those having been offered Health Checks, the cumulative percentage of Health Checks delivered is at 88% for the first three quarters of 201/14, a slight drop from the previous quarter. Work 
to identify the reasons for not achieving either quarterly or nine-monthly targets indicates that there remain some providers significantly under-performing. Work is underway to support these under-performing Primary Care 
providers with remedial action in the second half of the year to ensure the target is met. High-performing providers are being encouraged with revised targets, where they can up any 'slack' in their locality. Horizon Health 
Choices are contracted to increase capacity, both in supporting under-performing providers and ensuring supplementary delivery of the NHS Health Check service in a range of community settings. 

The following data relates to direct outcomes for CBC residents having a Health Check, during the period April to September 2013 (Health Checks delivered 11,871):  

 

A
genda Item

 17
P

age 191



P
age 192

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Meeting: Social Care Health and Housing Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 07 April 2014 

Subject: Work Programme & Executive Forward Plan 

Report of: Chief Executive 

Summary: The report provides Members with details of the currently drafted 
Committee work programme and the latest Executive Forward Plan in 
addition to details of a recent work programming session with partners. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Paula Everitt, Scrutiny Officer 

Public/Exempt: Public 

Wards Affected: All 

Function of: Council 

 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Council Priorities: 

The work programme of the Social Care Health and Housing Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee (SCHHOSC) will contribute indirectly to all 5 Council priorities.  Whilst 
there are no direct implications arising from this report the implications of proposals 
will be details in full in each report submitted to the Committee 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S): 

1. that the Social Care Health and Housing Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 1.1 considers and comments on the proposals to enhance the health 
scrutiny functions;  

 1.2 considers and approves the work programme attached, subject to 
any further amendments it may wish to make; 

 1.3 considers the Executive Forward Plan; and 

 1.4 considers whether it wishes to add any further items to the work 
programme and/or establish any Task Forces to assist it in 
reviewing specific items. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme and proposals for health scrutiny 

1. The currently drafted work programme for the Committee is attached at 
Appendix A.   

2. Throughout 2012 Central Bedfordshire Council was one of 14 Scrutiny 
Development Areas (SDAs) working with the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) 
and the Department of Health to develop more effective scrutiny of health and 
social care.  Members were engaged in discussions regarding the most 
effective way of undertaking robust health scrutiny.  In 2013 the final report of 
the enquiry into Mid-Staffordshire NHS Trust (the Francis Report) was also 

Agenda Item 18
Page 193



published, which highlighted the importance of seeking the engagement of the 
public and professionals in setting the work programme and prioritising items 
accordingly.   

3. In light of the outcomes of the CfPS programme and the Francis report it was 
recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny Coordination Panel that:- 

 3.1  Health scrutiny has its own visible section on the agenda of the 
SCHHOSC that incorporates matters relating to the health of 
children.  The Chairman of Children’s Services OSC has also been 
appointed as a Member of SCHHOSC to promote collaboration.  This 
will ensure that scrutiny of health and wellbeing has a clear and 
visible focus within the SCHHOSC agenda.  These changes to the 
agenda will be trialled in April 2014. 

 3.2 Work programming will be undertaken more proactively with a range 
of partners including the Care Quality Commission, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch and the Tenant Scrutiny Panel.  
Information will be included in the work programme report to identify 
opportunities for collaboration and to prevent duplication.  

4. The Chairman met with partners on 20 January 2014 and the relevant items that 
were highlighted by others are attached at Appendix B.  Comparing Appendix A 
and B Members are asked to consider whether any of these items that are not 
already on the work programme should be added or if a collaborative approach 
could be considered.  It is suggested that a more detailed work programming 
session be held with Members prior to their meeting in May 2014 to discuss the 
key issues for scrutiny during 2014/15. 

Overview and Scrutiny Task Forces 

5. In addition to consideration of the work programme, Members may also wish to 
consider how each item will be reviewed i.e. by the Committee itself (over one 
or a number of Committee meetings) or by establishing a Member Task Force 
to review an item in greater depth and report back its findings. 

Executive Forward Plan 

6. Listed below are those items relating specifically to this Committee’s terms of 
reference contained in the latest version of the Executive’s Forward Plan to 
ensure Members are fully aware of the key issues Executive Members will be 
taking decisions upon in the coming months.  The full Executive Forward Plan 
can be viewed on the Council’s website at the link at the end of this report. 

Issue Indicative Exec 
Meeting date 

Revenue. Capital and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Report * 

18 March 2014 

Central Bedfordshire Council’s Residential Care 
Homes for Older People 

22 April 2014 

Housing Allocations Policy for Central Bedfordshire 22 April 2014 

Quarter 3 Performance Report * 18 March 2014 

Those marked (*) are not presently on the Committee work programme 

Agenda Item 18
Page 194



Conclusion 

7. Members are requested to consider and agree the attached work programme, 
subject to any further amendment/additions they may wish to make in light of 
Appendix B and highlight those items within it where they may wish to 
establish a Task Force to assist the Committee in its work.  This will allow 
officers to plan accordingly but will not preclude further items being added 
during the course of the year if Members so wish and capacity exists. 

 

Appendix A Social Care Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Appendix B Outcomes of recent work programming session 

Background reports 

Executive Forward Plan (can be viewed at any time on the Council’s website) at the 
following link:- 

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=577&RD=0  

 

Agenda Item 18
Page 195



Page 196

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
NOT PROTECTED  Last Updated March  2014 v19 

  

Work Programme for Social Care, Health and Housing Overview & Scrutiny Committee 2014 - 
2015 

 
 

Ref Indicative Overview 
& Scrutiny Meeting 
Date 

Report Title Report Description Comment 

1.  12 May 2014 Better Care Fund Report 

 

To receive and comment on the final 
Better Care Fund plan. 

 

2.  12 May 2014 BCCG: Bedfordshire Plan for 
Patients 2015/16 

 

To receive and comment on the 
proposals 

 

3.  12 May 2014 Allocations Policy 

 

To receive and comment on the 
Allocations Policy for Central 
Bedfordshire. 

 

4.  12 May 2014 Housing Investment Plan to 
deliver a new homes programme 
and regeneration. 

 

To receive a report on the proposed 
scope for investment by the Council’s 
Housing Service. 

 

5.  12 May 2014 Domiciliary Care Retender 

 

First year progress report on the 
implementation and operation of the 
Domiciliary Care Framework 
Agreement. 

Requested by the Committee in 
January 2014 

6.  12 May 2014 Quality Account To receive the Quality Account from 
Bedford Hospital, The Luton and 
Dunstable Hospital and SEPT 
Services 

 

A
genda Item

 18
P

age 197



 

2 
NOT PROTECTED  Last Updated March  2014 v19 

Ref Indicative Overview 
& Scrutiny Meeting 
Date 

Report Title Report Description Comment 

7.  23 June 2014 Homelessness Review and 
Homelessness Strategy 

  

Initial consideration of the 
Homelessness Review, prior to 
development of the Homelessness 
Strategy, which is a statutory 
obligation. 

Executive December  2014 

8.  23 June 2014 Park Homes Strategy 

Contact: Nick Costin 

The strategy is an overarching 
document that sets out the approach 
for all Park Home issues in Central 
Bedfordshire including standards, 
fees, advice, assistance and licensing 

Executive August 2014 

9.  23 June 2014 Review of Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) benchmarking 
following independent DFG review 
outcomes. 

Review of performance  

10.  23 June 2014 Discretionary Housing Payments 
Policy 

Contact: Gary Muskett 

To receive an update and provide 
feedback on the Discretionary Housing 
Policy consultation 

Exec 15 July 2014 

 

 

 

 A
genda Item

 18
P

age 198



Appendix B 

The table below demonstrates the outcomes of a work programming session with partners from several organisations held in January 2014 

relating specifically to ‘health’ items.  Also included are issues raised by colleagues in Children’s Services, Public Health and Social Care.  In light 

of the below Members are asked to consider whether any of these items should be added where they are not already on the work 

programme:-  

 

Items identified as a priority: 

• Recommissioning of mental and community health services (incorporating Child and Adolescent Mental Health)* 

• Homelessness * 

• The Better Care Fund and its implementation * 

• Strategic Review of Bedfordshire Health Services * 

 

Other issues under consideration by 

Healthwatch  

Other issues under consideration by the Health & 

Wellbeing Board 

Other issues identified 

1. Stroke services 

2. Visual Impairment Service 

3. Housing matters, including housing for 

the elderly 

1. Joint approach to integration 

2. Health and Social Care self assessment 

framework 

3. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

review 

4. Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

1. Monitoring of Budgets, performance and 

emerging policies * 

2. Performance of Hospitals and CCG (ie 

Hospital discharge) * 

3. Approach to integration  

4. Supporting Aspirations for Children’s 

Health 

 

(Items marked (*) are already on the Committees work programme) 

 

 

A
genda Item

 18
P

age 199



P
age 200

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	10 Hospital Discharge Performance
	140407 Item 10 Hospital Discharge (App A) v1

	11 Biggleswade Hospital Information Update
	140407 Item 11 Biggleswade Hospital OSC

	12 Planned Changes to the Provision of Mental Health and Community Services
	13 Mental Health Procurement
	140407 Item 13 AppendixA
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixB
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixC
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixD
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixE
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixF
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixG v2
	140407 Item 13 MH AppendixH

	14 Tenant Scrutiny Panel Report
	140407 item 14 TSP ASB Final Report V5 Appendix A
	140407 item 14 ASB Improvement Action Plan Appendix B
	140407 item 14 Tenant Scrutiny Panel Presentation to Overview and Scrutiny Committee V3

	17 Performance Monitoring Report (Q3)
	140305 item 17 SCHH OS Performance Report Q3 - Appendix A

	18 Work Programme 2013-14 & Executive Forward Plan
	140407 Item 18 Work Progamme (App A)
	140407 Item 18 Work Programme (App B)


